

Title	Impact of the smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking behaviour, risk perception & stigmatisation
Authors	Lonergan, Bernie J.
Publication date	2013
Original Citation	Lonergan, B. J. 2013. Impact of the smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking behaviour, risk perception & stigmatisation. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2013, Bernie J. Lonergan http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/
Download date	2024-09-21 19:51:53
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/1493



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh

Impact of the smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking behaviour, risk perception & stigmatisation

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

to the

Faculty of Medicine and Health, National University of Ireland Cork By

Bernie J Lonergan

September 2013

Based on work carried out at The Department of Epidemiology and Public Health National University of Ireland, Cork

Head of Department Prof. Ivan Perry Under the supervision of Dr. Birgit Greiner MPH PhD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
FUNDING	VI
BERNIE LONERGAN'S' ROLE IN THE SMOFRI STUDY	VI
JUSTIFICATION FOR THIS RESEARCH	VII
FOREWORD	VII
OVER VIEW OF THE THESIS	VIII
ABSTRACT	9
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	11
1. Smoking and Health	11
ACTIVE SMOKING AND HEALTH	11
SECOND-HAND SMOKE AND HEALT H	11
2. THE GENERAL CONTEXT: TOBACCO CONTROL IN IRELAND	11
3. EPIDEMIOLOGICAL RESEARCH APPROACHES TO EVALUATING SMOKE-FREE LEGISLATION	13
HEALTH OUTCOMES AFTER INTRODUCTION OF SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION	13
SMOKING PREVALENCE IN IRELAND AND INTERNATIONALLY	14
SMOKING CONSUMPTION	15
QUITTING BEHAVIOUR.	10
4. SOCIAL SCIENCE APPROACHES IN THE EVALUATION OF SMOKE-FREE LEGISLATION	10 18
CHANGING SMORING CULTURE	···· 10 20
INTENSIFICATION OF STICMATISATION IN IRISH SMOKING CUI TURE	20
5. My RESEARCH APPROACH	
EPISTEMOLOGICAL APPROACH: MIXED METHODS APPROACH	22
BEHAVIOUR CHANGE MODELS AND THEORIES	27
ECOLOGICAL MODEL OF BEHAVIOUR CHANGE	28
DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH (DAHLGREN AND WHITEHEAD 1991) AS THE OVERARCHING	
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	30
HEALTH INEQUALITIES AND SMOKING PREVALENCE	32
SMOKING BEHAVIOUR AND THE SMOKE-FREE LEGISLATION WITHIN THE DAHLGREN AND	
WHITEHEAD MODEL	33
DETERMINANT S OF SMOKING BEHAVIOUR	33
THE SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION AND ITSIMPACT ON SMOKING PREVALENCE, RISK	20
PERCEPTION AND STIGMATISATION	30
AIM OF PHD THES IS	40
CHAPTER 2	42
ΡΔΡΕΡ 1.	42
PREVALENCE OF SMOKING AMONG BAR WORKERS PRIOR TO THE REPUBLIC OF IRELAND SMOKE-	4 2
FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION	
CHAPTER 3	60
PAPER 2:	60
THE EFFECT OF THE IRISH SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION ON SMOKING AMONG BAR	
WORKERS	60
CHAPTER 4	82
DADED 3.	82
SMOKERS STILL INDERESTIMATE THE RISKS POSED BY EXPOSURE TO SECOND-HAND SMOKE.	02
REPEATED CROSS SECTIONAL AMONGTHE IRISH POPULATION	82
	102
	103
PAPER 4:	103
DE-NORMALISATION OF SMOKING, STIGMA AND SUBSEQUENT ADAPTATION: CONSEQUENCES OF SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION IN IRISH PUBS FOR SMOKERS AND NON-SMOKERS— A QUALITATIVE STUDY	THE 103
CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	144

CONTEXT OF THIS RESEARCH	145
1. HAS THE IRISH SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION RESULTED IN REDUCTIONS	IN
SMOKING PREVALENCE AND CONSUMPTION RATES?	146
SMOKING BEHAVIOUR CHANGES WITHIN THE GENERAL POPULATION	148
2. HAS THE INTRODUCTION OF THE SMOKE-FREE LEGISLATION INCREASED RISK KNOW	/LEDGE
RELATED T O SECOND-HAND SMOKE?	150
3. ARE SMOKING AREAS PROVIDING SMOKING ISLANDS FOR THE STIGMATISED SMOKE	ER? COULD
THE QUALITY OF SMOKING AREAS PROVIDED FOR SMOKERS IN IRELAND ACT AS A DETER	RENT FOR
SMOKERS TO QUIT?	151
4. REFLECTIONS ON THE THEORETICAL UNDERPINNING OF THE RESEARCH - DETERMIN	NANTS OF
HEALT H MODEL & THE SMOKE-FREE WORKPLACE LEGISLATION	154
5. REFLECTION ON THE OVERALL RESEARCH APPROACH	159
6. CONCLUSIONS	160
7. RECOMMENDATIONS	161
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	166
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	166 195
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	166 195 196
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	166 195 196 196
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	166 195
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCES	

Declaration of Authorship

The candidate has taken responsibility for all aspects of the work presented in this thesis. I coordinated or personally carried out all of the data collection. I was responsible for all the data analysis, seeking advice on specific points as necessary from my supervisor and other colleagues in the Department. This material has been submitted for no other degree.

Signed: Bernie Lonergan (Mullally)

Bernie Lonergan

Acknowledge ments

I would like to firstly acknowledge Dr. Birgit Greiner, who undertook the primary supervision of this thesis; I will never be able to repay you for your endless support, encouragement and inspiration. Your knowledge, time, and patience with the many questions and issues that came up during the research process are greatly appreciated.

I would also like to acknowledge the constant support of Sarah Meaney, as the research assistant on this research project. I would like to thank Dr Orla O'Donovan for her expert guidance in the preparation and design of the qualitative aspect of this research and Prof Ivan Perry for initiating the research.

A very big thank you to all the participants of the SmofrI study: bar workers, general practitioners, staff from the FAS office in Cork and participants of the qualitative study.

I would also like to acknowledge the Health Research Board, Ireland (grant reference number RP/2005/290) for funding this project.

The staff at the Department of Epidemiology and Public Health I am grateful for your friendship and support over the course of my studies. My family and friends have been with me throughout my PhD study and I would like to thank them for their support in all my endeavours!

Funding

Study 1 (before the legislation) of this research project was unfunded (except for cotinine analysis) and data collection was completed by Bernie Lonergan (Mullally) on a voluntary basis. Part-funding for the early phase (phase 1 & 2 cotinine) of this research was provided by the Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College Cork; Office of Tobacco Control (Ireland) through the Research Institute for a Tobacco Free Society (Republic of Ireland); the National Cancer Institute of the United States (ROI CA90955); Irish Cancer Society; Irish Heart Foundation. The remainder of the research was funded by the Health Research Board of Ireland (HRB; research project grant RP/2005/290) Principal Investigator is Dr. Birgit Greiner, Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College Cork, Ireland.

Bernie Lonergan's' Role in the SmofrI Study

This PhD is an original piece of research conducted by Bernie Lonergan as part of the **Smo**ke **free** Ireland (SmofrI) study on tobacco, risk & social change. The SmofrI study was under the supervision of the Principal Investigator Dr. Birgit Greiner, Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College Cork. Bernie was involved in the study from the beginning including the conceptual stage, she assisted with the writing of the HRB grant, was involved in all aspects of study design, administration including ethical approvals. Bernie was responsible for the data collection, data management, data analyses, publication writing and thesis write-up. Bernie has presented this work at numerous national and international conferences (please see appendix 2 for list of conference presentations). Bernie also assisted Dr Greiner with the HRB final report.

Additional training received during PhD:

- STEPS (Scientific Training for Enhanced Postgraduate Study) (PG6001 5 credits) Introduction to principles and practice of scientific research and communication
- HRB scientific writing workshop 2006
- UCC academic writing & publication workshop 2007 (participant in writing group)
- 'How to writing a paper' in-house training with Dr Harry Comber (1 day)

- 'Essential Statistics in Medicine and the Health Sciences' on-line training (7 modules & assignments) with SAHRU Trinity College Dublin
- John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health on-line training course
 'Global Tobacco Control' 10 modules covering key areas of Tobacco Control
 e.g. Tobacco industry, economics & best practice
- Postgraduate Certificate in Teaching and Learning in Higher Education (TL4000 15 Credits (Sep – March 2009); portfolio on 'Teaching statistics to medical students')

Justification for this research

Before I started this research project, few studies have examined changes in smoking behaviour before and after a national smoke-free workplace legislation among affected workers in general [1] or hospitality industry workers in particular [2-3]. The Irish Smoke-free legislation, as the first such law in Europe, provided the opportunity to investigate potential short and medium term outcomes. Medium and long-term health, behavioural and social outcomes are still not well investigated.

Given the level of controversy associated with and the need for evidence to support tobacco control measures at national and international level, it was imperative to assess the impact of this measure rigorously.

The findings from this evaluation will make, and most likely have already made, significant contribution to the international understanding of the health effects of smoke-free legislation as well as the broader social and cultural consequences of such legislation.

Fore word

The focus of all smoke-free workplace legislation is to protect the health of workers from the harmful effects of second-hand smoke (SHS) exposure. Smoke-free workplace legislation reduces occupational exposure to SHS and may have additional health benefits including a reduction in smoking prevalence rates, an increase in smoking risk knowledge and an reduce initiation and increased cessation rates due to the intensification of the de-normalisation of smoking. This PhD work will focus on the smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland but will emphasise the impact of the legislation on active smoking. This evaluation is from a population health perspective with a specific exploration of some occupational groups. Our research project, the **Smo**ke **free** Ireland (SmofrI) study on tobacco, risk & social change incorporated 3 separate studies; **1**) bar workers study (quantitative) **2**) smoking risk perception among the general population and general practitioners (quantitative) and **3**) stigmatisation of smokers and smoking behaviour among the general population (qualitative). The research was principally localised in the Cork region of Republic of Ireland, the context for this research can be found in appendix 1.

The main research team were: Principal Investigator Dr. Birgit Greiner, Senior Researcher Ms Bernie Lonergan (Mullally) and Researcher Ms Sarah Meaney. Additional researchers were recruited to assist with telephone interviews with the general practitioner sample and to assist in data collection among bar workers. The qualitative component was co-supervised by Dr. Orla O'Donovan PhD from the School of Applied Social Studies, University College Cork.

Overview of the thesis

The introductory chapter gives a general overview of the subject area and general epistemological approach taken with this thesis. I will examine the influence of the smoke-free workplace legislation, enacted in 2004, on smoking behaviour, risk perception and cultural change in the Republic of Ireland. Following this the general aims and specific objectives addressed by the research will be outlined.

This PhD thesis consists of 4 papers, 2 of which are now published. Finally, I have included a discussion of the main findings followed by recommendations.

ABSTRACT Background

The Republic of Ireland became the first European country to implement nationwide smokefree workplace legislation. Evidence on effects of the legislation on smoking behaviour, risk knowledge, de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smokers was scarce at the time of the implementation of the policy.

Aims

To investigate the prevalence of smoking among bar workers and estimate the impact of the smoke-free workplace legislation on bar workers' smoking behaviour to that of a comparable general population sub-sample. To approximate the influence of tobacco control measures including the smoke-free legislation on risk perception of second-hand smoke (SHS) among the general population. To explore the responses of smokers and non-smokers to the legislation, to examine the de-normalisation of smoking behaviour and the potential increased stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking.

Methods

This thesis used an integrated mixed methods approach combining the epidemiological with a social science approach. The underlying framework is a socio-ecological model that looks beyond the individual to integrate the broader social and political impacts of the smoke-free legislation.

Prevalence estimates and behavioural changes were examined among a random sample of bar workers before and 1 year after the smoke-free legislation. Comparisons were made with a general population sample from the Office of Tobacco Control. Changes in risk knowledge related to SHS exposure before and after the legislation were based on general population data from TNS-mrbi market research company and a General Practitioner (GP) sample from Cork and Kerry region of Ireland. Qualitative interviews were conducted among a purposive sample of smokers and non-smokers four years after the implementation of the legislation.

Results

Bar workers had an extremely high smoking prevalence at 54% compared to the equivalent group within the general population (28%). Smoking prevalence dropped in bar workers and significantly among the general population sub-sample 1 year post ban while cigarette consumption dropped significantly among bar workers. Knowledge of risk associated with SHS exposure improved over time and disparity in knowledge between smokers and non-smokers reduced. The lack of understanding of the risk of ear infections in children posed by SHS exposure was notable. Evidence for advanced de-normalisation of smoking behaviour and intensification of stigma because of the introduction of the legislation was dependent on many factors, with the quality of smoking facilities playing a key role. The provision of comfortable surroundings, music and opportunities to continue to drink within smoking areas may counter the potential de-normalisation and stigmatising effects of the smoke-free legislation.

Conclusions

Ireland's smoke-free legislation was associated with a drop in prevalence and cigarette consumption. Disparity in knowledge between smokers and non-smokers of the risk posed by SHS exposure is reducing however the risks of ear infections in children needs to be effectively published and disseminated among the general population. This research points to the de-normalising effects of the legislation without a possible furthering of the stigmatisation of smokers and their behaviour in the context of the pub. However, consideration is needed on how the proliferation of 'good' smoking areas and the role of non-smokers may diminish the potential effects of the legislation to reduce smoking behaviour and de-normalise smoking.

Key Terms & Abbreviations

Second-hand smoke (SHS), Smoke-free workplace legislation, Smoke-free legislation, Smoking ban, Smoking law, Risk perception, Stigma, Stigmatisation, De-normalisation, Pub, Bar, Tobacco control.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1. Smoking and Health

Active smoking and health

Active smoking is still the leading cause of premature preventable death in western societies including Ireland; and is a major cause of health inequalities. At present, there are about 1.3 billion smokers in the world, and it is estimated that there are currently 4 million tobacco attributable deaths each year; with current trends driving this to rise to 10 million deaths per year by the 2030s [4]. Ireland ranks as the second highest for smoking-related deaths within the EU original group of 15 Member States. As a result, approximately 7000 deaths are attributable to smoking each year in Ireland [5].

Second-hand smoke and health

Second-hand smoke (SHS) contains over 4,000 compounds including more than 50 known or suspected human carcinogens and was classified as a class I carcinogen in 2002, by the International Agency for Research in Cancer (IARC). Exposure to SHS increases the risk of lung cancer [6-7], cardiovascular [8-9] and respiratory diseases [10-14], low birth weight [15], sudden infant death [15] and ear infections in children [16-17].

SHS in the workplace poses 200 times the acceptable risk for lung cancer and 2000 times the acceptable risk for heart disease [18]. In the UK, Jamrozik [19] estimated 617 deaths per year due to workplace SHS exposure, including 54 deaths in the hospitality industry each year. Woodward & Laugesen [20] estimated that between 174–490 avoidable deaths per year would be caused by SHS in New Zealand without smoke-free laws.

2. The general context: Tobacco Control in Ireland

The legislative ban was preceded by a multitude of tobacco control measures including media campaigns, tobacco advertising and sponsorship bans, tobacco sales restrictions and smoke-free workplace policies, smoke-free public transport and smoke-free cinemas. Pre-existing smoke-free policies exempted a number of worksites including pubs, restaurants, betting offices and prisons until 2004.

A report commissioned by the Office of Tobacco Control (OTC) and Health and Safety Authority in Ireland, concluded that effective ventilation in bars and restaurants was not practicable and that a smoke-free legislation remained the only viable control measure to ensure that workers and patrons of bars, nightclubs and restaurants are protected from exposure to the toxic by-products of tobacco combustion [21]. Based on this increasing evidence of the harmful effects of SHS public health advocates (Ash Ireland, the Office of Tobacco Control, the Department of Health, Minister for Health Martin, Irish Cancer Society and the medical profession), trade unions (SIPTU, Mandate and Impact) and others (EU Commission the Health & Safety Authority) lobbied the Irish government to ban smoking in all indoor workplaces including bars and restaurants. The release of this report together with increased evidence of the adverse health effects of SHS and the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) calling on member states to provide adequate protection from SHS in the workplace; prompted the Irish government to take action by implementing a ban on smoking in the workplace.

The ban was not without its opponents. As the Tobacco industry was unable to lobby directly in Ireland due to legal constraints [22-24] they were absent from the debate. However a pressure group, Irish Hospitality Industry Alliance [25], immerged as opponents after the announcement of the intended law. The Tobacco Control advocates believed this pressure group to be partly sponsored by the tobacco industry [5]. Critics of the law were sceptical of the ban's potential success, dubbing it as 'unworkable' and 'unenforceable'. Opponents to the law aired concerns related to economic loss of retailers, job losses, pub closures, and impacts on tourism. Despite these concerns, the smoke-free workplace legislation in Ireland was introduced in March 2004, as a health and safety measure focused on those exposed to a high level of SHS in the workplace, specifically those in the hospitality (bar and restaurant) industry. Ireland was the first country in the world to introduce a nation-wide ban on smoking in workplaces with only a few exceptions. The pressure group opposing the ban appears to have disbanded since the ban was imposed. Their disappearance was noted by the public health advocates; to be as a result of the success of the ban.

In 2005, Ireland was considered the leader in tobacco control as determined by the European Tobacco Control Scale, carried out by the World Health Organization (WHO). This scale examines six strategic policies described by the WHO under its *MPOWER* package (WHO, 2008) (*see p. 19 for details*). The 2007 survey ranked Ireland as 2nd overall for adhering to these important tobacco control measures. In the previous 2005 survey, Ireland was ranked in 1st place, but was overtaken by the UK in 2007 due to the UK increases in tobacco taxation and prices, investment in interventions and increased spending on public information campaigns. Critics of this [26] score, outline how the score ignores the cultural differentiation in acceptability of smoking and smoking policies. It has also ignored both public and political

views on tobacco control and how smokers' identities have changed with increasing tobacco control [26].

Since 2004, Ireland has been joined by a host of nations including Norway, Italy and New Zealand. In 2007, when England introduced legislation, the UK achieved a full ban on smoking since Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland had previously introduced bans. Other countries that either completed, extended or started to adopt full or partial smoking bans in 2007 included Australia, Belgium, Bosnia Herzegovina, Canada, Chile, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong of the Peoples' Republic of China, Iceland, India, Israel, Kenya, Lithuania, Portugal, Singapore, Slovenia. Colombia, Djibouti, Guatemala, Mauritius, Panama, Turkey. Zambia implemented complete bans and Switzerland and the Netherlands implemented partial bans in 2008. Despite this progress, it was estimated that only 5.4% of world's population were covered by comprehensive smoke-free laws in 2008 [27]. Romania, Greece and Brazil have since introduced smoke-free laws in 2009 [28-29].

In Ireland, the smoke-free legislation was framed as a national environmental and occupational health intervention. The smoke-free legislation, as outlined above, was considered the only measure to ensure that workers and patrons of bars, nightclubs and restaurants were protected from the harmful effects of SHS exposure [21]. The legislation could be considered 'a healthy macro-policy' [30] by controlling the environmental hazard for all in Irish Society.

3. Epidemiological research approaches to evaluating smoke-free legislation

Health outcomes after introduction of smoke-free work place legislation

Research on the actual health effects of smoking restriction and legislative bans was sparse before the introduction of Ireland's legislative ban in 2004. Most previous evidence was based on local, regional and specific workplace smoke-free policies.

As outlined above, many countries have followed Irelands lead in implementing comprehensive smoke-free workplace legislation [28]. Accompanying these implementations is an array of evidence supporting the health, economic and social consequences of smoke-free legislation.

There is now compelling evidence of the positive benefits of becoming smoke-free from all smoke-free jurisdictions. The most consistent and convincing evidence available today on positive health outcomes of smoke-free legislation is related to reductions in SHS exposure [31-35] and improvements in respiratory health in specific work groups [36-39]. Research from Ireland [34-35, 39], Norway [32], Sweden [38] and New York [31] provide consistent evidence that occupational exposure to SHS is reduced and respiratory symptoms improve among non-smokers after implementation of smoke-free workplace legislation. Encouraging evidence from California suggests that these reductions have been sustained 10 years post legislation [40]. Smoke-free legislation have also resulted in a significant reduction in the cardiovascular health burden [41-43].

Some evidence suggests that these legislation contribute to a reduction in prevalence of smoking and consumption among employees [1-3, 44]. However, this evidence is varied and comparisons between jurisdictions are difficult due to variation in policy/law coverage, length of study period, data collected, study participants etc.

Smoking prevalence in Ireland and Internationally

Tracking data from Ireland provided by the Office of Tobacco Control Ipsos MRBI Omnipoll [45] shows a 12 month moving average trend from June 2003 to April 2010. An overall decline in prevalence trends is evident over this period; 30% of males and 27% of females smoked in 2003, which dropped to 25% and 22% respectively in 2010. The introduction of the smoke-free legislation in March 2004 was followed soon after, by a decline in smoking prevalence especially among women. Contrary to this evidence from Ireland post legislation [45], Elton and Campbell [46] found no change in smoking prevalence among the general population in England. Galán [47] found a non-significant increase of prevalence in Spain, very soon after the implementation of the legislation. The decline in Ireland's prevalence was not sustained for long, after the introduction of the policy. Prevalence reached close to preban levels, two years post-ban. However, trends from 2008 to 2010 present evidence of a steady reduction in overall prevalence rates from 2003 to 2008 of 4% (from 25% to 21%) [48]. Evidence suggests that Ireland is lagging behind England but the Irish general population demonstrated a steady decline in prevalence from 28% in 2003 to 23.6% in 2010.

Internationally some evidence exists for reductions in smoking prevalence among the general population as a whole [49] and among males specifically [41] post legislation (appendix 3, table 1). Hospitality workers were an occupational group most affected by smoke-free

legislation, thus, research among this group was common. Prevalence dropped by 4% among bar workers in Scotland [50] which is comparable to a drop of 3.6% among bar workers in Norway [3].

A population level study [51] included data from twenty-one countries, that involved the United States, Canadian provinces, Ireland and Scotland. This study concluded that smoke-free legislation increased the rate at which prevalence declined in some locations but most had no measureable impact on smoking prevalence. Lee *et al.*, also confirmed that declines in smoking prevalence were continuing on from pre-legislation trends and that they did not accelerate during the 18 months immediately following implementation echoing earlier results from Elton and Campbell [46] who found no change in prevalence among the general population in England.

From the data available to date, the effect of smoke-free legislation on smoking prevalence is inconclusive and perhaps most notable changes are localised to specific workplaces for which the legislation impacted most.

Smoking consumption

Consistent with previous evidence, smoke-free legislation are associated with a drop in cigarette consumption (appendix 3, table 1). The proportion of heavy smokers fell in England three months after the legislation (smokers smoking >20cig/day fell from 27.6 to 21.8% P =0.044) [46] and among males in Italy (smokers smoking ≥ 20 cig/day fell from 5.1% - 4.3%; smokers smoking <20cig/day dropped from 29.8%-26.2%;) [41]. It is again evident that vulnerable occupational groups particularly benefit from smoke-free legislation. Hospitality workers in Spain (drop of 1.6 cigarettes/day, (p < .01) [52] and bar workers in Scotland (drop of 2.5 cig/day)[50] all consumed significantly fewer cigarettes per day post legislation. This evidence is also borne out qualitatively [53]. Evidence from England [48] described an overall mean reduction of 1 cigarette per day among smokers from 2003 to 2008, but suggest that this mean reduction was not impacted upon by the ban (results at 18 months post law) but was part of an overall trend. Research from 1997 warned that reductions in cigarette consumption among smokers frequently seen after implementation of a worksite smoking bans may diminish over time especially if a large drop is evident soon after the introduction of the policy [54]. However, this research referred to a workplace policy and not national legislation, which arguably could have more sustained impact on behaviour compared to localised policy. This hypothesis is supported to some extent in California where

consumption rates are declining and are lower in states with less tobacco control measures [40].

Quitting behaviour

Reflecting findings related to smoking prevalence, the data available on quitting behaviour were also inconsistent. Some research has pointed to an increase in quit attempts just before [55-56] or just after implementation [55, 57], some research details no overall difference in quit attempt or cessation [56, 58] or just reveals an increase in contemplation around quitting [59-61] (table 1, appendix 3).

A recent Cochrane review [62] on the impact of legislative bans on second-hand smoke exposure, smoking prevalence and tobacco consumption concluded that there was no consistent evidence of a reduction in smoking prevalence attributable to smoke-free legislation. The review also concluded that consumption was reduced in studies where prevalence declined. The review did include complete or partial bans and included national, regional or local level policy and legislation.

A number of factors may explain the differential effect of smoke-free legislation on smoking cessation behaviour including; the pre-existence of tobacco control measure and policies, the time period since implementation, if the law is comprehensive or not, the level of enforcement as well as cultural difference within smoke-free jurisdictions. Contradicting evidence demonstrates the complexities of evaluating such interventions. Hahn [63] and Bauer [64] summarised how smoke-free laws may have a delayed effect i.e.: that the longer a smoke-free law is in effect, the more likely adults will attempt and succeed in quitting smoking.

4. Social science approaches in the evaluation of smoke-free legislation

Smoke-free legislation and smoking behaviour

Smoking behaviour is largely part of a routine for a smoker but can vary throughout the life course as well as the day/night and weekday/weekend [65-66]. Throughout the smoking life course smoking behaviour changes as do the intentions, experiences and likelihood of quitting. Smoking as an everyday behaviour has an overall life course pattern from initiation to progression, maintenance, cessation and relapse [67]. The life course model describes the stages of smoking a smoker may be at or have gone through in his/her lifetime. This life

course coincides somewhat with age as some general trends typically occur at certain ages. For example, initiation typically occurs in adolescence, while patterns in cessation can be seen with life events like pregnancy and times of illness which are not necessarily determined by age.

Research has examined the positive influence peer smoking has on initiation rates among fellow non-smokers and the importance of smoking within groups [68]. Research has also suggested that children exposed to parental smoking are more likely to smoke themselves than children in non-smoking homes not only due to increased access to cigarettes but also the acceptability of smoking within the home [69].

A new and changing environment, such as the smoke-free workplace legislation, may have a more dramatic influence on some smokers than others. Within daily practices of smoking 'compensatory' smoking [70] may occur before an anticipated time of restriction (e.g. work) and for activities such as socialising or during times of stress, inactivity or boredom where typically more cigarettes are consumed [70]. The ban may increase the frequency of these periods of compensation or 'binge smoking'. During times of daily restrictions (e.g. work; cinema, plane) some smokers adjust and prepare for their next cigarette [71] pg188 others may compensate or 'tank up' before restrictions [70].

The smoke-free legislation could result in numerous responses by smokers and non-smokers. For smokers, the measure may be ignored or resisted [72] or smokers may retreat from the public realm [71] pg190. Alternatively the smokers may change by either quitting or altering their routine [65] and comply with the ban as 'good citizens' and smoke in a 'considerate' manner in designated areas. This altering of behaviours could occur through choice or because they have a sense of helplessness.

In Ireland, some smokers perceived that they would change their smoking behaviour because of the ban [73] while others may have anticipated change to their ability and opportunity to socialise therefore resulting in a change of behaviour. Irish smokers had previous experience of smoking restrictions from other smoke-free tobacco control measures, including most workplaces, cinemas, planes and hospitals. Therefore it could be argued that the introduction of this ban would not change behaviour, with smokers adjusting and responding by compensating before or after times of restriction. Although the ban was introduced into pubs as a health and safety measure, evidence of the effectiveness of smoke-free workplace restrictions indicate that, through reduced opportunities to smoke and the 'de-normalisation' of smoking, prevalence and consumption rates would most likely drop [1, 3, 60, 74-79].

The stigmatisation through separation of those who continue to smoke may contribute to a perception of outsiders [80-81] and stereotyping of 'others' ([82] cited in [72]). A cost benefit analysis described by Nyborg [83] suggests that among smokers, the inconvenience cost; which may include leaving good company to smoke outside, getting cold outside in bad weather while smoking or the cost of reduced social approval may outweigh the benefits of smoking. A shift in behaviour may also be attributed to the introduction of the ban whereby previously 'non-considerate' smokers [83] consciously adjust their behaviour in both regulated (pub) and un-regulated areas (e.g. homes).

Irish pub culture - A 'third place' & smoking in the 'third place'

The smoke-free legislation in Ireland is a policy focused on one of the few remaining public indoor spaces which lawfully allowed SHS exposure, namely pubs and restaurants. Ireland is well known for its 'pub' and 'drink' culture. The Irish pub is recognisable as a semi-public but highly regulated social space with its own codes of behaviour within which the clientele form a small society or community [83-84]. Traditionally drinking is a social act in these social spaces. Pubs may offer a real sense of community and everyday life providing a 'third place'. Oldenburg [85] describes the third place as a location that is not work and not home; rather a public place where people can easily meet, relax and interact. While one of the defining features of the third place is that the pub is not 'home', the pub nevertheless express key aspects of a home such as informality, warmth and a sense of freedom to be. This idea of a third place is most likely fitting to a regular or local pub not a 'super-pub'. Drinking patterns in Ireland have changed in recent years with increases in variety, availability and sales of alcohol outside of the pub (such as in supermarkets, petrol stations and off licences). These changes in drinking patterns are accompanied by changes in types of pubs. Pubs can now offer a wide range of activities and facilities; food, a wide range of beers, live music and other entertainment as well as children's play areas [86]. Some adults may socialise in groups and go to a range of bars on an ad-hoc basis. Others may go to the same pubs; or the 'local' (third place).

As 'regulars' in a pub their behaviour is more likely to be part of a routine within these behavioural setting [87] or pubs may result in smokers smoking the same number of

cigarettes each time they go to the pub. Both the smoker and non-smoker may, due to their familiar surroundings, feel 'comfortable' either left alone within the pub or outside smoking. The 'super-pub', whose primary customer base is young adults, is more likely to provide comfortable smoking areas than smaller 'local' pubs. Due to comfort, these new smoking areas may promote socialising whereby people spend longer periods of time in these areas and possibly smoke more (or rates close to those smoked in the pub pre-law). Smoking areas can become an extension of the pub itself; not just a facility for the sole purpose of smoking. These new spaces may also change where smokers can drink and interact with others. Poland [71] describes how smoking can act as a 'social lubricant; a cigarette or a light offered or accepted serves to break the ice' and may lead to this idea of flirting and smoking (smirting). The new legislation could present different behavioural adjustments for different groups/subsets of smokers and non-smokers. Increase in the use of these new spaces among clients of certain bars may demonstrate a rebellion against this public health policy; with non-smokers frequenting the smoking room with the smoker.

The introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation was predicted to create a new pub culture within Ireland. Possible negative outcomes such as lost of business, fewer people visiting pubs [73] and 'spoilt atmosphere' where smokers and non-smokers would socialise separately were predicted. In anticipation of the ban publicans had to adapt their premises, where possible, to provide facilities for smokers. In cases where the pub could not be adapted smokers had to leave the bar to smoke (usually outside to either the front or back of pub). Smokers had, in most cases, to adapt their behaviour when socialising by going to these designated areas. At a behavioural level, it is possible that having to smoke at these designated areas could modify the amount smokers smoked, cause compensatory smoking or even quitting. Within this social context; new cultures of smoking may have emerged, particularly while socialising in pubs. A variety of possibilities exists in relation to changes in new cultures within the pub. Firstly, as Goffman observes, the stigmatised may seek each other out and form 'shamed groups' or groups with a common stigma [88]. Secondly, as Farrimound & Joffe's [89] describes, non-smokers may perceive benefits of being in the 'smokers club' such as opportunities for bonding within these groups or an opportunity to interact with strangers (smirting). 'The 'squeezing out' of smoking from the public sphere reflects the relationship between the space allocated to smokers, its relative value or its desirability in terms of location or comfort and the social desirability of smoking given space is tantamount to granting legitimacy [90].

Other external factors may also influence smoker's behaviour within personal (home, car) and public spaces including pubs. Inmates (family [68, 91] and friends [92]) reactions, according to Goffman, can be more shaming than the public reaction (injunctive norms (Cialdini *et al.*, 1991 cited in [93]) to the behaviour and may result in concealed behaviour or secret smoking [71, 89]. The social disapproval of smoking is highly gendered, with pregnant women being amongst the most demonised and disparaged smokers. The smoke-free workplace legislation may also create different negative situations for women and men; women may feel intimidated or at risk while in the smoking area of a pub on her own (as non-smoker or smoker) or in the company of strangers. It has been argued that social factors, in this case the ban and the accompanying social unacceptability of smoking, may be more influential on women's smoking behaviour that on men [94] and that woman who smoke are more responsive than men to negative environmental factors [95] such as SHS. Although differential behavioural and social responses will be more likely for women than for men and for different socioeconomic groups [82, 89], I do not intend to examine the specific different gender or class issues related to the ban within this thesis.

Changing Smoking Culture

Research shows that smokers and non-smokers have different perceptions of the immediate and long-term health consequences of smoking and SHS. The ban, in conjunction with other tobacco control measures (including prohibition of the sale of 10 packs of cigarettes and point of sale advertising), may lead to a possible de-normalisation, decreased social desirability [96] or stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking. 'De-normalisation' primarily focuses, in an Irish context, on the hazardous nature of tobacco products, and the health, social and economic burden resulting from the use of tobacco. The tobacco control advocates refer to the positive health outcomes of such 'de-normalisation' noting possible drops in initiation rates, increase cessation rates and decreases in the amount smoked by smokers in the future. This 'de-normalisation' may also lead, perhaps unintentionally, to stigmatisation of the smoker; negative feeling and thoughts towards smokers and internalised feelings of guilt and shame, as markers of stigmatisation [71] among smokers, resulting in the moving of smoking from the public (in public view) to the private sphere (private spaces; secret) or privatisation of smoking. This privatisation can be intensified; if smoking becomes more of an individual rather than a social practice. The privatisation may result in more people smoking in the home, cars or in secret.

The socially and economically disadvantaged classes, who have higher smoking prevalence, are less likely to quit and are therefore most at risk of smoking related morbidity and mortality. Those in society with the highest smoking prevalence may be the group most affected by the introduction of the ban either positively or negatively. Poland ([71] pg 193) discusses the possible reliance of marginalised groups on public spaces in comparison to those with more material wealth, therefore, the restrictions posed by the ban may result in 'compounding layers of stigmatisation' [72] among the marginalised. As smoking can be seen as a coping mechanism for daily life, dealing with illness or death, caring for others [67, 97] and an opportunity to relax the ban may be counter-productive by limiting the opportunities for smoking. Feelings of social isolation from the wider community may also be embedded.

It could be argued that with the introduction of a legislative ban and the regulation of the 'risk' and 'danger' [90, 98-99] posed by SHS, the government is infringing on an individual's human rights to consume commodities, such as cigarettes, when and wherever chosen. This suggests that the smoking ban contributes to the creation of individuals as targets of social exclusion [90, 98-99]. Thomson mentions McDowell's belief that recent health campaigns emit 'cultural condescension' and 'moral disapproval' to convince working class smokers to quit smoking [72]. This argument is strongly contested by Tobacco Control advocates emphasising that the scientific evidence of harmful effects of SHS to others in society far outweigh any alleged injustice towards smokers.

Smoking is no longer a convivial and integral part of everyday life. In large part, it has become an activity largely removed from routine human interaction [26]. Goffman's [88] classic analysis of stigma and its resultant "spoiled identity" could be consistent with how the meaning of smoking has changed in the Irish context since the ban. Goffman described stigmatisation as the transformation "from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one".

Intensification of stigmatisation in Irish smoking culture

Stigmatisation of smoking can work at the individual, group (Goffman 1963 cited in [72]), and societal level. Stigmatisation of smoking has been largely individual to date in Ireland with campaigns for smoking cessation targeting individual behaviours removed from any social meaning or context [100]. The responsibility of the smoker to conform can be seen as 'individual' [100]. However social interaction at work [65], within groups [68] and

communities [101] are also important in understanding smoking behaviours. Due to the importance placed on the 'pub' as a site of socialising in Ireland any impact of the ban on behaviour from an Irish perspective has to be conceptualised as a social behaviour as well as an individual behaviour.

The ban now presents an individual act influenced by group dynamics where smokers, as a collective group, need to act individually as responsible citizens [102] and 'abide' by this law for the good of all society. Individuals make decisions by judging what appropriate behaviour is and adjusting it accordingly; to the social norms of their current environment. This self surveillance (described by Foucault) is influenced by the possibility of their actions being surveyed and judged by others.

Chapman and Freeman [26] offer "a starting point" for researchers to qualitatively investigate the cultural consequences of tobacco control policies. I used Chapman and Freeman's writings, as well as Thompson's work as a starting point for our qualitative work.

5. My Research approach

Epistemological approach: Mixed methods approach

I will use mixed methods within a public health framework and combine epidemiological quantitative research with a social science informed qualitative approach.

Qualitative versus quantitative

Although researchers using quantitative and qualitative research paradigms acknowledge the value of both perspectives, they regularly debate on research quality issues such as objectivity, generalisability, validity, reproducibility, bias etc. Cojocaru [103] and others [104-107] outline the main disputes and challenges of using mixed methods. They explain where advocates of quantitative research (who are opponents to qualitative) might say its own field is objective and independent of the researcher – therefore real social outcomes can be determined reliably and validly and reality is something that can be studied objectively. Quantitative research is subjective, based on multiply realities, is individualistic and is context driven. In qualitative work, researchers acknowledge that multiple realities exist in any given situation - the researchers, those of the individuals being investigated, and the reader or audience interpreting the results. The researcher aims to interact with all participants and actively works to minimize the distance between the researcher and those

being researched. Qualitative research is context-bound, and claim that context-free generalisations are neither desirable nor possible [104].

Mixed methods approach is philosophically rooted in pragmatism [104-107] which takes an explicitly value-oriented approach to research. Mixed methods are embraced by many fields of research today. Johnson & Onwuegbuzie [104] presents 'the third research paradigm' and discuss the goal of mixed methods research as not replacing either approach but rather to draw from the strength and minimise the weaknesses of both [104-107]. It aims to select the method or philosophical approach which best suits the issue under scrutiny or question to be answered. The authors discuss similarities between the research approaches, including how researchers ask questions and control for bias. They query the subjectivity of any research and question how quantitative can be 'purely' objective when decisions and preferences are needed in terms of study design, choosing measurement tools and deciding what constitutes publishable data in their field. Similarly, strong personal beliefs inevitably influence qualitative researchers approach and interpretation, and potentially hinder the interpretation of the multiple realities of their research. Regardless of approach it is difficult to avoid the influence of values in all inquiries.

Quantitative research can be criticised as one-dimensional and simplistic in its assessment of the impact of a policy such as the smoke-free legislation and qualitative research can be criticised as providing subjective data. My strategy in this PhD thesis was to determine the wider impacts of the smoke-free legislation and provide a holistic view of behaviour and societal change by complimenting and expanding upon the quantitative behaviour change and risk perception estimates with qualitative research.

Within my research, I used a sequential strategy, using quantitative, then qualitative methods. This sequence was partly used for logistical reasons, the quantitative work started immediately before the introduction of the legislation and for comparability purposes needed to be completed within the same time-frame one and two years post legislation. The decision to complete the qualitative work after the follow-up studies also allowed for more time to reflect and prepare for this research and offered the opportunity to add some deeper understanding to the quantitative results.

Quantitative approach

First I took a population health perspective addressing prevalence, prevalence changes and risk perception changes using a quantitative approach. The population health method relies on the creation of data that is generalisable, that rule out alternative explanations for the observed differences and that goes beyond the individual. The data used was considered fairly representative for the respective target population and efforts were made to adjust for potential bias and confounding with the view to providing results that could be applied to the Irish general population, and could also inform other jurisdictions considering smoke-free legislation. Using a large sample size is important in terms of public health since the data generated through analysis and research of this sample can be used to assess relative changes in outcomes after such an intervention. Analysis of large sample sizes also allow generation of data that can be used to identify health service needs contribute to public expenditure planning and may be easy to communicate to the general population. In terms of potential agenda, papers 1 and 2 were intended to support policy implementation and to assist in creating a body of evidence to persuade international governments to implement similar policies.

Qualitative approach

The quantitative approach used in this thesis was in some sense limited, since prevalence and consumption are only general estimates of outcome. The findings based on quantitative methods used could not explain what mechanisms existed behind the prevalence and risk perception changes. Nor did they indicate the potential factors responsible for the unsustained prevalence changes. Although the legislation was applauded as successful in terms of reduction in prevalence and sustained reductions in consumption rates, ethical issues arose related to intensification of smoker stigma. Concerns also existed around social injustice and social inequalities and it was felt by the research team that smokers' views needed to be taken into consideration when assessing the impacts of the legislation.

A qualitative method was chosen; as it is appropriate to help understand social phenomena in natural settings with emphasis placed on the meanings, experiences, and views of the participants. Qualitative methods examine the subjective experiences of individuals and help to understand emerging trends in society [108]. I used an interpretative methodology as it centres on the ways in which humans make sense of their subjective reality and attach meaning to it [109]. The qualitative research evolved over the term of the project and provided the main opportunity for flexibility in terms of research questions and was the

component of this thesis likely to be most influenced by my and the teams beliefs, values, bias and agenda.

I decided to direct my research away from services-providers to a user (of smoking areas) perspective on smoke-free legislation. Therefore, I decided against including bar workers in our qualitative sample. Bar workers are a specific occupational group with potentially specific issues to the law. Our intention was not to provide an occupational perspective but a more holistic view of the social consequences of the legislation.

The qualitative analysis explored issues around stigmatisation and changes in pub culture which would be challenging to measure in a quantitative manner and were therefore not captured within the quantitative work. The interviews also attempted to gain an insight into the factors driving smoking behavioural change; which were seen among the quantitative results and contributed to an explanation for the initial decrease and then increase to pre-ban rates in smoking trends nationally. The qualitative analysis explored the potential for the smoke-free legislation to intensify stigma for smoking behaviour. Although components or identifiers of stigmatisation (shame, guilt, regret, uncomfortable, normal, outsider) could be sought through questionnaires, the context of the evolving nature of stigma would be missed, and it would be difficult to differentiate stigma as a consequence of the law in pubs verses other sources. It would also have been likely that only smokers would be asked these identifiers by a questionnaire, and therefore the uniqueness of and importance of non-smokers in the interpretation of the social implications of the law would have been missed. This qualitative work provides some depth to the possible mechanisms of how the smoke-free legislation filtered down into behaviours and perceptions.

Mixed Methods - A multi-disciplinary approach

Public health problems result from complex social, economic, political, biological, genetic and environmental causes. A range of methods are needed to tackle or assess these and public health researchers are considered most effective when they are eclectic in their choice of methods [110].

Taking a mixed methods approach allows researchers to mix and match design components that offer the best chance of answering their specific research questions. The ideal mixed research involves a cyclical, recursive, and interactional process [104]. If findings from (purely) mixed methods research are corroborated across different approaches, then greater confidence can be held in the singular conclusion. If the findings conflict, then the researcher has greater knowledge and can modify interpretations and conclusions accordingly. In many

cases, the goal of mixing is not to search for corroboration; but rather to expand understanding of a topic.

I used qualitative methods to expand, complement and develop the quantitative research findings. Although not all the papers included in this PhD thesis followed a strict mixed methods approach, the overall thesis was guided by the 'third paradigm'. This research was cyclical as the findings on prevalence changes, improvements in risk perception and fieldwork experiences all feed into the qualitative design. The PhD papers overall were not used for triangulation (i.e. seeking convergence and corroboration of results from different methods and designs studying the same phenomenon); but instead the qualitative paper was complementary, it sought to elaborate, enhance, illustrate, and clarify some results from the quantitative studies.

Personal Reflection

Owing to my studies in health promotion, and particularly in the areas of public health and sociology, I believe I have developed an empathetic understanding of potential and perceived social injustice arising from implementation of smoke-free regulation. This and my personal experiences with knowing smokers translated to sympathy and understanding of the social ethics around smoking. I genuinely had no prejudice towards smokers and was impartial to the implementation of the ban pre-ban.

Through my research I have developed an understanding, and as a result, a certain empathy towards smokers, the social pressures to start smoking, the addictive nature of smoking, the difficulty to quit and the potential hazards and inconvenience of the smoke-free legislation. This may have had a limited influence on the interpretation and writing of the quantitative papers as I believe the papers are restricted in interpretation, but it did seem to assist in achieving a good response rate among bar workers.

Conversely, the qualitative research was, as expected, more influenced by my personal view (and that of the research group and ethos of the research project) that smoking is socially driven and socially determined and that the social determinants of health and health inequalities are critical to the understanding of smoking behaviour.

My training in Health Promotion helped me develop an appreciation for mixed methods and the importance of appropriate study design informed by the research question and circumstances; and not completely determined by methods. This education has increased my awareness of the influence of policy (macro level), in combination with a host of factors, including socioeconomic status (SES), income, education, social support and family influences that can potentially have an effect on individual attitudes and behaviour. The estimates within this thesis do provide a good overview of what the situation is in Ireland, in relation to smoking. These data are analysed acknowledging the important influences SES, age and gender have on smoking patterns and on risk perception in general. I have developed an appreciation of their contribution in the interpretation of behaviour and knowledge changes overtime. My previous qualifications have also afforded me an understanding of the limitations quantitative research can bring to this research particularly on a macro level intervention such as the smoke-free legislation. Prevalence trends are a crude indicator of changes in smoking patterns. From a tobacco control perspective prevalence changes (drop) are welcomed, however this crude measure can sometimes ignore the importance of SES factors in explaining these changes. This information is important to enlighten further attempts to reduce prevalence, in programme delivery and allocation of resources in tobacco control.

In approaching this research with a pragmatic lens and embracing mixed methods; I believe I have produced an interesting perspective on the smoke-free legislation. An appreciation and understanding of a mixture of research methods enabled me to be flexible in my investigative techniques, it provided me with experience in both qualitative and qualitative methods and analysis and I believe provided a micro and macro level investigation into a macro level public policy. The application of mixed methods has also afforded me the opportunity to collaborate with a number of researchers, regardless of their philosophical orientation. This also highlighted to me that collaboration across disciplines can make a significant contribution to the solving of public health issues.

Behaviour change models and theories

Individual behaviour models and theories could apply to different aspects of this thesis including the Health Belief Model [111], Trans-theoretical Model [112], Theory of Reasoned Action [113] and Theory of Planned Behaviour [113]. Although some of these models address social factors, they are based at the individual level, and are not broad enough to interpret social factors. The psychological Health Belief Model could fit well in the understanding and interpretation of the risk perception aspect of this thesis. Risk perception of second-hand smoke exposure at an individual level could be theorised in terms of perceived threats, susceptibility, severity, benefits and barriers etc. However, the limitation of focusing on the individual behaviour in this way disregards the existence of determinants known to be important in fully appreciating smoking behaviour. This model makes no

reference to social norms, peer influence, economic or environmental factors. Another psychological model commonly used in Health Promotion for smoking cessation is the Transtheoretical Model (Stages of Change), but again this focuses on the individual without assessing the role that structural and environmental issues may have on a person's ability to enact behavioural change or even pre-contemplate the behavioural change.

This thesis is based on population level research; it is mostly quantitative and comes from a public health perspective with a social epidemiological approach. Considering the limitations of quantitative research methods as a stand-alone method in the evaluation of the legislation the quantitative results were used to inform a qualitative element within this work. This qualitative element was strongly influenced by the Social Sciences. The models and theories mentioned above although useful at the individual level are not application to my work which is largely focused at the population level. Socio-ecological models are therefore considered more appropriate at the population level as they attempt to encapsulate the multitude of factors or determinants involved in behaviour.

Ecological model of behaviour change

Socio-ecological models or ecological models (terms are interchangeably) of social behaviour change describe the relationship between health behaviour and interpersonal, organisational, community and social subsystems, the models can be applied at the individual and population level. The core concept of an ecological model is that behaviour has multiple levels of influences, often including intrapersonal (biological, psychological), interpersonal (social, cultural), organisational, community, physical environmental, and policy. The philosophical underpinning of the concept is that behaviour does not occur within a vacuum [114-117].

Ecological models help articulate the complexities of health determinants and the environmental and societal influences on health. Ecological models of health behaviour emphasize the environmental and policy contexts of behaviour, while incorporating social and psychological influences.

The potential strengths of this approach are that the affects virtually reach entire populations, in contrast to interventions that reach only individuals who choose to participate. The policy and environmental interventions such as the smoke-free legislation establish settings and incentives that can persist overtime. One obstacle considered important to the longevity of the smoke-free legislation was enforcement; however post-legislation saw compliance rates of 98% (Office of Tobacco Control). Another key strength of ecological models is they focus on multiple levels of influence on behaviour that broadens options for interventions and evaluations –this is important as behaviour change is complex and change is not immediate.

28

Providing individuals with motivation and skills to change behaviour cannot be effective if environments and policies make it difficult or impossible to choose healthy behaviours. Rather, what ecological approaches aim to do is create environments and policies that make it convenient, attractive, and economical to make healthy choices, and then motivate and educate people about those choices [118].

However these models also present a major challenge for those working to achieve these goals including challenges in development of more sophisticated operational models that lead to testable short-term hypotheses and useful guidance for future interventions [118]. It may also be difficult to prove effectiveness of individual elements of a multi-faceted intervention or policy due to the potentially large range of variables affected- thus effecting funding. Also establishing change at the environmental or political level is time consuming and requires innovative thinking, advocacy skills and partnership among interested groups.

There are a diverse range of ecological models to choose from, some specifically designed for particular behaviours and fields of research.

Huisman [116], Ritchie (Scotland ban [53]) and Elder [117] are examples of how these models could apply to smoking behaviour. However, since McLaren & Hawe [115] is a commonly used ecological model for behaviour change; I will use this as a reference in this instance. McLaren & Hawe [115] outline the existence of different levels of influence (example from a smoking/tobacco control perspective), including the intrapersonal realm (rebelliousness), interpersonal processes (peer pressure, parental influences, socioeconomic status), organisational processes (school, workplace), community (local smoking cessation groups, social norms, standards of smoking areas, accessibility), and public policy (taxation, smoke-free legislation, advertising bans, enforcement of legal age). Their definition also highlights notions of multilevel interventions and evaluation, interaction between the levels, reciprocal causation, as well as the need for environmental change and individual support for these changes. In theory, behaviour change is expected to be maximised when environments and policies support healthful choices, when social norms and social support for healthful choices are strong, and when individuals are motivated and educated to make those choices [115].

An underlying objective of the ecological model would be to use both individual-level and environmental/policy-level interventions to achieve substantial changes in health behaviours. Tobacco control internationally has acknowledged the importance of approaches that can systematically target mechanisms of change at several levels for many years and this approach is endorsed by the FCTC. The combination of a number of tobacco control strategies is credited with the major reductions in tobacco use in the United States since the 1960s, and this experience has stimulated the application of multi-level models and interventions to many health problems.

The smoke-free legislation in Ireland was introduced as health and safety measure, but unintentional consequences may include reduced smoking prevalence rates, increases in awareness of risks posed by second-hand smoke and increased de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking behaviour. Increases in cigarette taxes were called for by tobacco control advocates soon after the legislation passed as tax increases were seen as an ideal supplementary component to the legislation and a further incentive for smokers to quit. This tax increase was determined to be unjust for smokers and a move that was considered unfavourable for politicians. The smoke-free legislation was accompanied by other individually based approaches to smoking cessation, including an increase in advertisement of smoking cessation services such as the national smokers' quit-line (Irish Cancer Society) and an increased media attention on the health consequences of active and passive smoking. However, the smoke-free legislation was largely a policy level macro-level intervention.

Determinants of Health (Dahlgren and Whitehead 1991) as the overarching conceptual framework

Lifestyles are important determinants of health. But it is factors in the social environment that determine access to health services and influence lifestyle choices in the first place."

WHO Director-General Dr Margaret Chan

The Dahlgren and Whitehead model or rainbow (Figure 1) of the determinants of health (DOH) is utilised as a conceptual framework and the public health context for this thesis. The framework is based on the principles of the socio-ecological models discussed earlier. The Dahlgren and Whitehead model is widely utilised in Public Health to explain potential casual relationships between a) biological factors; which are largely pre-determined and uncontrollable, b) modifiable individual lifestyle factors such as smoking and c) structural factors such as social and community influences, d) living and working conditions, and e) general socio-economic and environmental conditions. The rainbow does not specify the causal pathways between different layers and segments of the rainbow but could be seen as stimulating thinking and research on how these determinants operate alone and in

combination. The framework looks beyond individual lifestyle factors and emphasises the inter-relationship between the determinants and how they cannot be understood in isolation from the others [119].

Figure 1 Dahlgren and Whitehead Model (1991)



The Main Determinants of Health

The structural factors that impact health are beyond any individual's ability to change. Most determinants; except biological factors, are said to be fundamentally shaped and influenced by, collective societal choices embodied in social policies, regulatory and legislative frameworks; by the broader determinants of health.

This model can facilitate the understanding of the determinants of smoking in the context of social inequalities in health. Health inequalities are considered to be caused by the unequal distribution of health determinants between people from different levels of the social hierarchy. Although it is difficult to demonstrate that any one determinant is the primary cause of a health outcome, much evidence exists on possible casual links for the co-existence of multiple determinants and their role on ill health. Much research on health inequalities points to relationships between a combination of several determinants and poor health, for example; low pay, stressful and dangerous work conditions and an increase of risky behaviours with an outcome of increased rates of illness including coronary heart disease (CHD), cancer and poor mental health compared to those not experiencing these negative determinants [120-121]. Many health risk factors, including unfavourable living and working

conditions, psychosocial factors, and health behaviours such as smoking, inadequate diet, excessive alcohol consumption, and lack of physical exercise are more frequent in lower socioeconomic groups, and have been shown to contribute to the explanation of health inequalities [122]. Socioeconomic inequalities in health usually present themselves as a gradient, characterised by a gradual but systematic increase of the rates of morbidity and mortality as one moves down the social ladder.

Health Inequalities and Smoking Prevalence

Smoking has been shown to be a major contributor to social inequalities in mortality. Smoking accounts for approximately 30% of socioeconomic inequalities in mortality and approximately 15% of socioeconomic inequalities in morbidity among men in many European populations [123]. For women, the contribution of smoking to socioeconomic inequalities in mortality is much more variable.

Smoking is the single greatest contributor to preventable illness and premature death in Ireland [124]. Despite the decreasing death rates from CHD and stroke in Ireland as in many European populations, there is concern about the widening gap in mortality and morbidity between the managerial and professional social classes, and those with lower levels of education and on lower incomes [125]. According to Layte [126], measures of disadvantage and deprivation account for almost one-third of this class differential in smoking. This widening gap may be accounted for by the difference in smoking rates and other health related choices between the social classes.

As is evident from other developed countries, Ireland [127] has seen an overall reduction in recent years in the number of smokers: from 1999-2003; males: 32%- 28%, females: 31%-26% respectively. No significant changes in smoking rates were evident between 2002 and 2007. This overall decrease is not evident across all sectors of society; social class 5-6 (lower social class) have the highest prevalence of smoking for both males and females [127] and are less likely than those from higher socio-economic groups to quit smoking [127].

Existence of differential social class responses to population level tobacco control interventions, specifically smoke-free workplaces, is unclear. Thomas *et al.*, [128] found no strong evidence that smoking restrictions in workplaces and public places are more effective among more advantaged groups. Richie *et al.*, [53] present narratives of smokers from

disadvantaged communities who report greater decreases in consumption, compared to those smokers from affluent localities.

Recent years have seen a shift in emphasis in tobacco control advocacy from one that warns smokers of the personal health risk related to active smoking to campaigns emphasising 'greater public good'. Campaigns aimed at active smoking are considered to strengthen individuals through, for example, increasing their knowledge about health effects of smoking with the hope of increasing their likelihood of quitting or reducing cigarette consumption. This form of public health campaigning can be criticised as paternalistic. Tobacco control protagonists have developed measures aimed at 'the greater good' including smoke-free workplace legislation where the general public and particularly non-smokers are protected from the health risks associated with SHS exposure.

Smoking behaviour and the smoke-free legislation within the Dahlgren and Whitehead model

I will draw on the Dahlgren and Whitehead model to examine the extent to which smoking behaviour is shaped by the smoke-free workplace legislation. This thesis examines the implications of the legislation for both smokers and non-smokers.

Before exploring how the legislation may have impacted on the determinants of smoking behaviour, I will firstly give a brief overview of research related to the determinants of smoking behaviour. I will then look specifically at some determinants relevant to the smoke-free legislation namely, smoking prevalence, risk perception of SHS, stigmatisation of smokers and of their smoking behaviour.

Determinants of smoking behaviour

Below are some possible pathways in which the determinants of smoking behaviour can be explored through the lens of the Dahlgren and Whitehead framework.

Cigarette smoking contains nicotine which is addictive; however smoking is also a choice. This choice is made in a social and economic context that has a large bearing on the incentives to initiate, sustain and quit the behaviour and has a bearing on the perception of health risk associated with the behaviour.

Individual factors

The roles of biological pathways in smoking behaviour are unclear. Gender and age are important social factors (rather than biological issues) in relation to smoking behaviour. There is a large body of evidence examining the two main life stages of smoking behaviour; initiation and cessation. Smoking initiation classically occurs in adolescence. Males and females can respond differently to different smoking cues; adverse childhood events were found to be related to initiation among women but not men, while peer pressure was found to be related to smoking initiation among men [129]. Within the life course of smoking quitting can occur in older, married people and those with a higher SES [129]. There is a higher prevalence of smoking among men compared to women; however in western societies this trend is beginning to change with prevalence of smoking among women surpassing men. Men consume more cigarettes per day than women and are more likely to quit than women. Personal traits or personal resources are also considered important in smoking initiation and cessation including self efficacy, self esteem and neuroticism. Smoking can be used as a coping mechanism to regulate mood, manage stress, and cope with mental strain; these issues may originate within the living and working environment but be expressed here. Issues related to smoking cessation include weight gain, cigarette withdrawals and illness as a result of smoking.

Individual lifestyle factors

Smoking is considered a risk taking behaviour. Smoking can also be associated with other risky behaviour or unhealthy lifestyle practices such as lack of physical activity, alcohol consumption, taking illicit drugs and deliberate self-harm.

Social and community networks

Smoking initiation classically occurs in adolescence and can be influenced by many factors such as social pressure; including peers and family norms, cigarette prices, advertising and promotion and access. The continuation of smoking and the potential for cessation can also be influenced by social supports such as family, friends, children, work colleagues as well as social norms in the workplace and within the broader community.

Living and working conditions

The WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) is a regulatory strategy to combat tobacco globally. The FCTC recommendations relevant to this layer of the

framework include; demand reduction measures concerning tobacco dependence and cessation, education, communication, training and public awareness.

Health education can refer to active and passive smoking, prevention of initiation and increase of cessation rates. Education is considered a stronger indicator of smoking prevalence than income [126]. Employment status is a common indicator of social class. Unemployment can be associated with higher smoking prevalence and reduced intention to quit. Job demands, job control and stress experienced within the workplace can be associated with smoking behaviour e.g. some evidence suggests that low job control was associated with higher smoking prevalence among men.

The provision of smoke-free workplaces, smoke-free homes, smoke-free cars and standards of smoking areas provided for smokers is also relevant. The provisions of accessible, adequate and appropriate health care services are also understood within this layer. In relation to smoking, these can include access to smoking cessation services (NRT, Brief interventions, National Smokers Quitline etc.) with age, gender and social class appropriate and novel approaches to cessation. Training of key health professionals and gate keepers such as GPs and practice nurses in society as well as tobacco education in schools, workplaces and communities is also applicable within this layer.

General socio-economic and environmental conditions

The majority of the provisions in the WHO FCTC operate through this layer of the Dahlgren and Whitehead model. The convention outlines demand and supply reduction strategies. Demand reduction tactics include price and tax measures, and non-price related strategies including protection from exposure to tobacco smoke, regulation of the contents of tobacco products, regulation of tobacco product disclosures, packaging and labelling of tobacco products, tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. The treaty also recommends supply reduction provisions including guidelines on illicit trade and sales to and by minors. All of these recommendations can be addressed through guidelines, policy and legislation. Increases in taxation on cigarettes, restriction of availability of cigarettes sales to and by minors, restrictions on promotion and advertising, and smoke-free policy have been shown to influence initiation, reduction in the cigarettes consumed and cessation rates.
The smoke-free workplace legislation and its impact on smoking prevalence, risk perception and stigmatisation

Here I will outline how the smoke-free workplace legislation may have impacted upon smoking prevalence, risk perception of SHS, stigmatisation of smokers and their behaviour; through the lens of the Dahlgren and Whitehead conceptualisation of the determinants of health.

The legislation may be viewed using the Dahlgren and Whitehead conceptual framework as having two entry points: however, I propose that there are rippling effects throughout determinants at different layers. One entry point for the legislation can be conceptualised within the general socioeconomic, cultural and environmental conditions (outer most layer) as this is a health-related legislation. A second entry point may be within improvements in living and working conditions (physical work environment) as the legislation specifies the removal of SHS exposure from all indoor workplaces including pubs and restaurants.

The potential rippling effects

- Restrictions in the places to smoke can be used as a mechanism to de-normalise smoking behaviour by moving it away from the public realm. This de-normalisation, although originating within the legislation, may be expressed within social networks (social and community networks) and working environments. Making smoking behaviour 'less normal' may assist in preventing initiation or trigger cessation. This de-normalisation may also contribute to stigmatisation of smokers and of smoking behaviour thus further exiling disadvantaged groups.
- Smoking was not banned altogether, but banned in all enclosed workplaces including pubs and restaurants. Smokers needed somewhere to smoke in pubs so publicans created smoking areas (living and working conditions). Some smoking areas are functional and provided a legal space to smoke and possibly some shelter from the rain while others provided a 'pub away from the pub' with seats, heating, music and alcohol. Again a ripple may be evident here whereby the legislation impacted on social facilities for smokers and non-smokers (living and work conditions) which then impacts on social norms around smoking practices or social pressures to not smoke (e.g. when a smoker needs to leave the social group to have a cigarette outside). Consequently this could impact on the individual lifestyle factor of smoking behaviour by reducing the number of cigarettes consumed. Gender and age may also be factors to consider, whereby women may react differently to men in certain situations; for example a woman might feel uncomfortable being alone in a

smoking room and therefore smoke less. The standard of a smoking area may encourage or discourage smoking among different age groups; for example super pubs, which are targeting young adult customers, usually have state of the art smoking areas which perhaps glamorise and encourage smoking.

The rationale for discussions about the introduction of a smoke-free legislation may have been to convince the public of the 'sound' evidence around health risks associated with SHS exposure, and gain support for its introduction which could potentially improve health education (living and working conditions). This may filter down into the community and social networks through family, friends, peers and social/cultural norms. The heightened awareness of risk associated with SHS exposure may result in a new cultural norm around SHS exposure and what is acceptable in a community. For example, social norms and social pressures may prevent smoking initiation or alter where and when a smoker smokes. This new knowledge, or reinforcement of existing knowledge, may initiate a quit attempt or prevent smoking initiation. This new social culture may also have adverse effects and create stigmatisation among smokers.

It is important to note, at this point, that the smoke-free legislation was introduced into a country with its own unique culture and a society with a long tobacco control history. Many tobacco control measure preceded its introduction. Therefore the impact of the Irish legislation is in some ways specific and the impacts on the following determinants may be more exaggerated in countries with fewer tobacco control measures.

Smoking behaviour

From a tobacco control perspective, the Irish smoke-free legislation may be considered a mechanism for reducing active smoking prevalence and consumption rates in the wider population through reduced opportunities to smoke and the possible increased denormalisation of smoking. While the smoke-free workplace legislation brought about the physical removal of SHS as a potential prompt for smokers to smoke (SHS as reminder to smoke) from bars and restaurants, it also moved the opportunities for smoking and changed its social context. These factors could potentially have a knock-on effect on smokers and their consumption patterns. Alternatively the introduction of the legislation may have resulted in sustained or even increased smoking rates, in at-risk populations with already high smoking prevalence, due to the creation of and strengthening of social support networks (social and community networks) among smokers, and the demand for acceptable smoking areas being met by publicans.

Risk perception

The introduction of the ban and the health campaigns surrounding its introduction may have resulted in a change in health literacy related to smoking and thereby possibly influencing smoking behaviour. This thesis specifically investigates smoking risk perception. Although the Dahlgren and Whitehead framework does not make any reference to risk perception or risk knowledge, knowledge can be linked with the determinant 'education' and 'health literacy'. Health literacy is seen as the wide range of 'skills, and competencies that people develop over their lifetime to seek out, comprehend, evaluate, and use health information and concepts to make informed choices, reduce health risks, and increase quality of life' [130]. Research has now shown that level of education is the best predictor of better knowledge about the risks of smoking [126, 131] and that better knowledge is associated with a lower likelihood of smoking initiation [132] and a higher rate of cessation [133].

The mass media campaigns related to the ban which referenced the health risks associated with SHS exposure may have had an effect on self-efficacy and thus 'strengthening individuals' or smokers to quit or reduce consumption. It is however possible, that the medium used to convey these messages may not have targeted those with the highest smoking prevalence or those with the highest SHS exposure (mostly people with a lower SES).

Knowledge may also be acquired and norms relating to smoking practices formed within social and community networks such as within family, friends and work colleagues. Stigmatisation may occur when negative social norms are expressed by intimates (family and friends) about smoking in public places or workplaces. Conversely, perhaps social norms within a community or work environment through group dynamic, may encourage smoking initiation (new cool thing to do) or discourage cessation.

Stigmatisation

The Dahlgren and Whitehead model does not refer explicitly to stigmatisation. However stigmatisation may be conceptualised in two ways; firstly, within the social and community networks and secondly, within living and working conditions (smoking areas). Firstly, like knowledge, group norms may determine if stigmatisation will occur and at what levels it occurs. Family [68, 91-92, 134], friend [91] and work colleagues [135] may play a role in determining the acceptability, appropriateness or normalisation of smoking and smoking practices. Secondly, stigmatisation of smoking can also be considered to be working outside of a person's familiar environments (home, school and work etc) and can be experienced in public spaces [93] including bars and restaurant. Smoking areas in pubs and restaurants could

determine to what extent smokers feel stigma; if the smoking area is good (seating, heating, music, alcohol for sale) then maybe the smoker feels less stigma, than if in a minimalist smoking areas (basic shelter) where smokers are physically separated from non-smokers and norms around smoking practices are determined by the 'public'.

Aim of PhD thesis

The aim of the thesis is to assess the influence of the smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking behaviour, risk perception and consequences of the legislation on de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smoker and their smoking.

I will assess the consequences of the smoke-free workplace legislation in 3 key areas; active smoking, 1) smoking prevalence and consumption, 2) risk perception of SHS exposure and 3) de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smoker and their smoking. I will apply a mixed methods approach from a population/public health perspective.

Firstly, I will examine the relationship between smoking behaviour, age, gender and occupational class of bar workers and the general population before and after the smoke-free legislation (papers 1 and 2). Bar workers, identified as a high risk occupational group, gained a lot of attention in relation to this tobacco control measure. Before the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation in Ireland, bar workers were suspected and subsequently were found to have had substantial exposure to SHS [35, 39] [136-137]. In addition to high SHS exposure, bar workers have been identified as an occupational group with a high smoking prevalence [136, 138-139]. The workplace ban was anticipated to have a positive impact on the health of bar workers, not only in the short term; respiratory health, lung function, but also in the long term; reduced prevalence and consumption. For comparison and to unveil the possible secular trends occurring in Ireland as a consequence of the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation, I will also assess changes in smoking behaviour among comparative occupational groups from the general population.

Secondly, I will investigate the relationship between a person's individual lifestyle factor (smoker vs. non-smoker), education (primary vs. third level) and differences in knowledge of risks associated with SHS exposure, since the introduction of the legislation (chapter 4). Intensive media coverage of the smoking ban and the health risks associated with SHS exposure may have impacted knowledge of risks associated with SHS exposure in the general population. However, this knowledge may not have been disseminated across all of society, because of entrenched value systems and social acceptability of smoking and SHS exposure among lower socioeconomic groups. Higher levels of SHS exposure [140].

Thirdly, I will explore the possible emergence of changes in social and cultural norms around smoking behaviour, particularly in the social setting of the pub, since Ireland became

smoke-free (chapter 5). The separation of smokers from non-smokers may have resulted in the intensification of the de-normalisation of smoking (individual lifestyle behaviour) and as a consequence led to intensified feelings of stigma among smokers. Non-smokers views on cultural change in the pub and evidence of stigma will also be assessed.

Chapter 2

Paper 1:

Prevalence of smoking among bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland smoke-free workplace legislation

Bernie J. Mullally, Birgit A. Greiner, Shane Allwright, Gillian Paul, Ivan J. Perry

Irish Journal of Medical Science, 2008.

177(4): p. 309-316.

Prevalence of smoking among bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland smokefree workplace legislation

Abstract

Background This study: establishes baseline prevalence of smoking and cigarette consumption among Cork bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland's (ROI) smokefree workplace legislation; compare gender- and age-specific smoking rates and estimate the adjusted odds of being a smoker for Cork bar workers relative to the general population.

Methods Cross-sectional random sample of bar workers in Cork city and cross-sectional random telephone survey of the general population were conducted prior to the smokefree legislation.

Results Self reported smoking prevalence among Cork bar workers (n=129) was 54% (58% using cotinine-validated measures), with particularly high rates in women (70%) and 18 to 28 year olds (72%). Within the ROI (n=1240) sub-sample rates were substantially lower at 28%. Bar workers were twice as likely to be smokers as the general population sub-sample (OR = 2.15).

Conclusions Cork bar workers constitute an occupational group with an extremely high smoking prevalence.

Key words: Smoking prevalence, legislation, bar workers, smoking ban, tobacco control

Introduction

For many years legislation in Ireland has prohibited smoking in most public places, providing protection for many workers. However much of the services industry, including pubs, was exempt. On the 29th March 2004 the Republic of Ireland (ROI) became the first European country to introduce nationwide smokefree workplace legislation for all workplaces including pubs and restaurants. Smoking is now prohibited in enclosed work places with few exceptions.

The Irish services industry, as in other countries, is low paid and largely non-unionised, a situation conducive to poor health behaviours. Bar workers can be considered a highly vulnerable group whose health would be expected to benefit greatly from a smokefree work environment for two reasons. Firstly, without smoking bans in place, bar workers are exposed to high levels of secondhand smoke at work.[141-142] After the introduction of the smokefree workplace legislation in Ireland, cotinine levels dropped in non-smoking bar workers indicating significant reductions in secondhand smoke exposure.[143-144]

Secondly, research suggests that bar workers constitute an occupational group with a high proportion of active smokers. Jones *et al.*,[145] found a 40% prevalence in hospitality workers in New Zealand, and Bang & Kim[146] reported a smoking rate of 44.5% among waiters and waitresses and 39% in those working in eating and drinking venues including pubs. Although the smokefree workplace legislation in Ireland was introduced as a measure to protect workers from secondhand smoke, the policy might also result in decreased smoking in the working population. Corroborating evidence for beneficial effects of workplace smoking restrictions on smoking prevalence and consumption rates has been reported by several authors.[77, 147-150] However non-representative samples and lack of comparison with occupation-specific general population smoking rates of the respective countries limit the interpretation and generalizability of these findings.

Little is known about smoking rates in hospitality workers in Ireland although anecdotal evidence suggested that the rate of smoking among Irish bar workers was high. In order to establish smoking prevalence estimates for this group we enrolled a random sample of Cork city bar workers comprising floor staff, bar managers and owners. The objectives were (1) to establish a baseline prevalence of smoking and cigarette consumption among Cork bar workers prior to the introduction of the smokefree workplace legislation; (2) to compare gender- and age-specific smoking rates in Cork bar workers with the equivalent occupational classes within the general population; and (3) to estimate the adjusted odds of being a smoker for Cork bar workers relative to the general population (sub-sample).

This study provides the first estimates of smoking prevalence and cigarette consumption in bar workers adjusted to enable comparisons with the general population.

Methods

We used two datasets for this study: 1) bar workers from Cork City, part of a larger study, the 'All-Ireland bar study' reported elsewhere[143]; 2) a subset from a general population (ROI) telephone survey conducted by TNS mrbi, a commercial research company.

Sample selection

Bar workers

A three step cluster sampling strategy was used (Fig 1). First, 300 streets were randomly selected from a list of all Cork city streets (obtained from Cork City Corporation), using the random number generator in SPSS 12.0.1 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Second, all pubs located on these 300 streets were selected resulting in 171 pubs representing 44 % of the approximately 385 pubs in Cork city. Third, we randomly selected up to two bar workers at the time of the visit. If only one/two worker(s) was/were present at the time of the visit, only one/two worker(s) was/were selected. If a randomly selected bar worker was unable or unwilling to

participate, a replacement bar worker was then randomly selected (if possible) from the same pub.

Participants were interviewed in the pub where they worked between January and March 2004 (before implementation of the smokefree workplace legislation). Only those actively involved in everyday tasks within the pub and who were over 18 years were eligible. We enrolled both smoking and non-smoking bar workers and all occupational positions i.e. owners, managers, full- and part-time bar staff. Follow-up post-ban surveys were completed one and two years later, but will not be detailed here.

General population sub-sample

General population data were obtained from an ongoing national monthly telephone survey of 1,000 randomly selected individuals (>15 years) during the same time period as the bar workers survey (January to March 2004). Participants were selected based on randomly generated phone numbers; targets were met in relation to gender, age, occupational class and region. For comparison purposes the general population sample was restricted to participants of similar age (\geq 18 years) and with occupations equivalent to bar workers. This sample is referred to as the general population sub-sample. We used un-weighted data as we compared estimates within age, gender and occupational class strata.

Measures

Bar workers

Survey administration and salivary cotinine sampling procedures were described in more detail elsewhere.[143]

Sociodemographics

Participants were asked about their gender, age, and occupational position as an indicator of occupational class. Occupational class was determined by involvement in the pub: owners and managers were categorised as 'manager' (occupational class C2), temporary and permanent staff as 'staff' (occupational class DE). The term 'bar worker' refers to the entire

sample. The occupational class classification was taken from the ROI Central Statistics Office (CSO)[151] classification which is based on the UK Standard Occupational Classification.[152]

Smoking status

Participants were asked about their current smoking status, average cigarette consumption per day and smoking history. Two different measures of smoking status were used for bar workers: 'self reported' smoking status and 'combined self report and cotinine' smoking status. Self reported smoking status (self reported current smoker versus current non-smoker) was used when comparing bar workers with the general population sub-sample.

Combined self report and cotinine smoking status was obtained by validating self reports by cotinine (where possible). Non-smokers were defined as those who self reported as current non-smokers and had cotinine concentration levels <20ng/ml (113.6nmol/l).[143] Smokers were defined as those who self reported as current smokers plus those who self reported to be non-smokers but with cotinine concentration levels of ≥ 20 ng/ml (113.6nmol/l). In cases where cotinine was not available due to insufficient samples or refusals, the self reported smoking status was used (28 cases). The self reported and cotinine combined measure was used to provide a more accurate estimate of the smoking prevalence in bar workers as it takes potential under-reporting of smoking into account.

General population sub-sample

Sociodemographics and smoking status

Participants were asked about their gender, age group, self reported smoking status ('do you smoke >1 cigarette per week'), self reported cigarette smoking consumption and occupation. Occupation classes equivalent to the bar managers and owners (occupational class C2) and bar staff (occupational class DE) were selected.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS 12.0.1 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Pearson's chi square or Fisher's exact test was used to examine gender, age and occupational class patterns in prevalence. The Mann-Whitney U test and the Kruskall Wallis H test were used to test for differences in consumption by sociodemographic characteristics. Logistic regression models were built for both samples with smoking status as outcome, adjusting for gender, age and occupational class.

Results

Study participation

Study participation is shown in Figure 1. A final pub participation rate of 69.5% (98/141) with 129 bar workers enrolled in the study. A replacement bar worker was required in 9% of cases.

Of the 2460 individuals enrolled in the national telephone survey over the three months, there were 1240 participants ≥ 18 years with occupational class equivalent to the bar workers.

Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the participating bar workers and the general population sub-sample. Among participating bar workers 69% were male, mean age 33 years; 56% were temporary or permanent staff (equivalent to occupational class DE) and the remaining 44% were either owners or managers (equivalent to occupational class C2). In comparison to the general population sub-sample, bar workers were more likely to be male and younger (88% under 49 years of age compared to 52%).

Bar worker smoking prevalence: combined self report and cotinine

Table II shows the prevalence of smoking among Cork bar workers by gender, age and occupational class. The overall prevalence of smoking (combined self report and cotinine) in bar workers was 58.1% (95% CI 49.5-66.6); 70% of female bar workers were smokers compared to 53% of male bar workers (p=0.067). Smoking prevalence was 72.3% in the 18 to 28 year olds but decreased significantly with age. Staff had a significantly higher smoking prevalence (68%) than managers (46%) (p=0.01).

Bar worker prevalence (self reported) in comparison to the general population sub-sample

We compared the prevalence for bar workers with the corresponding rates in the general population sub-sample (Table II). As cotinine-validated data were not available for the general population, we used the self reported smoking status for the bar workers which vary slightly from the partially cotinine-validated estimates. The overall prevalence of smoking in the general population sub-sample was 28.3% compared to 54.3% in bar workers. As the age and gender distributions differ, we compared gender- and age-specific rates. Higher prevalence rates in bar workers were observed for both genders and both occupational classes. Among bar workers, women (65%) were more likely to be smokers than men (49%) (p=0.07), whereas almost equal proportions of men and women (29.1% vs 27.5%) in the general population sub-sample were smokers. The gender difference was particularly striking

in bar workers classified as managers: 37.5% of male managers smoked compared to 66.7% of female managers. This pattern in managers was not observed in the general population sub-sample. Bar workers also had substantially higher rates within the younger age groups, especially the 18 to 28 year olds. Comparison of the older age groups was limited due to the small numbers of bar workers.

Bar worker cigarette consumption in comparison with the general population sub-sample

The mean number of cigarettes consumed (self reported) by bar workers was 16.7 (SD=11.5) per day, similar to the 16.9 (SD=9.8) per day consumed by the general population sub-sample (Table III). In the general population sub-sample, men consumed more cigarettes than women (19 versus 15 cigarettes per day, p=0.018); this gender difference was not observed in bar workers (p=0.8). Consumption varied by age among bar workers (p=0.099) with the highest consumption rates in the 29 to 48 year age category. Average consumption for 29 to 48 year old bar workers was much higher than in the corresponding age groups of the general population but the confidence intervals of the estimates in bar workers were very wide. Among bar workers, comparison of average consumption between male and female staff and managers was constrained by the small numbers within these sub-categories.

Adjusted smoking prevalence

In order to control for the differences in age, gender and occupation distribution between the bar worker sample and the general population sub-sample, three logistic regression models were built, one for bar workers, one for the general population sub-sample and a final model comparing bar workers with the general population sub-sample taking age, gender and occupational class into account (Table IV). Due to small numbers in the older age groups, the age categories '49 – 58 yrs' and '59 – 78 yrs' were combined.

Bar workers were more than twice as likely to be smokers as the general population subsample (adjusted OR=2.15, 95% confidence limits 1.45 to 3.17, p<0.01). In all three models age was an independent predictor of smoking with generally decreasing prevalence by age. Neither gender nor occupational class were found to be independent predictors of smoking status in any of the models.

Discussion

Main findings

Smoking prevalence among Cork bar workers is extremely high at 58%, higher than in other similar studies. [145-146] Due to the random sampling methods employed, the high response rate and the use of validated smoking status, this study provides to our knowledge the best estimate available of smoking prevalence in this occupational group. A higher prevalence rate (83.3%) was found in male Asian American restaurant workers in Boston.[153] However Averbach's estimates were based on a convenience sample and are not generalisable to a larger population.

The social and cultural environment in Ireland may influence bar workers' smoking behaviour. A strong tradition of alcohol consumption and its association with smoking within the pub culture in Ireland meant that bar workers were continuously surrounded by smoke and alcohol with possible 'normalisation' of smoking. This may partially explain the magnitude of this group's smoking prevalence. Another explanation may be that smokers, especially young smokers, are attracted to the pub trade. In our sample, the mean age bar workers started smoking was 17.7 years of age with female bar workers starting at a slightly younger age (17.3 years) than males (18.0 years). Evidence on whether individuals were already smokers before they started working in the hospitality industry or whether they became smokers after they started working is best obtained by longitudinal studies.

Furthermore bar workers cannot be considered a homogeneous group; they comprised bar owners, managers, and temporary and permanent staff with different socio-economic positions. As higher smoking rates are commonly observed within lower occupational and social classes, we conducted class specific analyses. As expected, bar staff had a significantly higher prevalence of smoking than bar managers.

Bar workers had more than double the odds of being a smoker than individuals in the general population sub-sample. This result highlights the magnitude of smoking as an issue in this unique population. Interestingly, age remained an independent significant predictor of smoking in both samples.

The present study has established a baseline prevalence among bar workers which can be contrasted with post-ban prevalence thereby clarifying the differential effects of workplace health protection measures on smoking behaviour.

Limitations of this study

Because of the random sampling strategy and the low refusal rate our results can be seen as representative of bar workers in a city area. Cork city is a small urban area comprising 123,000 citizens. It is possible that smoking behaviour among bar workers is different in rural areas; however we are confident that our sample also included people from rural backgrounds [private addresses were available for seventy five participants (58%); sixty (80%) identified that they were currently living in Cork city and fifteen (20%) identified that they were currently living outside the city]. We have no reason to expect significant differences in smoking patterns for bar workers within the RoI generally.

With regard to the telephone survey assessment of population smoking rates, there is likely to be under-sampling of some population groups such as foreign workers and students, who are less likely to have land lines. Smoking rates in such groups may differ from the general population. Other ROI general population surveys such as SLÁN[154-155] do exist but were either unavailable for our analysis or may be seen as out of date; we therefore consider our dataset to be the best estimate of smoking available for the general population.

Differences in methodology between the general population and bar worker samples limited comparisons. Bar workers were interviewed in a face to face interview while the general population were interviewed over the telephone, this may have introduced a bias into the general population data as some evidence suggests that interviewee are more likely to give socially desirable answers during a telephone interview [156]. This difference may have inflated the odds ratio comparing the prevalence of bar workers with the prevalence of the general population. Coupled with the likely under-sampling of foreign workers and students, this general population sample may underestimate the true smoking prevalence in Ireland. Classification of occupational class may not be completely comparable between the two samples but this should not affect the overall findings. And finally, different questions were used to assess self reported smoking status; the general population sub-sample were asked 'Do you smoke more than 1 cigarette per week?' while bar workers were asked whether they were current, occasional, ex or never smokers. Very light smoker may have underestimated their smoking in the bar worker sample, however the availability of cotinine concentrations for most of the bar workers allowed us to identify non-reporting smokers. The fact that only five individuals were so re-categorised showed that bar workers' self reporting was reasonably accurate.

As cotinine concentrations were not available for 28 individuals, we were not able to validate all self reports. We cannot fully exclude systematic bias, i.e. that particularly smokers refused to provide a saliva sample. However as only 14 (50%) of those without cotinine samples were due to refusal [5 of whom were self reported smokers], and the rest of missing cotinine samples was caused by insufficient or contaminated samples [10 of whom were self reported smokers]. In addition missing cotinine values were fairly evenly distributed among smokers and non-smokers: 15 reported being smokers, 5 reported being ex-smokers and 7 reported being never smokers. Re-analysis including only those individuals who had cotinine data (n=101) showed rates that were generally very similar to those reported in Table II: a smoking rate (cotinine-validated) of 59.4% and a very similar distribution of smokers between the genders (53% in males, 73% in females) and both occupational classes (managers 48%, staff 69%), but a slightly higher rate in the youngest age group of the 18 to 28 year okls (77%).

Establishing baseline prevalence among this vulnerable occupational group will facilitate post-ban examinations of the impact of the smoking ban, a legal measure that is currently considered in several countries. The effect of the Irish smoking ban on passive smoking are well documented such as the reduction in exposure to second-hand smoke in non-smoking bar workers [143], exposure to particulate matter and benzene[34] and subsequent improvements in respiratory symptoms and respiratory health[34, 143]. However as the health consequences of active smoking are more pronounced than those of passive smoking, the impact of the ban on active smoking behaviour in addition to existing evidence of positive effects on passive smoke levels may constitute important scientific evidence for future policy planning.

Acknowledgements

We thank Sangeetha N Kalimuthu and Meenakshi Uppel, for help with interviewing; Ann Kelly for help with data entry, Dr. Tony Fitzgerald for statistics advice. We especially thank the bar workers who participated in this study.

Conflicts of interest

SA is a member of the Board of the Irish Office of Tobacco Control (unpaid position).

IJP is the unpaid chair of the Irish Research Institute for a Tobacco Free Society.

Key Points

- Prevalence of smoking in Irish bar workers is twice that of a comparable sub-sample of the general population.
- Bar workers are an occupational group with an extremely high smoking prevalence. Coupled with the exposure to high levels of secondhand smoke before the smokefree workplace legislation this "double exposure" makes them a high risk group for smoking-related illnesses.

References

- 1. Jarvis M, Foulds J, Feyerabend C. Exposure to passive smoking among bar staff. Br J Addic 1992;87(1):111-3.
- 2. Bates M, Fawcett J, Dickson S, Berezowski R, Garrett N. Exposure of hospitality workers to environmental tobacco smoke. *Tob Control* 2002;11(2):125-129.
- 3. Allwright S, Paul G, Greiner B, et al. Legislation for smoke-free workplaces and health of bar workers in Ireland: before and after study10.1136/bmj.38636.499225.55. *Br Med J* 2005;331(7525):1117-.
- 4. Mulcahy M, Evans DS, Hammond SK, Repace JL, Byrne M. Secondhand smoke exposure and risk following the Irish smoking ban: an assessment of salivary cotinine concentrations in hotel workers and air nicotine levels in bars 10.1136/tc.2005.011635. *Tob Control* 2005;14(6):384-388.
- 5. Jones S, Love C, Thomson G, Green R, Howden-Chapman P. Second-hand smoke at work: the exposure, perceptions and attitudes of bar and restaurant workers to environmental tobacco smoke. *Aust N Z J Public Health* 2001;25(1):90–3.
- 6. Bang K, Kim J. Prevalence of cigarette smoking by occupation and industry in the United States. *Am J Ind Med* 2001;40(3):233-239.
- 7. Chapman S, Borland R, Scollo M, Brownson R, Dominello A, Woodward S. The impact of smoke-free workplaces on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the United States. *Am J Public Health* 1999;89(7):1018-1023.
- Woodruff TJ, Rosbrook B, Pierce J, Glantz SA. Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California 10.1001/archinte.153.12.1485. Arch Intern Med 1993;153(12):1485-1493.
- 9. Brenner H FB. Smoking Regulations at the Workplace and Smoking Behavior: A Study from Southern Germany. *Prev Med* 1994;23:230-234.
- 10. Longo DR, Johnson JC, Kruse RL, Brownson RC, Hewett JE. A prospective investigation of the impact of smoking bans on tobacco cessation and relapse 10.1136/tc.10.3.267. *Tob Control* 2001;10(3):267-272.
- 11. Fichtenberg C, Glantz S. Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review. *Br Med J* 2002;325(7357):188.
- 12. Office CS. <u>www.cso.ie</u>.
- 13. Standard Occupational Classification. Second ed. London, 1995.
- 14. Averbach AR LD, Lam LJ, Sharfstein J, Cohen B, Koh H Smoking behaviours and attitudes among male restaurant workers in Boston's Chinatown: a pilot study. *Tob Control* 2002;11 34-37.

- 15. SLÁN. The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys Centre for Health Promotion Studies, Galway: National University of Ireland. Galway: Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland., 1999.
- 16. SLÁN. The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys Galway: Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland., 2003.
- 17. Holbrook AL, Green MC, JA K. Telephone versus Face-to-Face Interviewing of National Probability Samples with Long Questionnaires: Comparisons of Respondent Satisficing and Social Desirability Response Bias. *POQ* 2003;67:79-125.
- Goodman P, Agnew M, McCaffrey M, Paul G, L C. Effects of the Irish Smoking Ban on Respiratory Health of Bar Workers and Air Quality in Dublin Pubs. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;175:840-845.

Figure 1: Sampling and participation of Cork city bars and bar workers



*Best estimate of number of pubs in Cork city in early 2004

	Bar workers	General population
		sub-sample
	N=129	N=1240
	n (%)	n (%)
Gender Male	89 (69.0)	619 (49.9)
Mean age in years (SD)		
Total	32.7 (12.1)	n/a
Males	33.0 (11.6)	n/a
Females	32.2 (13.3)	n/a
Age Group		
18-28 years	65 (50.4)	184 (14.8)
29-38 years	30 (23.3)	215 (17.3)
39-48 years	19 (14.7)	243 (19.6)
49-58 years	9 (7.0)	214 (17.3)
>59 years	6 (4.7)	384 (31.0)
Occupational Class 'Manager'*	57 (44.2)	563 (45.4)
Males	48 (84.2)	313 (55.6)
Females	9 (15.8)	250 (44.4)
'Staff'†	72 (55.8)	677 (54.6)
Males	41 (56.9)	306 (45.2)
Females	31 (43.1)	371 (54.8)

Table I: Characteristics of Cork bar workers (n=129) and of Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample (n=1240). Figures are n (%) unless otherwise specified.

* Bar owner or bar manager (bar workers) / occupational class C2 (general population subsample)

+ Permanent or temporary bar workers (bar workers) / occupational class DE (general population sub-sample)

		Bar workers				General population sub sample		
	n	% smokers	(95% CI)	% smokers	(95% CI)	n	% smokers	(95% CI)
		(self report &		(self report)			(self report)	
		cotinine)						
Total	129	58.1	(49.6 - 66.6)	54.3	(45.7 - 62.9)	1240	28.3	(25.8 - 30.8)
Gender								
Male	89	52.8	(42.4 - 63.2)	49.5	(39.1 - 59.9)	619	29.1	(25.5 - 32.7)
Female	40	70	(55.8 - 84.2)	65	(50.2 - 79.8)	621	27.5	(24.0 - 31.0)
Age groups (yrs)								
18-28	65	72.3	(61.4 - 83.2)	67.7	(56.3 - 79.1)	184	36.4	(29.4-43.4)
29-38	30	56.7	(39.0 - 74.4)	53.3	(35.4 - 71.2)	215	39.5	(33.0 - 46.0)
39-48	19	36.8	(15.1 – 58.5)	36.8	(15.1 - 58.5)	243	30	(24.2 - 35.8)
49-58	9	33.3	(2.5 - 64.1)	33.3	(2.5 - 64.1)	214	30.8	(24.6 - 37.0)
>58	6	16.7	(-13.1 – 46.5)	0	0	384	16	(12.3 - 19.7)
Occupational class								
Manager	57	45.6	(32.7 – 58.5)	42.1	(29.3 - 54.9)	563	30.6	(26.8 - 34.4)
Male	48	41.7	(27.8 - 55.6)	37.5	(23.8 - 51.2)	313	31.3	(26.2 - 36.4)
Female	9	66.7	(35.9 – 97.5)	66.7	(35.9 - 97.5)	250	29.6	(23.9 - 35.3)
Staff	72	68.1	(57.3 – 78.9)	63.9	(52.8 - 75.0)	677	26.4	(23.1 - 29.7)
Male	41	66	(51.5 - 80.5)	63.4	(48.7 - 78.1)	306	26.8	(21.8 - 31.8)
Female	31	71	(55.0 - 87.0)	64.5	(47.7 – 81.3)	371	26.1	(21.7 - 30.7)

 Table II: Smoking status in Cork bar workers (self-report & cotinine combined and self report) and in the Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample (self report) by sociode mographic characteristics

		Bar workers (self reported smokers)		General population sub sample (smokers)			
	n	Mean no. of cigarettes	(95% CI)	n	Mean no. of cigarettes	(95% CI)	
		consumed per day			consumed per day		
Total	70	16.7 (SD=11.5)	(13.9 - 19.4)	342*	16.9 (SD=9.8)	(15.9 – 18.0)	
Gender							
Male	44	16.9	(13.4 - 20.4)	175	18.5	(16.8 - 20.2)	
Female	26	16.4	(11.7 - 21.0)	167	15.3	(14.2 - 16.5)	
Age groups (yrs	5)						
18-28	44	13.4	(11.3 - 15.6)	65	14.7	(10.9 - 17.6)	
29-38	16	23.2	(15.7 - 30.7)	83	16.5	(10.5 - 20.2)	
39-48	7	23.4	(6.4 - 40.5) 72 18.0		(14.9 - 18.1)		
49-58	3	13.7	(23.2 - 50.5) 64 19.4		19.4	(15.9 - 20.1)	
>58	0	Not applicable		58	16.1	(15.8 - 19.8)	
Occupational cl	ass						
Manager	24	15.6	(10.7 - 20.5)	169	16.2	(15.0 - 17.5)	
Male	18	13.6	(9.9 - 17.2)	96	17.5	(15.7 - 19.4)	
Female	6	21.8	(1.6 - 42.0)	73	14.6	(12.9 - 16.2)	
Staff	46	17.2	(13.8 - 20.6)	173	17.6	(16 - 19.3)	
Male	26	19.2	(13.8 - 24.5)	79	19.6	(16.6 - 22.7)	
Female	20	14.7	(10.9 - 18.5)	94	15.9	(14.3 - 17.5)	

 Table III: Self-reported cigarette consumption in Cork bar workers and in the Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample by sociodemographic characteristics

*9 missing values for cigarette consumption among the general population sub-sample

Variable		Adjusted	95% CI	<i>p</i> value
		odds ratio		
Bar workers (n=129)*				
Manager vs. staff		0.61	0.27 – 1.39	0.24
Female vs. male		1.57	0.67 - 3.70	0.30
Age groups (reference 18 – 28 yrs)				0.02
	29 - 38 yrs	0.67	0.26 - 1.71	0.40
	39 – 48 yrs	0.31	0.10 - 0.91	0.03
	> 48 yrs	0.15	0.04 -0.61	0.01
General population sub sample (n=1240))*			
Manager vs. staff		1.00	0.76 – 1.30	0.97
Female vs. male		0.92	0.72 - 1.18	0.52
Age groups (reference 18 – 28 yrs)				< 0.001
	29 - 38 yrs	1.15	0.77 – 1.73	0.51
	39 – 48 yrs	0.75	0.50 - 1.13	0.17
	> 48 yrs	0.47	0.32 - 0.67	< 0.001
Bar workers and general population sub	sample (n=136	9) †		
Bar worker versus general population		2.15	1.45 - 3.17	< 0.001
Manager vs. staff		0.91	0.71 – 1.16	0.44
Female vs. male		0.98	0.77 - 1.24	0.85
Age groups (reference 18 – 28 yrs)				< 0.001
	29 - 38 yrs	0.98	0.68 - 1.41	0.92
	39 – 48 yrs	0.64	0.44 - 0.93	0.02
	> 48 yrs	0.39	0.28 - 0.55	< 0.001

Table IV: Logistic regression models to identify the adjusted odds of being a smoker (self-reported) for Cork bar workers, for the Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample, and for bar workers and general population sub-sample combined.

* Odds ratio adjusted for occupational class, gender and age group.

[†] Odds ratio adjusted for bar worker versus general population sub-sample, occupational class, gender and age group.

Chapter 3

Paper 2:

The effect of the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking among bar workers

Bernie J. Mullally, Birgit A. Greiner, Shane Allwright, Gillian Paul, Ivan J. Perry

European Journal of Public Health, Vol. 19, No. 2, 206-211

Abstract

Background

On March 29th 2004, the Republic of Ireland (ROI) became the first EU country to introduce a nationwide ban on workplace smoking. While the focus of this measure was to protect worker health by reducing exposure to secondhand smoke, other effects such as a greater reduction in smoking prevalence and consumption were likely among bar workers.

Methods

A random sample of bar workers from Cork city were surveyed before (n=129) and after (n=107; 82.9% follow-up rate) implementation of the smoke-free legislation. Self report and combined self report and cotinine concentration were used to determine smoking status. For comparison a cross-sectional random telephone survey of the general population (ROI) was conducted before and one year after the smoke-free legislation. There were 1240 pre- and 1221 participants post-ban in the equivalent age and occupational sub-set of the general population.

Results

There was a non-significant decline in smoking prevalence among bar workers one year postban (self report: -2.8% from 51.4% to 48.6%, p=0.51; combined self report and cotinine: -4.7% from 56.1% to 51.4%, p=0.13), but a significant decline in consumption of four cigarettes (95%CI 2.21 to 6.36) per day. Within the occupationally equivalent general population sub-sample there was a near significant drop (3.5%, p=0.06) in smoking prevalence but no significant change in consumption.

Conclusions

Ireland's smoke-free workplace legislation was accompanied by a drop in prevalence in both bar workers and the general population sub-sample.

Key words Smoking prevalence, cigarette consumption, smoke-free legislation, bar workers, tobacco control, All Ireland Bar Study

61

Introduction

On March 29th 2004, the Republic of Ireland introduced the first nationwide ban on workplace smoking including bars and restaurants in the EU. The focus of this measure was to protect worker health by reducing exposure to second hand smoke (SHS). It was expected that other benefits would emerge from the introduction of the ban. With fewer opportunities to smoke, possible changing of social norms [157] and extensive health campaigns on the harmful effects of active smoking and SHS coinciding with the ban, [158-161] a reduction in both smoking prevalence and consumption was likely.

Bar workers, identified as a high risk occupational group, gained a lot of attention in relation to this tobacco control measure. Firstly before the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation in Ireland, bar workers were suspected and subsequently were found to have had substantial exposure to SHS. [137, 162-163] Secondly bar workers have been identified as an occupational group with high smoking prevalence. [138-139, 164] The impact of the smokefree legislation on smoking prevalence and consumption was expected to be greater on bar workers than on the general population as the law would have an immediate influence on bar workers' occupational setting as well a societal change.

Workplace and general population studies have indicated that smoking policies and restrictions are associated with a reduction in the number of cigarettes smoked by continuing smokers and an increase in quitting rates [1, 3, 78-79, 157, 165-168] although Eisner, Smith & Blanc [2] found no change. It remains to be confirmed if these changes are maintained over longer study periods. Few studies have examined changes in smoking behaviour after a national smokefree workplace legislation among affected workers in general, [1] or hospitality industry workers in particular. [2-3] All were based on self-reported smoking status and did not take secular trends into account, for example by comparing changes with

changes in the general population. None specifically looked at a representative group of bar workers before and after comprehensive smoke-free legislation.

This study assesses changes in smoking prevalence and cigarette consumption among a random sample of bar workers before and one year after the introduction of the workplace legislation. We used the general population as a comparison group and compared changes in prevalence and consumption in corresponding occupational, age and gender strata of the general population during the same period. We hypothesized 1) significant drops in prevalence and cigarette consumption in bar workers, and 2) that these changes would be greater in bar workers than in the general population due to the nature of bar work and the fact that, unlike for other occupations, no occupational smoke-free policies existed for bar workers prior to the legislative ban.

Methods

We used two separate datasets: 1) a follow-up sample of bar workers from Cork City, part of a larger study, the 'All-Ireland bar study' reported elsewhere [162]; 2) repeated crosssectional samples from a general population (ROI) telephone survey conducted by TNS mrbi, a commercial research company.

Sample selection

Bar workers

A three step cluster sampling strategy was used and is outlined in detail elsewhere. [164] Participants were interviewed between January and March 2004 (before implementation of the smoke-free workplace legislation) and again during January to March 2005 (one year after implementation). We enrolled both smoking and non-smoking bar workers and all occupational positions i.e. owners, managers, full-time and part-time bar staff. Included in our follow-up were those no longer working as bar workers (separate analyses were completed with and without those no longer in bar work).

General population sub-sample

General population data were obtained from an ongoing monthly telephone survey conducted by TNS mrbi of 1,000 randomly selected individuals (15+ years) during the same time period as the bar workers survey (January - March 2004 and January - March 2005). Participants were selected based on randomly generated phone numbers; targets were met in relation to sex, age, occupational class and region. For comparison we restricted the sample to participants of similar age (18 to 78 years) and occupational class, referred to as the general population sub-sample. Cross-sectional samples of 1240 and 1221 individuals were generated pre-ban and one year post-ban respectively from the general population sub-group. Unweighted data were used to compare estimates within age, sex and occupational class strata.

Measures

Bar workers

Survey administration including salivary cotinine sampling procedures and respiratory health symptom questions have been described in more detail elsewhere [162].

Sociodemographics

Questions on sex, age, and occupational position were asked. Occupational class was determined by involvement in the pub: owners and managers were categorised as 'manager' (occupational class C2), temporary and permanent staff as 'staff' (occupational class DE). The term 'bar worker' refers to the entire sample. The occupational class classification was taken from the Irish Central Statistics Office (CSO) classification which is based on the UK Standard Occupational Classification.

64

Smoking status

Questions regarding participants' current smoking status, average number of cigarettes consumed per day, smoking history, and perceived influence of the ban on smoking behaviour were asked. Two different measures of smoking status were used for bar workers: 'self reported' and 'combined self report and cotinine' smoking status. Self reported smoking status (current smoker versus current non-smoker) was used in comparisons with the general population as only self-reports were available for the general population. The combined self report and cotinine measure, as the more accurate measure of smoking status, was used for examining the changes in smoking status of bar workers. In cases where cotinine was not available due to refusals, insufficient or contaminated samples the self reported smoking status was used. In cases where disagreements occurred between the self reported smoking status and the cotinine measure, cotinine was then used as the overriding measure of smoking status. Pre-ban 28 cotinine values were unavailable, 14 (50%) due to refusal, the remaining due to insufficient or contaminated samples. No sex, age or occupational differences were evident among those individuals without cotinine samples. Post-ban 43 cotinine values were unavailable, 23 (54%) due to refusals, the remaining 20 were due to insufficient or contaminated samples.

General population sub-sample

Sociodemographics and smoking status

Participants were asked about their sex, age group, occupational class, self reported smoking status ('Do you smoke >1 cigarette per week?'), self reported daily cigarette consumption and occupation. To make comparisons with the bar workers sample, occupational classes equivalent to the bar managers and owners (occupational class C2) and bar staff (occupational class DE) were selected.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS 12.0.1 (SPSS, Chicago, IL).

Bar workers

McNemar chi squared tests were used to examine prevalence changes within each sex, age group and occupational class between pre- and post-ban. Paired sample t-tests were used to test changes in consumption. In the case of a statistically significant result for the entire sample, three separate two-factorial analysis of variance models with repeated measures were built using the General Linear Model function (GLM) in SPSS, testing for statistical interaction of subgroups and the introduction of the ban. Models included pre- versus postban as within-subject variable and sex, age group, and occupational class as between-subject factors, respectively.

General population sub-sample

Pearson's chi square or Fisher's exact test was used to examine differences in prevalence within each sex, age and occupational class. Independent sample t-test was used to test for differences in consumption.

Results

Bar worker study participation

Pub participation rate was 69.5% (98/141). Altogether 129 bar workers were enrolled in the study; 67 pubs had one and 31 pubs had two participants interviewed. A replacement bar worker was required in 9% of cases. One year after the ban 107 of the 129 bar workers participated again (82.9%). Of these 107 participants, 16 were no longer in bar work; therefore 91 active bar workers participated in the post-ban survey (follow-up rate of 70.5%).

The analysis of the follow-up group includes the 16 no longer in bar work unless otherwise stated.

Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics at baseline of the 107 bar workers who participated at follow-up. Seventy-one percent of these bar workers were male, with mean age 33 years; 58% were temporary or permanent 'staff' (equivalent to occupational class DE) and 51% were smokers. They were not significantly different in terms of sex, age, occupational class and smoking status from the 22 bar workers who were lost to follow-up, although there was a slight tendency for drop-outs to be younger, manager and current smoker. Three participants were re-classified as smokers using cotinine validation.

In comparison to the general population sub-sample, bar workers at baseline were more likely to be male and younger (88% under 49 years of age compared to 52% of the general population sub-sample).

Changes in smoking prevalence and consumption rates among bar workers

Table II shows changes in self report and 'combined self report and cotinine' smoking prevalence among Cork bar workers by sex, age and occupational class. Self-reported prevalence of smoking in bar workers was 51.4% (95% CI; 41.9% to 60.9%) pre-ban with a non-significant drop of 2.8% post-ban to 48.6% (95% CI: 39.1% to 58.1%). A larger but still non-significant drop (4.7%) was seen using the 'combined self report and cotinine' measure of smoking status. The drop was more pronounced in men, in staff, and in the younger age groups (18 – 38 years). Female bar workers (67.7% to 64.5%), those in the 18 to 28 year range (72% to 66%) and staff (66.1% to 59.7%) continued to have high smoking rates postban.

The mean number of cigarettes consumed per day (self reported) among smoking bar workers was 18.1 (SD=11.8) pre-ban, dropping significantly by four cigarettes per day (p<0.001) to

13.9 (SD=8.6) post-ban (Table II). The drop was similar among males and females and among staff and managers and was most pronounced in the 29-38 year old age group (9.0 cigarettes). In order to test whether the drop in consumption affected particular groups more than other groups, we tested for statistical interaction of pre- versus post-ban measurement and sex, age group and occupational class in three separate analysis of variance models with repeated measures; none of the interaction terms were statistically significant.

Within the follow-up sample of bar workers 16 participants were no longer working in a pub at the time of the second interview. Fourteen of those 16 participants were smokers (combined self report and cotinine). We conducted analysis separately for those no longer working in bars resulting in similar results for prevalence (2 participants quit, p=0.5) and consumption (mean drop of 9.25, p=0.001 among 12 smokers).

Changes in smoking prevalence and consumption rates in the general population subsample

Prevalence of self-reported smoking in this general population sub-sample was 28.3% preban with a near significant drop of 3.5% one year post-ban to 24.8% (p=0.06) (Table III). Significant declines were seen among males (29.1% to 23.1%; p= 0.02); 18-28 year olds (36.4% to 26.6%; p=0.05) and the managerial occupational class C2 (30.6% to 25.0%; p=0.04).

Smoking consumption dropped within this general population sub-sample from 16.9 per day to 16.0 per day post-ban (p=0.19) (Table IV), with no significant changes by sex or age. However the drop in consumption among the DE category (equivalent to bar staff) from 17.6 cigarettes per day to 15.8 post-ban approached significance (p=0.08).

Discussion

The Irish national smoke-free workplace legislation was associated with a reduction in cigarette consumption among an 'at risk' occupational group with a very high smoking prevalence. The decline was most notable among the 18-28 year old age group. A drop in consumption was anticipated as several studies have suggested that policies and restrictions on smoking result in lower consumption among smokers. The drop in consumption of four cigarettes per day found in our study was slightly higher than the 3.1 cigarettes per day drop (95% CI 2.4 – 3.8) reported by a systematic review of the impact of smoking policies or restrictions. [166] As this review included studies conducted among various occupations, the smaller decrease in cigarette consumption is not surprising. In Ireland, bar workers were one of the few occupational groups that were allowed to smoke without any restrictions while working in an environment where smoking constituted part of their occupational culture. The decline in cigarette consumption was mirrored by the bar workers' perceptions: when the smokers were asked how they feel the smoking ban will influence / has influenced the amount smoked, 53% anticipated that they would at least reduce the amount they smoked and 67% reported that they actually reduced their consumption post-ban.

Although we found a considerable reduction in smoking prevalence among bar workers, we were not able to rule out the role of chance due to the relatively small numbers of smoking bar workers for whom data were available for pre- and post-ban analysis. Fichtenberg and Glantz [166] review of workplace-specific smokefree policies on smoking prevalence estimated that these policies were associated with a decrease in smoking prevalence of 3.8% (95% CI 2.8 %-4.7%).

This estimate was remarkably similar to the observed drop of 3.5% in our general population sub-sample and similar to the observed prevalence changes in bar workers.

Consistent with our expectations bar workers showed a much stronger decrease in cigarette consumption than the general population sub-sample. This is true for all subgroups such as sex, age, and occupational class.

Contrary to our expectations, the prevalence drop among bar workers was not statistically significant and smaller (2.8%, 95%CI –1.1-1.6) than the drop within the general population sub-sample (3.5%; 95%CI 0.00– 7.00). The general population sub-sample had a larger sample size providing sufficient statistical power to show significant drops in prevalence among males, 18-28 year olds and managers.

Study limitations

While attempts were made to create a suitable comparison group for bar workers from within the general population sample by selecting a similar age and occupational sub-group, important differences still exist between the two groups. Bar workers are a unique occupational group with a very high smoking prevalence and were exposed to very high levels of workplace SHS before the implementation of the ban.

Differences in methodology may also have biased results. Bar workers were interviewed in a face to face interview while the general population were interviewed over the telephone. Evidence suggests that interviewees are more likely to give socially desirable answers during a telephone interview. [156] While this bias may have resulted in an underestimation of the smoking prevalence and consumption in the general population, it was not likely to systematically bias the estimates of the changes pre- to post ban.

This work forms part of a larger 'All Ireland Bar Study', which included bar workers from across Ireland. Bar workers from Cork were the only workers recruited randomly within the AIBS and as such we believe that Cork bar workers, even considering the small sample size

70

and large confidence intervals, can provide the most accurate measure of the absolute magnitude of prevalence changes for this occupational group.

Cork city is a small urban area comprising 123,000 citizens at the time of surveying. Due to the sampling strategy and low refusal rate, the results can be regarded as representative of bar workers in an urban area. It is possible that smoking behaviour among bar workers in rural areas may differ from those in urban areas; however the sample also included participants living outside the city (estimated at about 20%. [164] There is no reason to expect significant differences in smoking patterns among bar workers within the Republic of Ireland generally.

With regard to the telephone survey assessment of population smoking rates, there is possible under-sampling of population groups who are less likely to have telephone land lines. Smoking rates in such groups may be higher than in the general population. Other ROI general population surveys such as SLÁN (Survey of Lifestyle, Attitudes and Nutrition) do exist but were either unavailable for our analysis or out-dated (SLÁN)[154-155]; we therefore consider our dataset to be the best available estimate of general population smoking rates for that time period.

Without a formal control group we cannot rule out that the observed decline in prevalence and cigarette consumption was part of a secular trend in the entire Irish population independent of the smoke-free legislation. However, the emphasis of the present study was not to assess the impact of the smoking ban on smoking behaviour in the general population, but to assess the effect of the legislation on bar workers *in comparison* to the general population to elucidate whether this occupational group benefited more from the smoking ban than the general population.
As it is envisaged that the health impact of this legislation will only be truly evident in years to come, an additional follow-up with the same bar workers two years after the ban is being undertaken to help determine the long-term effects of smoke-free legislation on smoking behaviour.

In summary, our findings suggest that the Irish smoking ban was potentially successful in encouraging smokers to reduce the number of cigarette consumed within an occupational specific context but not necessarily within the same occupational classes in the general population. However as the general population sub-sample showed, in contrast to the barworkers, a significant decrease in prevalence in some groups we therefore conclude that the smoking ban affected the general population more in terms of giving up rather than just cutting down. It needs to be observed whether theses changes will be sustained over time as the potential effects of the smoking ban may 'wear off'. However a national smoking ban should be judged as only one approach to tobacco control. Multifaceted approaches to tobacco control including legislation, fiscal and educational components are considered most effective for reducing smoking prevalence [24,25].

Acknowledgements

We thank Sangeetha N Kalimuthu, Meenakshi Uppel, Katherine O'Mahony, Micheál Breen and Mairead McMahon for help with interviewing; Ann Kelly for help with data entry, Dr. Tony Fitzgerald for statistics advice. We especially thank the bar workers who participated in this study.

Contributors

All authors reviewed and approved the final version of this manuscript.

BJM participated in the research design, was involved in and coordinated all aspects of the Cork study, preparation of study materials and protocol, data collection, data entry/ editing, performed most of the analyses, and wrote all of the drafts of the paper. BAG conceptualized the research design, was involved in all aspects of the Cork study and protocol, interpretation of the data analysis, and in the preparation of drafts of this manuscript. SA conceptualized the study, devised the study materials and overall protocol, was involved in and coordinated all aspects of the study and data collection, participated in interpretation of the data and in the preparation of drafts of this manuscript. IJP participated in the research design, data cleaning, interpretation of the data, and in the preparation of drafts of this manuscript. IJP participated in the research design and commented on drafts of the manuscript.

Funding

Health Research Board of Ireland (Research project grant RP/2005/290) Principal Investigator Dr. Birgit Greiner, Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College Cork; Office of Tobacco Control through the Research Institute for a Tobacco Free Society (Republic of Ireland); the National Cancer Institute of the United States (R01 CA90955); Irish Cancer Society; Irish Heart Foundation.

All authors' work was independent of all funders.

This work was presented at the UK Society for Social Medicine Conference in Glasgow (September 2005) and at the 13th World Conference on Tobacco or health, Washington DC USA (June 2006).

Conflicts of interests

SA is a member of the Board of the Irish Office of Tobacco Control (unpaid position). IJP is the unpaid chair of the Irish Research Institute for a Tobacco Free Society.

Ethical approval

The clinical research ethics committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals.

73

Research ethics committee of the Faculty of Public Health Medicine, Royal College of Physicians of Ireland

Key points

- The reduction in cigarette consumption among bar workers and the decline in smoking prevalence among the equivalent groups in the general population provide some evidence that the Irish smoke-free workplace legislative was effective as a tobacco control measure.
- Multifaceted tobacco control efforts need to continue in Ireland to build on the positive implications of this legislation on smoking prevalence.

References

- 1. Levy, D.T. and K.B. Friend, *The effects of clean indoor air laws: what do we know and what do we need to know?* Health Educ. Res., 2003. **18**(5): p. 592-609.
- Friend, K. and D.T. Levy, *Reductions in smoking prevalence and cigarette consumption associated with mass-media campaigns*. 2002, Oxford Univ Press. p. 85-98.
- Pierce, J.P. and E.A. Gilpin, News media coverage of smoking and health is associated with changes in population rates of smoking cessation but not initiation.
 British Medical Journal, 2001. 10(2): p. 145.
- Li, M., Chapman S, Agho K, Eastman C, Can even minimal news coverage influence consumerhealth-related behaviour? A case study of iodized salt sales, Australia. HEALTH EDUCATION RESEARCH, 2007.
- Wakefield, M., et al., *Effects of Anti-Smoking Advertising on Youth Smoking: A Review*. Journal of Health Communication, 2003. 8(3): p. 229-247.
- 6. Allwright, S., et al., *Legislation for smoke-free workplaces and health of bar workers in Ireland: before and after study.* BMJ, 2005. **331**(7525): p. 1117-.
- 7. Mulcahy, M., et al., Secondhand smoke exposure and risk following the Irish smoking ban: an assessment of salivary cotinine concentrations in hotel workers and air nicotine levels in bars. British Medical Journal, 2005. 14(6): p. 384.
- Repace, J.L., J.N. Hyde, and D. Brugge, *Air pollution in Boston bars before and after a smoking ban*. BMC Public Health, 2006. 6(1): p. 266.
- Mullally BJ, Greiner BA, Allwright S, Paul G, Perry IJ., Prevalence of smoking among bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland smokefree workplace legislation. Irish Journal of Medical Sciences 2008; in press.

- Jones, S., et al., Second-hand smoke at work: the exposure, perceptions and attitudes of bar and restaurant workers to environmental tobacco smoke. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2001. 25(1): p. 90-3.
- Bang, K.M. and J.H. Kim, *Prevalence of cigarette smoking by occupation and industry in the United States*. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 2001. 40(3): p. 233-239.
- 12. Braverman, M.T., L.E. Aaro, and J. Hetland, *Changes in smoking among restaurant* and bar employees following Norway's comprehensive smoking ban. Health Promotion International, 2007.
- 13. Farrelly, M.C., W.N. Evans, and A.E.S. Sfekas, *The impact of workplace smoking bans: results from a national survey*. British Medical Journal, 1999. **8**(3): p. 272.
- 14. Gallus, S., et al., *Effects of new smoking regulations in Italy*. Ann Oncol, 2006. 17(2): p. 346-347.
- Heloma, A. and M.S. Jaakkola, Four-year follow-up of smoke exposure, attitudes and smoking behaviour following enactment of Finland's national smoke-free work-place law. Addiction, 2003. 98(8): p. 1111-1117.
- 16. Fichtenberg, C.M. and S.A. Glantz, *Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review*. British Medical Journal, 2002. **325**(7357): p. 188.
- 17. Jeffery, R.W., et al., *Restrictive Smoking Policies in the Workplace: Effects on Smoking Prevalence and Cigarette Consumption*. Preventive Medicine, 1994. 23(1):
 p. 78-82.
- 18. Chapman, S., et al., *The impact of workplace smoking bans on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the USA*. Am J Public Health, 1999. **89**: p. 1018-23.
- Woodruff, T.J., et al., Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California.153.12.1485. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1993. 153(12): p. 1485-1493.

- 20. Eisner, M.D., *Banning Smoking in Public Places: Time to Clear the Air.* JAMA, 2006. **296**(14): p. 1778-1779.
- Holbrook AL, Green MC, and K. JA, Telephone versus Face-to-Face Interviewing of National Probability Samples with Long Questionnaires: Comparisons of Respondent Satisficing and Social Desirability Response Bias. Public Opinion Quarterly, 2003.
 67: p. 79-125.
- 22. SLÁN, The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys in Centre for Health Promotion Studies, Galway: National University of Ireland. 1999, Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland.: Galway.
- SLÁN, *The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys* 2003, Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland.: Galway.
- 24. Levy, David T.; Chaloupka, Frank; Gitchell, Joseph. *The effects of the Tobacco Control Policies* on Smoking Rates: A Tobacco Control Scorecard. Journal of Public Health Management & Practice, Jul-Aug2004, Vol. 10 Issue 4, p338-353, 16p
- 25. US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Center from Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health. Reducing Tobacco Use: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA:CDC;2000

Table I: Baseline characteristics of Cork bar workers followed up post-ban (n=107) and bar workers lost to follow-up (n= 22). (Figures are n (%) unless otherwise specified.)

	Bar workers	Bar workers		
	n=107	lost to follow-up		
		n=22		
Sex				
Male	76 (71%)	13 (59%)		
Mean age in years (SD)				
Total	33.2 (12.1)	30.69 (12.31)		
Males	33.3 (11.6)	31.30(12.17)		
Females	32.8 (13.5)	29.80 (13.2)		
Age Group				
18-28 y rs	53 (49.5)	12 (54.5)		
29-38 y rs	24 (22.4)	6 (27.3)		
39-48 y rs	18 (16.8)	1 (4.5)		
49-58 y rs	7 (6.5)	2 (9.1)		
>59yrs	5 (4.7)	1 (4.5)		
Occupational Class				
'Manager'(Bar owner/ bar manager)	45 (42)	12 (54.5)		
'Staff' (Permanent/Temp bar workers)	62 (58)	10 (45.5)		
Self reported smoking status				
Regular /Occasional smoker	52 (48.6)	15 (68)		
Ex s moker/ Never s moked	55 (51.4)	7 (32)		
Combined self report and cotinine *				
Smoker				
Non-smoker	55 (51.4)	15 (68)		
	52 (48.6)	7 (32)		

* 24 out of the 107 (post ban samples) and 4 out of the 22 (lost to follow -up sample) are missing cotinine values

Table II: Changes in smoking prevalence (n=107; self-reported and combined self report and cotinine) and cigarette consumption per day (n=49) among Cork bar workers; pre- and post- ban comparisons

			Smoking Prevalence				<u>Cigarette Co</u>	<u>nsumpti on</u>		
		Total	Pre-ban	Post- B an	Difference	Ν	Pre-ban	Post- Ban	Within subject changes	Between Subject
					from pre- to				(pre- vs post-ban)	di fferences
			N (%)	N (%)	post-ban		Mean	Mean	Р†	P **
			smokers	smokers	P value*		(SD)	(SD)		
Current	smoker (self report)	107	55 (51.4)	52 (48.6)	0.508	49	18.1 (11.8)	13.9 (8.5)	< 0.001	-
Current	smoker (combined self	107	60 (56.1)	55 (51.4)	0.125	-	-	-	-	-
report &	a cotinine)									
Sex	Male	76	39 (51.3)	35 (46.1)	0.22	32	18.2 (11.7)	14.2 (8.2)	<0.001	0.823
	Female	31	21 (67.7)	20 (64.5)	1.00	17	17.8 (12.4)	13.3 (9.3)		
Age Gro	up 18-28 yrs	53	38 (72.0)	35 (66.0)	0.38	30	14.8 (6.9)	12.5 (7.7)	0.001	0.20
	29-38 yrs	24	12 (50.0)	11 (45.8)	1.00	10	23.6 (15.8)	14.6 (10.2)		
	39-48 yrs	18	7 (38.9)	7 (38.9)	1.00	7	23.4 (18.5)	18.4 (9.9)		
	49-58 yrs	7	2 (28.6)	2 (28.6)	1.00	2	20.0 (14.1)	15.0 (7.0)		
	>59yrs	5	0 (00.0)	0 (00.0)	-	0	0	0		
Occupati	ional class									
Manager	(Bar owner/ bar manager)	45	19 (42.2)	18 (40.0)	1.00	17	17.0 (13.0)	13.0 (9.4)	< 0.001	0.617
Staff (Pei	rmanent/Temp bar workers)	62	41 (66.1)	37 (59.7)	0.22	32	18.6 (11.3)	14.3 (8.2)		
						÷				

*P values for smoking prevalence were calculated using Mc Nemar chi squared test.

[†]P values for cigarette consumption were calculated using GLM

Table III Changes in self reported smoking prevalence among the Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample; preand post- ban comparisons

	P	Pre-ban		ost-ban	Difference from pre- to post- ban		
	Total	n (%)	Total	n (%)	P value*	95% CI	
Current smoker (self report)	1240	351 (28.3)	1221	303 (24.8)	0.055	0.000 - 0.07	
Gender							
Male	619	180 (29.1)	585	135 (23.1)	0.02	0.01 - 0.11	
Female	621	171 (27.5)	636	168 (26.4)	0.66	-0.04 - 0.06	
Age Group (years)							
18-28 years	184	67 (36.4)	188	50 (26.6)	0.05	0.004 - 0.19	
29-38 years	215	85 (39.5)	212	76 (35.8)	0.49	-0.06 - 0.13	
39-48 years	243	73 (30.0)	241	76 (31.5)	0.77	-0.10 - 0.07	
49-58 years	214	66 (30.8)	210	48 (22.9)	0.08	-0.004 - 0.16	
>59 years	384	60 (15.6)	370	53 (14.3)	0.68	-0.04 - 0.06	
Occupational Class							
Manager (Bar owner/ bar manager)	563	172 (30.6)	543	136 (25.0)	0.04		
Staff (Permanent/Temp bar workers)	677	179 (26.4)	678	167 (24.6)	0.46	0.002 - 0.11	
						-0.03 - 0.06	

*P values were calculated using Pearson's chi square

 Table IV Changes in self reported cigarette consumption per day among the Republic of Ireland general population sub-sample

 (smokers only), pre- and post- ban comparisons

Jan to March 2004				Jan to March 2005	Pre- to one year post-ban change			
		Pre-ban n=342*		(one year post-ban) n=299†				
	Total	Mean (SD)	Total	Mean (SD)	Mean Difference (CI)	P‡		
	2004		2005					
Smoker	342	16.9 (9.8)	299	16.0 (8.4)	-0.95 (-0.5 – 2.4)	0.19		
Sex Male	175	18.5 (11.4)	132	17.6 (8.9)	-0.85 (-1.5 - 3.2)	0.46		
Female	167	15.3 (7.6)	167	14.7 (7.8)	-0.64 (-1.0 - 2.3)	0.45		
Age Group (years	;)							
18-28 years	65	14.7 (10.9)	50	13.3 (7.3)	-1.36 (-2.2 - 4.9)	0.45		
29-38 years	83	16.5 (7.3)	74	15.2 (7.3)	-1.30 (-1.0 - 3.6)	0.27		
39-48 years	72	18.0 (8.8)	76	16.8 (8.6)	-1.22 (-1.6 - 4.1)	0.39		
49-58 years	64	19.4 (12.5)	48	17.8 (10.4)	-1.54 (-2.9 - 6.0)	0.48		
>59 years	58	16.1 (9.2)	51	16.9 (8.1)	+0.74 (-4.1 – 2.6)	0.66		
Occupational Cla	SS							
C2 Manager	169	16.3 (8.4)	135	16.2 (9.0)	-0.03 (-2.0 - 2.0)	0.98		
DE Staff	173	17.6 (11.1)	164	15.8 (7.9)	-1.82 (02 – 3.9)	0.08		

*9 missing values for cigarette consumption among the general population sub-sample pre-ban

[†]4 missing values for cigarette consumption among general population sub-sample post-ban

‡ p values were calculated using independent samples t-test

Chapter 4

Paper 3:

Smokers still underestimate the risks posed by exposure to secondhand smoke; repeated cross sectional among the Irish population

Lonergan BJ, Greiner BA, Meaney S, Comber H, Perry IJ

Abstract

Background

Research suggests that the accuracy of risk estimates varies by smoking status, with smokers usually estimating the risks of active smoking lower than non-smokers. Smokers tend to underestimate their personal risk of being harmed by smoking, known as "optimism bias".

The extensive media coverage and public discussion concerning the harmful effects of second-hand smoke (SHS) around the introduction of Irish smoke-free workplace legislation are likely to have impacted on the Irish general population's perceptions of the health risks associated with SHS. Although there is much documented research on the influence of smoking status on the accuracy of risk perception associated with active smoking, little is known about the association with exposure to SHS.

Methods

This study involves two repeated cross sectional (2-stage cluster sampling; telephone survey) samples of Irish adults in 1999 (n=1240) and 2006 (n = 1000). As a guide for an 'expert's' risk perception of SHS, a representative sample of GPs (n=248) were sampled in 2006. Participants were asked to consider whether a non-smoker, exposed to SHS, is at an increased risk of asthma, lung cancer, heart disease, bronchitis, diabetes and ear infections in children.

Results

From 1999 to 2006 there was a significant increase in the general population's understanding of the risks posed by SHS for asthma, lung cancer, heart disease and bronchitis. Of particular concern was the lack of knowledge among the general population in 1999 and in 2006 of the role SHS exposure has in the development of ear infections in children (45% in 1999 and 46% in 2006 compared to 81.5% among our expert group of GPs). With the exception of females and those aged between 50-64 years, no significant improvements were seen in perception of this risk since 1999. With the exception of ear infections in children (2006), the risk perception of

all diseases differed significantly by smoking status, as smokers' awareness of the risk posed by SHS exposure was significantly lower. Relative to smokers, nonsmokers had 2.35 (95% CI 1.44-3.83) and 1.9 (95%CI 1.21-3.05) times the odds of identifying SHS as a risk factor for lung cancer and bronchitis respectively while adjusting for main confounders. However encouraging results suggest that the knowledge deficit between smokers and non-smokers has decreased as smokers understanding of the risks of SHS increased between 1999 and 2006.

Conclusion

Knowledge of risks associated with SHS exposure has improved, as has the knowledge deficit between smokers and non-smokers. This research points to an alarming lack of awareness among the general population of the risk posed by SHS exposure to a vulnerable subset of our population- our children. This knowledge deficiency needs urgent attention by the Irish government.

Key words: Risk perception, second-hand smoke, smoke-free workplace legislation

Introduction

Health risks posed by active smoking are well documented as are the perceptions of these risks [169]. For example, Power *et al.*, 2004 [170] found that the Irish general population are well aware of the dangers of active smoking but underestimate the importance of smoking relative to other external causes of death. Accuracy of risk estimates has been found to vary by age [171-173] and smoking status, with smokers usually underestimating the risks of active smoking compared to non-smokers (optimistic bias).

Risk perception of the harmful effects associated with smoking was identified as one of the major factors for smoking cessation [174]. Research on the accuracy of risk perception of smoking is highly controversial. For example, based on US survey data, Viscusi [175] has argued that people generally overestimate the risks of smoking and that the decision to smoke is largely based on a rational appraisal of risks and benefits. This is vigorously disputed. There is data from other studies [176-178] including the UK [172] to suggest that people underestimate both the risk of addiction and long-term health risks of smoking. Research suggests that some health risks of smoking, such as lung cancer, are well recognized; however, other risks to health outcomes are underestimated [176].

The health risks of second-hand smoke (SHS) have been well documented and include asthma [12-14], lung cancer [7, 179-180], heart disease [8-9, 181-183], bronchitis [10-11], development of ear infections among children [16-17] and some evidence on diabetes [184-186]. Similar to active smoking, risk perception of SHS has been found to vary by smoking status with smokers underestimating most of the risk attributed to SHS [138, 187-189]. Research exists on knowledge and perceptions of risks posed by second-hand smoke with an abundance of research among adolescents. However few studies examine the risk perception of SHS in any depth or look at changes in risk perception over time.

In Ireland the risks posed by SHS exposure have received substantial attention in the recent years in Ireland with changes in health warnings on cigarette packs, proposed introduction of graphic labels on cigarette packs and most notably the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation. It is likely that the extensive media coverage and public discussion about harmful effects of smoking during the period leading up to and since the implementation of the ban contributed to an increased awareness of risks posed by SHS among the Irish population.

General practitioners play a crucial part as role models for health behaviours, communicators of health messages and have an important role in smoking cessation advice delivery. As research suggests, beliefs and attitudes of tobacco-dependent health care professionals might be one limiting factor in the delivery of effective smoking cessation interventions [190-191].

This research forms part of the Smoke-free Ireland study (SmofrI study). In this study, we examined changes in perception of risks posed by SHS in the Irish general population over the past 7 years, and compared current risk perceptions of an expert group of Irish General Practitioners (GPs) to the general population. We investigated personal characteristics associated with knowledge of risks posed by SHS exposure; focusing specifically at two risk outcomes. Firstly, lung cancer as the most recognised risk of both active and SHS exposure and secondly, ear infections in children as a largely unknown risk.

This paper assesses trends in the perception of the risks posed by SHS by the Irish general population over the last 7 years and considers if smokers continue to underestimate the risks posed by SHS smoke exposure compared to non-smokers.

Methods

Two separate datasets were used in our analysis, the first dataset consisted of two repeated cross sectional (telephone survey) samples of Irish adults in 1999 and 2006 ($n \approx 1000$, quota sampling). The second consisted of a representative sample of GPs from Cork & Kerry (n=248) in 2006.

Sample selection

General population

A national cross-sectional telephone survey was conducted with a representative sample of the general population drawn using quota sampling yielding 1,247 individuals in 1999. This was attached as a module to the Economic and Social Research Institute (ESRI) survey of economic and lifestyle issues conducted in March 1999 [170]. A second cross-sectional sample of the general population was generated (n=1,000, aged 15 years plus) in 2006. The same questionnaire was administered via a telephone survey conducted by TNS mrbi. In both studies participants were selected based on randomly generated phone numbers; targets were met in relation to sex, age, occupational class and region. Weighted data, to adjust for sample over- or under-representation of region (Dublin, Munster, Connacht/Ulster, ROI) social class, gender and age group (15-34; 35-54; 55+), was used in all analyses of the general population.

General Practitioners

Data from GPs was obtained from a telephone survey conducted by trained interviewers in 2006 (n=248 80.7% follow-up sample of GPs; 69.5% for new sample of newly qualified GPs) within the Department of Epidemiology & Public Health. The baseline sample was completed in 1999 [170] which included a representative sample of 200 GPs (171 responses, 85% response rate) drawn from a list of all GPs practising in the Southern Health Board region, comprising Counties Cork and Kerry. This group of GPs was followed-up. A second group of GPs recruited, to represent younger GPs; these were randomly selected from a list of recently

qualified (within the past 7 years) GPs. Both samples were combined for the purpose of the current study.

Measures

Sociodemographics & smoking behaviour

Participants from the general population were asked about their sex, age group, occupational class, marital status and level of education completed. GPs were asked about their year of qualification as a marker for age and their sex. Each participant was asked about their smoking status. Smokers were defined as someone who self-reported to currently smoke on a regular basis or currently smoke on an occasional basis. Daily cigarette consumption and quitting history were also assessed.

Risk perception of second-hand smoke

Risk perception was assessed using the question 'I would like you to indicate whether a non-smoker who regularly breathes in someone else's smoke increases the risk of a non-smoker getting' each of the following: asthma, lung cancer, heart disease, bronchitis, ear infections in children, diabetes. Respondents were asked to indicate whether the particular exposure '*increases risk*' or '*does not increase risk*' of disease for a non-smoker. Those who either refused to answer the question or answered 'don't know' were re-classified as 'does not increase risk'

Sample demographics

General Population

Due to the sampling strategy employed and weighting used, both general population samples were considered, to be representative of the Irish general population in 1999 and 2006.

General Practitioners

Fifty eight percent (n=144) of the GPs were male, 8% (n=19) self-reported to be current smokers while 29% (n=71) self-reported to be ex-smokers. The median number of cigarettes consumed by smokers was 30 (IQR = 90).

The Irish College of General Practitioners (ICGP) holds membership with over 90% of GPs in Ireland. The ICGP provided a gender and age profile of their membership; which was comparable to the Cork & Kerry GP sample. Weights derived from the ICGP information were used in the analysis. The results were unaffected by these weights; therefore un-weighted data were used.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was conducted using SPSS 12.0.1 (SPSS, Chicago, IL). Pearson's chi square tests were used to examine differences in risk perception of SHS within each sub-group (sex, age group, marital status and education) between 1999 and 2006 in the general population.

Binary logistic regression was used to adjust for possible confounding and estimation of the risk posed by SHS. Data were adjusted for age category, gender, education, employment status (employed vs. not currently employed) and marital status. As is evident in other research, smoking status [171, 187-189] and age [171-172, 192] are significant factors in the estimation of risks posed by active smoking and SHS. Level of education, employment and marital status may also be considered important in risk perception of SHS. Where applicable adjustments were made to account for differences in socio-demographics and smoking status between the 1999 and 2006 general population samples; these differences are considered a true reflection of the change in the Irish population over this time period.

Results

Differences in risk perception of second-hand smoke among the general population from 1999 to 2006

Table I outlines differences in perceived risk of SHS exposure on disease within the general population from 1999 to 2006 compared to perceptions in an expert group of General Practitioners (2006). Significant increase in the general population's understanding of the risks posed by SHS can be seen for asthma, lung cancer, heart

disease, bronchitis, and a significant decrease for those who identify SHS as a risk for diabetes.

Comparison to General Practitioners

In comparison to the general population (2006), GPs estimated the risk posed by SHS to be similar for asthma and higher in all other diseases except diabetes (28%:10% in the general population and GPs respectively) (Table I). The starkest contrast can be seen within ear infections in children with 81.5% of GPs compared to 46% of the general population believing that SHS exposure increases a child's risk of ear infections.

Comparisons between smokers and non-smokers

As expected, fewer smokers were aware of the risks of SHS than non smokers. However the disparity in risk perception between smokers and non-smokers narrowed from 1999 to 2006 with most notable differences seen for heart disease of 15.4% in 1999 reducing to a difference of 5.6% in 2006, similar changes are seen for lung cancer (14.1% to 7.6%) and bronchitis (10.4% to 5.7%). Awareness of ear infections in children increased but not significantly with no change in disparity between smokers and non-smokers from 1999 to 2006 (7%).

Awareness of increased risk in all diseases was influenced by smoking status, with smokers underestimating the risks posed by SHS significantly in both study periods (Table II). Adjusting for gender, age, marital status, employment status and education made only small changes to the odds ratios. Smokers had a lower perception of all the risks posed by SHS in comparison to non-smokers, with ear infections in children in 2006 the only risk found to be non-significant. Non-smokers had 2.35 (95%CI 1.44-3.83) and 1.9 (95%CI 1.21-3.05) times the odds of identifying SHS as a risk factor for lung cancer and bronchitis than smokers respectively.

Risk perceptions of lung cancer and ear infections in children; changes from 1999 to 2006

Lung cancer is one of the most commonly recognised risks of SHS exposure (93% of the general population in 2006). However less than half (46%) of the general population were aware of the risks SHS exposure produces for a vulnerable group like children. This awareness has been unchanged since 1999 (45%) and it was the only risk perception examined in this study which was not significantly influenced by smoking status.

For a more in-depth understanding we examined some of the individual factors associated with the awareness of lung cancer risk and the non-awareness of ear infections in children among the general population.

Lung cancer

Table III details significant improvements in awareness of risk of lung cancer due to SHS exposure for both genders, all marital status groups, both educational groups and all age groups except among the >65 year olds. Significant differences in awareness of this risk by age can be seen in both 1999 and 2006; the youngest age group (16-29 years) reported the largest agreement in both 1999 (90%) and 2006 (96%).

Ear infections in children

Table III demonstrates that females and those aged between 50 to 64 years increased their perception of risk of SHS exposure posed to children from 1999 to 2006. Surprisingly those who were married and those with higher levels of education had not increased their awareness since 1999. Only 50% of participants who were single in 1999 perceived that SHS exposure posed a risk of ear infections in children and worryingly this actually decreased non-significantly in 2006 to 44.5%.

Discussion

The majority of the general population in both 1999 and 2006 were aware of the risk posed to others due to SHS exposure. From 1999 to 2006 understanding of the risks posed by SHS increased significantly among the general population for all diseases except ear infections in children and significantly decreased for diabetes.

This research adds to a body of evidence on smokers' awareness of the risks posed by active and SHS exposure compared to non-smokers. This investigation demonstrated again that smokers significantly underestimated the risk associated with SHS compared to non-smokers; even while controlling for a number of possible confounders (with the exception of ear infections in children in 2006). It cannot be determined from this research whether it is the smoker's denial of information or lack of information which accounted for these misunderstandings. Encouraging evidence from this research demonstrated that the disparity in risk perception of SHS between smokers and non-smokers is narrowing with most notably improvements in knowledge seen for heart disease, lung cancer and bronchitis.

Members of the general public and GPs attribute similar weight to most of the risks associated with SHS with the important exception of ear infections in children. Our expert group of GPs appreciated (81.5%) the relationship between SHS exposure and increased risk of ear infections in children. Worryingly in 1999 and 2006 less than half of all general population respondents correctly identified SHS as a risk factor for ear infections in children. This highlights an immense gap in the general population's understanding of the risk posed by SHS to children. From our study, it was surprising that those who were married (who are most likely to have children) and those with higher levels of education did not show any improvements in this awareness over time. It would be expected that health messages are generally found to be more effectively received among the most educated and economically advantaged groups in a society. To the best of our knowledge this is the only study to examine risk perception of SHS on ear infections in children.

Despite concerns that the ban would result in a displacement of smoking from the pub to the home, research suggests either an increase in the number of voluntary smoking restrictions resulting in reduced SHS exposure in the home in Ireland [60], New Zealand [193] and Scotland [194] or no change [58, 195]. The true significance of the potential impact of SHS exposure on children's health may not have been articulated by health information campaigns and is an area of particular note for future health campaigns in Ireland.

A number of studies have examined the perception of non-specific risk associated with SHS, for example; 'Is smoke from other people's cigarettes harmful to you?' [196] and 'A smoky work environment is harmful to my health' [188]. However, few provided a suitable comparison with this research due to differences in questions asked or sample characteristics. A study among American adolescents [189] outlined the specific risks attributable to SHS exposure of asthma, lung cancer, heart attack and having trouble breathing. In comparison to our research, adolescents were less aware of the risk of asthma (54% of smokers; 43% of non-smokers), compared to our data (87% of smokers; 92% of non-smokers) and of the risk of lung cancer (36% of smokers and 47% of non-smokers) compared to our data (87% of smokers; 95% of non-smokers or 96% of 16-29 years olds). These differences are surprising as research among adolescents on active smoking suggests that adolescents attribute higher risk than adults to active smoking [171]. These differences may be partially explained by cultural differences or differences in sampling. Another factor may be that adolescents lack personal experience and therefore, do not appreciate the health risks of passive smoking.

In New Zealand, Jones [138] assessed the perception of specific risks associated with SHS and asthma, cancer and stroke in 1999. Their findings are comparable to our 1999 general population data with 80% agreeing that SHS increases the risk of asthma in New Zealand compared to 83.5% in Ireland. Unfortunately no other comparisons could be made with this research. It should also be noted that Jones *et al.*, examined the risk perception of an occupational group of bar and restaurant

workers exposed to high levels of SHS, who may respond differently than a general population sample due to this exposure.

The findings from this research span 7 years, encompassing the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation and other tobacco control measures. Therefore, we cannot provide insight into the specific contribution the ban has had on changes in risk perception of SHS exposure.

Limitations

Diabetes was initially included as a potential indicator of false positive responses reflecting generalised concerns regarding the effects of smoking. Unfortunately it was a poor choice as there are genuine, albeit relatively small and recently identified effects of smoking on risk of diabetes. Differences in the proportion of the general population attributing risk of diabetes due to SHS exposure compared to the expert group of general practitioners were as expected. GP's who are familiar with the major and well publicised hazards of smoking would be expected to "underestimate" the risks associated with diabetes whereas members of the general public who are sensitised to the dangers of smoking will be more likely to associate smoking with diabetes. In 1999 this association was mainly unknown and only in recent years supporting evidence has emerged. Two studies point to a relationship between SHS exposure and increase risk of developing glucose intolerance [185] (a precursor of diabetes) and diabetes [186]. To our knowledge, these are the only studies linking SHS exposure and diabetes and we suspect, as confirmed by our expert group, this possible relationship would not be widely recognised. Our findings related to diabetes are therefore difficult to interpret. It is unclear if the general population overestimated the risk attributable to SHS exposure in this case and it cannot be ruled out if the participants used the same overestimation for other risk factors, however we consider this unlikely. It may be the case that the general population would consider the risks posed by SHS exposure so grave that it is conceivable to be linked with any adverse health outcome.

Although improvement in awareness of risks posed by SHS exposure is encouraging this knowledge may not be expressed in behaviour beliefs or practices [197]. Based on our findings we cannot therefore assume that smokers behave more considerately around non-smokers or that non-smokers avoid exposure to SHS due to increased awareness of the health risks. Further research is needed to examine the relationship between knowledge and the absolute and cumulative risk of SHS and the role optimistic bias may have in perception of risks posed by SHS exposure.

Implications

This study summarises improvements in risk perception of SHS exposure over time within a country with advanced tobacco control measures. It outlines improvements in the knowledge base of the general populations related to risk of SHS exposure and encouraging evidence of a narrowing knowledge gap between smokers and non-smokers. However, this research does point to an alarming lack of appreciation among the general population of risk posed by SHS exposure to a vulnerable subset of the Irish population: children. This knowledge deficiency needs urgent attention by the Irish government and perhaps an opportunity exists, for legislation to restrict children's exposure to SHS. Growing support for smoke-free cars is evident elsewhere. Recent evidence pointing to support for laws requiring cars that contain children to be smoke free, with support from smokers at 77% or more [198].

Acknowledgements

We thank Eilish Dolan, Nicola Gwillym de Linares and Shabana Khalid for help with interviewing; Dr. Tony Fitzgerald for statistics advice; Frances Drummond and Angela Hennessy for access to relevant data for GPs sampling. We especially thank the General Practitioners who participated in this study.

Contributors

All authors reviewed and approved the final version of this manuscript. BJM participated in the research design, was involved in and coordinated all aspects of the study, prepared study materials, protocol, data collection, data entry/ editing, performed most of the analyses, and wrote all of the drafts of the paper. BAG and IJP conceptualized the research design, was involved in all aspects of the study and protocol, interpretation of the data analysis, and in the preparation of drafts of this manuscript. SM participated in the research design, preparation of study materials and protocol, data cleaning and in the preparation of drafts of this manuscript. BP, HC participated in the research design and commented on drafts of the manuscript.

Funding

Health Research Board of Ireland (Research project grant RP/2005/290) Principal Investigator Dr. Birgit Greiner, Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, University College Cork.

All authors' work was independent of all funders.

Conflicts of interests

IJP is the unpaid chair of the Irish Research Institute for a Tobacco Free Society.

Ethical approval

The clinical research ethics committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals.

Table I: Difference in perceived risk of SHS on disease by smoking status within the General Population from 1999 to 2006 in comparison to perceived risk among General Practitioners in 2006

		Overall P*	General Practitioners					
	<u>1999</u>	(n=1240) Yes	N (%)	2006	5 (n=1000) Yes	<u>s N (%)</u>	Difference	Yes (n=248)
	Smoker	Non-smoker	Total	Smoker	Non-smoker	Total	1999 to 2006	N (%)
Asthma	263 (76.7)	774 (86.2)	1036 (83.5)	233 (87.3)	676 (92.2)	909 (90.9)	< 0.001	224 (90.3)
Lung cancer	254 (74.1)	791 (88.2)	1045 (84.3)	233 (86.9)	693 (94.5)	926 (92.6)	< 0.001	239 (96.4)
Diabetes	95 (27.8)	332 (37.0)	427 (34.4)	64 (23.9)	216 (29.5)	280 (28.0)	0.001	25 (10.1)
Heart Disease	209 (60.9)	685 (76.3)	893 (72.0)	220 (82.1)	643 (87.7)	863 (86.2)	< 0.001	222 (89.5)
Bronchitis	269 (78.7)	799 (89.1)	1068 (86.1)	233 (87.3)	681 (93.0)	914 (91.4)	< 0.001	241 (97.2)
Ear infections	137 (39.9)	420 (46.8)	557 (44.9)	110 (41.2)	353 (48.2)	463 (46.3)	0.52	202 (81.5)
				1				

* p value from chi-square using 'yes' vs. rest ('no' and 'don't know')

	General Population 1999 n=1,209						General Population 2006 n =951					
	Crude	95%CI	Р	OR*	95%CI	Р	Crude	95%CI	Р	OR*	95%CI	Р
	OR						OR					
Asthma	1.83	1.33-2.52	< 0.001	1.98	1.42-2.76	< 0.001	1.70	1.07-2.68	0.02	1.66	1.04-2.66	0.03
Lung cancer	2.50	1.82-3.45	< 0.001	2.71	1.95-3.78	< 0.001	2.35	1.44-3.83	0.001	2.81	1.68-4.69	< 0.001
Diabetes	1.55	1.17-2.04	0.002	1.64	1.24-2.17	0.001	1.37	0.98-1.90	0.06	1.42	1.01-1.98	0.04
Heart disease	2.11	1.61-2.77	< 0.001	2.15	1.63-2.83	< 0.001	1.50	1.02-2.21	0.04	1.54	1.03-2.31	0.03
Bronchitis	2.17	1.54-3.04	< 0.001	2.25	1.59-3.19	< 0.001	1.92	1.21-3.05	0.006	1.88	1.17-3.01	0.009
Ear Infections	1.35	1.04-1.74	0.023	1.43	1.10-1.86	0.007	1.23	0.92-1.64	0.16	1.25	0.93-1.68	0.14

Table II: Binary logistic regression for risk perception of SHS within the General population in 1999 and 2006 by smoking status

* Odds Ratio was adjusted for age category, gender, education, employ ment status (employed vs. not currently employed) and marital status

Table III: Difference in perceived risk of SHS on lung cancer and ear infections in children within the General Population from 1999 to 2006; differences in proportion answering yes 'increases risk'.

			General	General Population				
Lung cancer		1999 n (%)	Р	2006 n (%)	Р	1999 to 2006		
Gender	Males	504 (86.0)	0.13	458 (92.9)	0.72	< 0.001		
	Females	541 (82.7)		467 (92.1)		< 0.001		
Marital status	Married	480 (81.8)	< 0.001	480 (91.4)	0.32	< 0.001		
	Single	420 (89.6)		350 (94.1)		0.030		
	Widowed	130 (78.8)		90 (91.8)		0.009		
Education	\leq Leaving cert	840 (83.8)	0.44	511 (92.4)	0.98	< 0.001		
	Third Level	205 (86.1)		391 (92.7)		0.010		
Age	16-29	347 (89.9)	0.003	252 (96.2)	0.01	0.003		
	30-49	372 (81.6)		346 (93.0)		< 0.001		
	50-64	183 (81.3)		208 (89.3)		0.023		
	>65	142 (82.1)		91 (88.3)		0.165		
Ear Infections								
Gender	Males	265 (45.3)	0.82	207 (42.0)	0.008	0.300		
	Females	291 (44.5)		256 (50.5)		0.050		
Marital status	Married	249 (42.4)	0.05	247 (47.0)	0.72	0.140		
	Single	233 (49.7)		165 (44.5)		0.150		
	Widowed	70 (42.7)		46 (47.4)		0.540		
Education	≤Leaving cert	446 (44.5)	0.60	249 (44.9)	0.66	0.900		
	Third Level	111 (46.6)		197 (46.6)		1.000		
Age	16-29	195 (50.5)	0.01	117 (44.8)	0.74	0.180		
	30-49	206 (45.3)		177 (47.5)		0.580		
	50-64	87 (38.7)		113 (48.5)		0.040		
	>65	67 (39.0)		44 (43.1)		0.580		

References

- 1. Slovic, P., *Smoking: risk, perception & policy.* 2001, London: Sage Publications.
- 2. Power, B., S. Neilson, and I. Perry, *Perception of the risks of smoking in the general population and among general practitioners in Ireland*. Irish Journal of Medical Science, 2004. **173**(3): p. 141-144.
- 3. Viscusi, W., *Age variations in risk perceptions and smoking decisions*. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 1991. **73**(4): p. 577-588.
- 4. Sutton, S., *How ordinary people in Great Britain perceive the health risks of smoking*. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 1998. **52**(5): p. 338.
- 5. Slovic, P., What does it mean to know a cumulative risk? Adolescents' perceptions of short-term and long-term consequences of smoking. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 2000. **13**(2): p. 259-266.
- 6. Romer, D. and P. Jamieson, *The role of perceived risk in starting and stopping smoking*. Smoking: Risk, Perception & Policy, Thousand Oaks, California, Sage, 2001: p. 64-80.
- 7. Viscusi, W., *Do smokers underestimate risks?* Journal of Political Economy, 1990: p. 1253-1269.
- 8. Weinstein, N., *Public understanding of risk and reasons for smoking lowyield products*, in *Risks associated with smoking cigarettes with low machine-measured yields of tar and nicotine*. 2001, U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, National Cancer Institute. p. 193–198.
- 9. Weinstein, N., *Accuracy of smokers' risk perceptions*. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 1998. **20**(2): p. 135-140.
- 10. Cummings, K., A. Hyland, G. Giovino, J. Hastrup, J. Bauer, and M. Bansal, *Are smokers adequately informed about the health risks of smoking and medicinal nicotine?* Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2004. **6**: p. 333-340.
- 11. Jaakkola, M., J. Jaakkola, M. Becklake, and P. Ernst, *Effect of passive smoking on the development of respiratory symptoms in young adults: an 8-year longitudinal study.* Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 1996. **49**(5): p. 581-586.
- 12. Jaakkola, M., R. Piipari, N. Jaakkola, and J. Jaakkola, *Environmental* tobacco smoke and adult-onset asthma: a population-based incident case-control study. American Journal of Public Health, 2003. **93**(12): p. 2055.
- 13. Tamim, H., U. Musharrafieh, Z. Roueiheb, K. Yunis, and W. Almawi, *Exposure of children to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and its association with respiratory ailments*. Journal of Asthma, 2003. **40**(5): p. 571-576.
- 14. Kreuzer, M., J. Heinrich, L. Kreienbrock, A. Rosario, M. Gerken, and H. Wichmann, *Risk factors for lung cancer among nonsmoking women*. International Journal of Cancer, 2002. **100**(6): p. 706-713.
- 15. Siegel, M. and M. Skeer, *Exposure to secondhand smoke and excess lung cancer mortality risk among workers in the "5 B's": bars, bowling alleys, billiard halls, betting establishments, and bingo parlours.* Tobacco control, 2003. **12**(3): p. 333.
- Hackshaw, A., M. Law, and N. Wald, *The accumulated evidence on lung cancer and environmental tobacco smoke*. British Medical Journal, 1997. 315(7114): p. 980.

- Pitsavos, C., D. Panagiotakos, C. Chrysohoou, J. Skoumas, K. Tzioumis, C. Stefanadis, and P. Toutouzas, *Association between exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and the development of acute coronary syndromes: the CARDIO2000 case-control study.* Tobacco control, 2002. 11(3): p. 220.
- 18. Whincup, P., J. Gilg, J. Emberson, M. Jarvis, C. Feyerabend, A. Bryant, M. Walker, and D. Cook, *Passive smoking and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: prospective study with cotinine measurement*. British Medical Journal, 2004. **24**(329): p. 200-205.
- 19. Kritz, H., P. Schmid, and H. Sinzinger, *Passive smoking and cardiovascular risk*. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1995. **155**(18): p. 1942.
- 20. Law, M., J. Morris, and N. Wald, *Environmental tobacco smoke exposure* and ischaemic heart disease: an evaluation of the evidence. British Medical Journal, 1997. **315**(7114): p. 973.
- 21. Iribarren, C., J. Darbinian, A. Klatsky, and G. Friedman, *Cohort study of* exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and risk of first ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack. Neuroepidemiology. **23**(1-2): p. 38.
- 22. Leuenberger, P., J. Schwartz, U. Ackermann-Liebrich, K. Blaser, G. Bolognini, J. Bongard, O. Brandli, P. Braun, C. Bron, and M. Brutsche, *Passive smoking exposure in adults and chronic respiratory symptoms (SAPALDIA Study). Swiss Study on Air Pollution and Lung Diseases in Adults, SAPALDIA Team.* American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 1994. **150**(5): p. 1222.
- Radon, K., K. Busching, J. Heinrich, H. Wichmann, R. Jorres, H. Magnussen, and D. Nowak, *Passive smoking exposure: A risk factor for chronic bronchitis and asthma in adults?* CHEST-CHICAGO-, 2002. 122(3): p. 1086-1090.
- 24. Lieu, J.E.C. and A.R. Feinstein, *Effect of gestational and passive smoke exposure on ear infections in children*. Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, 2002. **156**(2): p. 147-154.
- 25. Charlton, A., *Children and passive smoking: a review*. Journal of Family Practice, 1994. **38**(3): p. 267-277.
- 26. Panagiotakos, D. and C. Pitsavos, *Passive smoking's role in diabetes*. British Medical Journal, 2006. **332**(7549): p. 1044.
- 27. Houston, T., S. Person, M. Pletcher, K. Liu, C. Iribarren, and C. Kiefe, Active and passive smoking and development of glucose intolerance among young adults in a prospective cohort: CARDIA study. British Medical Journal, 2006. **332**(7549): p. 1064.
- 28. Hayashino, Y., S. Fukuhara, T. Okamura, H. Yamato, H. Tanaka, T. Tanaka, T. Kadowaki, and H. Ueshima, *A Prospective Study of Passive Smoking and Risk of Diabetes in a Cohort of Workers*. Diabetes care, 2008. **31**(4): p. 732.
- 29. Green, E., C. Courage, and L. Rushton, *Reducing domestic exposure to environmental tobacco smoke: a review of attitudes and behaviours.* The journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health, 2003. 123(1): p. 46.
- 30. Duaso, M., J. De Irala, and N. Canga, *Employee's perceived exposure to environmental tobacco smoke, passive smoking risk beliefs and attitudes towards smoking: a case study in a university setting.* Health Education Research, 2006. **21**(1): p. 26.

- 31. Halpern-Felsher, B. and M. Rubinstein, *Clear the air: adolescents' perceptions of the risks associated with secondhand smoke.* Preventive Medicine, 2005. **41**(1): p. 16-22.
- 32. Jones, S., C. Love, G. Thomson, R. Green, and P. Howden-Chapman, Second-hand smoke at work: the exposure, perceptions and attitudes of bar and restaurant workers to environmental tobacco smoke. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2001. **25**(1): p. 90-3.
- 33. Heath, J., J. Andrews, F. Kelley, and J. Sorrell, *Caught in the middle: experiences of tobacco-dependent nurse practitioners*. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 2005. **16**(9): p. 396-401.
- 34. Radsma, J. and J. Bottorff, *Counteracting ambivalence: Nurses who smoke and their health promotion role with patients who smoke.* Research in Nursing & Health, 2009. **32**(4): p. 443-452.
- 35. Slovic, P., *Rejoinder: the perils of Viscusi's analyses of smoking risk perceptions.* Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 2000. **13**(2): p. 273-276.
- 36. Fong, G., A. Hyland, R. Borland, D. Hammond, G. Hastings, A. McNeill, S. Anderson, K. Cummings, S. Allwright, and M. Mulcahy, *Reductions in tobacco smoke pollution and increases in support for smoke-free public places following the implementation of comprehensive smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland: findings from the ITC Ireland/UK Survey.* Tobacco Control, 2006. 15(3): p. 51-58.
- 37. Edwards, R., G. Thomson, N. Wilson, A. Waa, C. Bullen, D. O'Dea, H. Gifford, M. Glover, M. Laugesen, and A. Woodward, *After the smoke has cleared: evaluation of the impact of a new national smoke-free law in New Zealand*. British Medical Journal, 2008. **17**(1): p. e2.
- 38. Akhtar, P., D. Currie, C. Currie, and S. Haw, *Changes in child exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (CHETS) study after implementation of smokefree legislation in Scotland: national cross sectional survey.* British Medical Journal, 2007: p. 335-545.
- Haw, S. and L. Gruer, Changes in exposure of adult non-smokers to secondhand smoke after implementation of smoke-free legislation in Scotland: national cross sectional survey. British Medical Journal, 2007. 335(7619): p. 549.
- Hyland, A., L. Hassan, C. Higbee, C. Boudreau, G. Fong, R. Borland, K. Cummings, M. Yan, M. Thompson, and G. Hastings, *The impact of smokefree legislation in Scotland: results from the Scottish ITC Scotland/UK longitudinal surveys.* The European Journal of Public Health, 2009. 19(2): p. 198.
- 41. Bird, Y., J. Moraros, L.K. Olsen, S. Forster-Cox, H. Staines-Orozco, and R.W. Buckingham, *Smoking practices, risk perception of smoking, and environmental tobacco smoke exposure among 6th-grade students in Ciudad Juarez, Mexico.* 2007, Informa Healthcare. p. 195-203.
- 42. Rothman, A. and M. Kiviniemi, *Treating people with information: an analysis and review of approaches to communicating health risk information.* JNCI Monographs, 1999. **1999**(25): p. 44.
- 43. Thomson, G. and N. Wilson, *Public attitudes to laws for smoke-free private vehicles: a brief review*. British Medical Journal, 2009. **18**(4): p. 256.

Chapter 5

Paper 4:

De-normalisation of smoking, stigma and subsequent adaptation: consequences of the smoke-free workplace legislation in Irish Pubs for smokers and non-smokers– a qualitative study

Bernie J Lonergan, Meaney S., Greiner, B.A.

Word count is 13,122

Abstract

Background

The introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland in March 2004 and the regulation of the risk and danger posed by second-hand smoke (SHS) may have contributed to the process of de-normalisation of smoking. Tactics to de-normalise smoking usually attempt to discourage new smokers from starting and encourage current smokers to reduce consumption and even quit. These strategies, whether intentionally or not, may also intensify the stigmatisation and marginalisation of smokers and smoking behaviour. To date little attention has been given in tobacco scholarship to the drivers of de-normalisation and social unacceptability of tobacco use [26].

The main aim of this research was to explore the various responses of smokers and non-smokers to the smoke-free legislation including smoking behaviour change. We examined the components of stigma as conceptualised by Link & Phelan [199] as a framework to provide insight into the possible intensification of smoking as a stigmatised behaviour specifically in the context of the pub.

Methods

A thematic analysis of semi-structured interviews was conducted among a purposive sample of 18 male and female smokers, ex-smokers and never smokers aged between 22 and 45 years four years after the implementation of the smoke-free legislation (May- August 2008). Link and Phelan [199] conceptualisation of stigma consists of 6 components; label, stereotype, status loss, discrimination, power and separation.

Findings

The majority of smokers and non-smokers agreed with the smoke-free legislation. Initially, there was a heightened visibility of smokers which diminished for some as smoking facilities in pubs improved and the norm of smoking outside became established. This research confirmed the existence of perceived stigma for smokers and their behaviour. However, it also highlights the dynamic nature of stigmatisation and de-normalisation in a society where both smokers and non-smokers adapt to the new norms, develop new cultures, and some Irish publicans adapted to the legislation by creating very comfortable smoking facilities.

Evidence of stigma existed across all components outlined by Link and Phelan. However, separation of smokers into designed smoking areas emerged as particularly important in the context of the smoke-free legislation. The stigma created by separation was dependent on a number of factors but, mostly centred on the quality of the smoking areas. This separation and increased de-normalisation of smoking in society has consequences for smoking behaviour. Depending on facilities and the attitudes of others around them, smokers decreased their smoking by rushing their cigarettes or smoked less. However, there is also evidence of a new pub culture with comfortable smoking facilities that encouraged smokers to find a comfortable place and continue to smoke at pre-law levels.

The ban had consequences not only for smokers but also for non-smokers. Nonsmokers play a role in the creation of a new smoking culture. Non-smokers in some instances were empowered to exile smokers while others showed compassion to smokers, considered it a choice if they as non-smokers were exposed to SHS and some shared in experiencing 'smirting' in the smoking area.

Conclusions

Evidence for intensification of the stigma of smoking owing to the Irish smoke-free legislation was mixed. Some of our data supported the notion of increased stigma as a driver for further de-normalisation of smoking. On the other hand, felt stigma of smoking was not apparent, especially when smokers and non-smokers adapted to the new norms and circumstances. From a public health perspective the inconclusive evidence for increased stigma felt by smokers is encouraging, perhaps denormalisation of smoking intensified without further intensification of stigma. More discussion of the ethical implications of stigma is needed.

The proliferation of 'good' smoking areas may have reduced the effect potential of the legislation on smoking behaviour. In addition, the evidence of the willingness of non-smokers to occupy these 'smoking islands' is also of concern. Tobacco control would require that smoking areas remain intrinsically unattractive for both smokers and non-smokers; to address this the Irish government would need to tighten regulations and to enforce current regulations on smoking facilities. These efforts may further de-normalise smoking behaviour and prevent glamorisation of smoking and smoking areas.

Key words

Smoke-free legislation, stigmatisation, smoking areas, smoking behaviour, tobacco control

Introduction

The introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland in March 2004 and the regulation of the risk and danger posed by second-hand smoke (SHS) may have intensified the process of de-normalisation of smoking, however may also have contributed to the creation of individuals as targets for social exclusion [99, 200]. Smoke-free laws have been shown to reduce cigarette consumption and increase quitting rates [1-3, 41, 46-47, 201]. However, little is known about the social impact of such legislation and the ways in which it may or may not increase the de-normalisation of smoking.

The smoke-free legislation in Ireland was implemented at a time when smoking prevalence had been in almost continual decline in westernised countries since the 1970's. Increased individual awareness of health consequences of smoking and other policy measures to de-normalise smoking in society have been hypothesised as the major factors in the decline at a population level. From a public health perspective and based on the social ecological model, smoking is more than an individual behaviour choice; it is influenced by a multitude of factors in society. Smoking is a social behaviour and reflects a host of cultural norms and meanings. It is of particular social significance in the pub where it can provide pleasure, relief from stress and play a role in social identity (glamour/ attraction/ rebelliousness).

Research has shown that some smokers felt they changed their smoking behaviour because of the smoke-free legislation [60, 65, 201-204]; others ignored or resisted [205] the incentive to quit while some retreated from the public realm [71].

Public health has, in recent years, embraced strategies to de-normalise smoking particularly by placing emphasis on health risk posed by SHS to non-smokers. Tactics to de-normalise smoking may discourage new smokers from starting and may encourage current smokers to reduce consumption and even quit. These strategies, whether intentionally or not, may also intensify the stigmatisation and marginalisation of smokers and smoking behaviour. To date little attention has been given in tobacco scholarship to the drivers of de-normalisation and social unacceptability of tobacco use [26].
Stigmatisation of smoking, has been suggested as one of the mechanisms of denormalisation [26], resulting in negative feelings and thoughts towards smokers and internalised feelings of guilt and shame among smokers [71]. Chapman and Freeman [26] identify what they posit as markers (evident in the Australian context) of how smokers' identities have been "spoiled" because of tobacco control measures. The authors argued that in public settings smokers are "exiled" from others to designated areas, which contribute to feelings of "otherness" amongst smokers and induce the identity of social "lepers". Alternatively, as suggested by Hilton *et al.*, [206] smokers may join outside for a common purpose and not feel 'exiled'. Furthermore, as Goffman [88] observed, stigmatised smokers may seek each other out and form 'shamed groups'. It has been argued that, because of designated smoking areas, smokers do not feel stigmatised but feel they are 'good citizens' by not exposing others to SHS, thereby alleviating some of the perceived stigma [205]. Or perhaps, Irish citizens were so accustomed to tobacco control measures that they were desensitised to new efforts to 'stigmatise' smoking.

Stigmatisation, gender and social class

The social gradient of smoking may be an important aspect of interpreting the stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking. It is a well known that those in the most socially and economically disadvantaged classes have higher smoking prevalence and are less likely to quit compared to others. Prior to the introduction of the legislation in Scotland, areas of socio-economic disadvantage were less likely to have smoking policies in place compared to more affluent areas [53] and after its implementation researchers highlighted the provision of less suitable facilities (little or no shelter) for smokers in disadvantages communities. [53] Therefore, disadvantaged classes may be most affected by the introduction of the legislation.

Social interaction at work [65], within groups [68] and communities [101] is also important in understanding smoking behaviours. The social disapproval of smoking is highly gendered, with pregnant women being amongst the most demonised and disparaged smokers. The smoke-free workplace legislation may create more negative situations for women than for men. A woman may feel intimidated or at risk while in the smoking area of a pub on her own or in the company of strangers. It has been argued that social factors, in this case the smoke-free legislation and the accompanying social unacceptability of smoking, may be more influential on women's smoking behaviour that on men [207] and that women who smoke are more responsive than men to negative environmental factors [208] such as SHS. Although differential behavioural and social responses will be more likely for women than for men and for different socioeconomic groups, [209] we do not intend to examine the specific different gender or class issues related to the smoke-free legislation in this study.

Conceptual model of stigmatisation

This work has identified stigma among smokers and aspires to identify what, if any, contribution the smoke-free legislation has had on this component of denormalisation. De-normalisation first appeared in California in the 1990's; these tactics were initially deployed focusing on the tobacco industry's deceptive character and the hazardous nature of their products [210]. Its method, largely endorsed by the Public Health discipline, uses policies and interventions to influence social norms around the tobacco industry and tobacco products [210]. Nowadays, de-normalising policies, including smoke-free legislation, extent far beyond attacks on the industry but have moved towards smokers themselves. Tactics now include how smokers affect others and efforts to exclude smokers from the community. How the intricate relationship between de-normalisation and stigma plays out as result of such public policy must be of importance to public health in many ways including how it may compound existing health inequalities and in terms of smokers accessing cessation services.

Erving Goffman [88] is generally credited as the original writer on stigma. In spite of two decades of intense social science research on the concept of stigma, no commonly agreed definition of stigma has emerged. Indeed, the concept has been criticised for being too vaguely defined and individually focused. In response to these criticisms, Link & Phelan [199] developed and refined the ideas of Jones (*et al.*, 1984)[211] and Goffman [88] and offers a definition of stigma which incorporates an overview of the public health consequences of stigma from a sociological perspective. Their proposed concept of stigma involves the co-occurrence of component parts namely – labelling, stereotyping, separation, status loss, discrimination and power.

Firstly, people distinguish and label human differences. In the second, dominant cultural beliefs link labelled persons to undesirable characteristics- creating a negative stereotype; as Goffman [88] describes 'from a whole and usual person to a tainted, discounted one'. In the third, labelled persons are placed in distinct categories so as to accomplish some degree of separation of "us" from "them." In the fourth, labelled persons experience status loss and discrimination. Structural discrimination forms one component of discrimination in Link & Phelan's [199] conceptualisation of stigma and is of most relevance to the smoke-free legislation. This component of stigma affects the structure around the person, leading the person to be exposed to a host of untoward circumstances. It can present in many forms including, institutional racism among minority groups; a disabling environment; or confinement to disadvantaged settings. In the context of the smoke-free legislation, smoking areas may be considered a stigmatised structural facility for smokers and smoking; these facilities may be poorly resourced and found in undesirable locations. Finally, Link and Phelan's conceptualisation of stigma is entirely dependent on social, economic and political power and the extent of this power. Tobacco control advocates, trade unions (e.g. Mandate), the general public and many others had a role in executing such power in Ireland in bringing about the introduction of the smoke-free legislation which has real consequences for smokers. It is not clear if the smoke-free legislation, which physically separated smokers, had any impact on the stigma felt by smokers once it was successfully introduced.

The Changing Irish pub culture: Exiling of smokers or emergence of a new smoking culture

Ireland is well known for its 'pub' and 'drink' culture. The smoke-free legislation led to most publicans adapting their premises to provide smoking areas. This change was predicted to create a new pub culture within Ireland with possible negative outcomes such as a 'spoilt atmosphere' and disruption or discontinuity to the social flow [53]. Thompson [205] introduces the term 'smoking islands' which, like smoking areas, can be seen as places where smokers are categorised and physically separated (geo-power) into a particular location. It was suggested that these smoking areas and smoking on the streets (if facilities were not available) may have become areas for 'shamed groups' [88]. Conversely, it may be argued, instead of 'exiling smokers' these smoking areas may become an extension of the pub not solely for the purposes of smoking but also facilitating smoking as a 'social lubricant'. For example a cigarette or a light offered or accepted serves to break the ice' [81] leading to the idea of flirting and smoking (smirting; Hilton *et al.*, [206]) or a 'smokers club' [209]. In addition to providing a 'smokers club', these areas may also be attractive to non-smokers to 'flirt', potentially lowering or removing the stigmatising impacts of being 'put out' for smokers.

Stigma can exist to differing degrees. The labelling can be prominent, which affects the stereotype and degree of separation. Therefore some people may be more stigmatised than others. Research has examined how smokers and smoking behaviour is stigmatised. However, studies which examine stigma in the light of a policy change or specifically national smoke-free workplace legislation are mostly drawing on experiences in Scotland or England [53, 203-204, 206, 212-213]. Understandably, the focus of these studies has been on smokers and ex-smokers. However, this paper attempts to add another dimension by also examining the possible consequences for non-smokers. The introduction of the smoke-free legislation in pubs and restaurants in the Republic of Ireland provided a unique opportunity to explore the social consequences of smoking restrictions and the relocation of smoking to smoking areas in the pub.

The overall aim of the study was to examine whether, and in what ways, the introduction of the smoke-free legislation contributed to de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smoking behaviour. This paper uses the components of stigma as conceptualised by Link & Phelan [199] to guide the analysis regarding the occurrence of stigma and to provide insight into the possible intensification of smoking as a stigmatised behaviour, specifically in the context of the geographical re-location of smoking to smoking areas in pubs. We also examine evidence for changed social behaviour of smokers and non-smokers in these smoking areas and their attitudes towards the smoke-free legislation.

Methodology and Method

A qualitative method of data collection was chosen as it is appropriate to help understand social phenomena in natural settings with emphasis placed on the meanings, experiences, and views of all the participants. Qualitative methods examine the subjective experiences of individuals and help to understand emerging trends in society [108]. We used an interpretative methodology. It centres on the ways in which humans make sense of their subjective reality and attach meaning to it [109]. Individuals lives are considered within their life context and not within a vacuum [109].

Sampling

In order to examine the potential consequences of the smoke-free legislation for smokers and non-smokers in the context of the pub it was important that participants had experience of pub culture before the smoke-free legislation was introduced. Therefore, participants must have lived in Ireland before and after the smoke-free legislation was implemented. We aimed to achieve a purposive sample with gender balance and equal numbers of smokers, ex-smokers and never smokers from any occupational group and from different age groups within the age range 22 and 45 years. Participants had to be at least 22 years old, so as to have experience of being in a pub before the smoke-free legislation (legal age to drink in pubs in Ireland is 18 years plus 4 years since introduction of smoke-free legislation). Restricting the range of viewpoints represented to those of younger people was also justified as changes in their smoking culture are more likely to influence cessation, potentially cause reductions in smoking initiation rates, and perhaps signal a major shift in smoking culture for the future. Older age group's view (aged >45 years), while important in determining the true extent of the impacts of the legislation, are likely to be quite divergent from the age group included here. A separate study and sample would be required to capture the views and experiences of the older Irish adult. In support of this decision Hilton et al., [206] indicated that older men, in particular, had different experiences and challenges due to the smoke-free legislation than younger adults (< 45 years).

Smoking status was determined by self-report. The aim was to reflect the variety of experiences of smokers and non-smokers following the introduction of the smoke-free legislation rather than to lay claim of the prevalence of particular viewpoints.

Several options for recruiting participants were considered and rejected including college campus and at pubs. Mainly for safety reasons the pub was rejected as a recruitment location or for interviews. College campus recruitment would have biased the results as the age range would be very narrow and many participants could potentially be from middle to higher social classes. We decided to recruit participants from the offices of the national training and employment authority (FAS) in Cork city. FAS services typically attract a variety of occupational groups. This training centre is accessed by those currently unemployed and those employed hoping to gain further training. We believed that this sample provided a diversity of views and had the potential to over-represent those from lower social groups whom are more likely to smoke and have access to poor smoking facilities. Agreement was sought from FAS and a link person provided a room and distributed fliers advertising the study via email and in the FAS office. The most successful recruitment process was when either BM or SM were on site at the FAS office and approached participants directly for participation -this approach also helped facilitate a gender and age balance in the candidates recruited. Recruiting from this site gave access to a large volume of people and gave a good chance of recruiting within our required age range. The majority of participants were interviewed in the FAS offices just after recruitment. Participants were recruited via an advertisement which was distributed through an email from FAS, on notice boards in FAS and directly by a researcher while at the FAS offices.

Data collection

Semi-structured interviews were chosen to explore contextual accounts of smoking and participants' experiences of smoking areas since the introduction of the smokefree legislation. The interviews were conducted between May and August 2008 (4 years after the implementation of the smoke-free legislation). Ethical approval was obtained from the clinical research ethics committee of the Cork Teaching Hospitals. Written information was provided regarding the project and participants were made aware that participation in the study was voluntary. Participants were informed that they would be given a voucher of 40 euro for their time after the interview was completed. Interviews were conducted (by one of two researchers (BM/SM)), with written informed consent, either in the FAS offices or once recruited at FAS were interviewed later on the university campus. The interviewers were committed public health researchers, and were thus reflective of their personal and professional position regarding smoking and the legislation. They were open to opponents of the legislation and other negative aspects of the legislation.

Eighteen semi-structured interviews were conducted, 9 were male and 9 were female (see table 1). It was difficult to identify ex-smokers who had quit because of the law and our study included only one quitting since the law. This participant had wanted to quit before and not just because of the law. Non-smokers included never smokers and ex-smokers. Ex-smokers were not analysed separately for any particular theme. Interviews were completed until little 'new' or saturation was achieved. It was judged by BM, SM & BG that little 'new' was emerging after the completion of between the 15th-18th interviews.

Table 1 Characteristics of participants n=10					
	Smokers	Ex-smokers	Never smoker	22-33yrs	34-45yrs
Males	5	1	3	7	2
Females	4	2	3	5	4

 Table 1 Characteristics of participants n=18

Table 1 above provides general demographics of the participants. Occupations and/or educational achievements were obtained in some cases after the interview and some were still unknown. Three of the males had college education, three had manual/trade occupations and three had unknown educational or employment history. Six of the women interviewed had a college education, two had manual/trade occupations and 1 was unknown. Age range and college education were not used in the analysis and are presented here for information purposes only.

Interviews were conducted by two researchers (BM and SM) using 1 of 2 topic guides (see appendix 5). A topic guide is used as an outline of key issues and areas of questioning used to guide the interview. It was intended that the same general areas of information were collected from each interviewee; this allowed a degree of freedom and adaptability in gaining information from the interviewee.

A pre-test of the topic guide were undertaken. Since the final version of the topic guide only varied slightly from this pre-test version, we later included these recorded interviews (n=2) in the final analysis. Separate topic guides were generated for smokers and non-smokers.

Development of the topic guide

The topic guides were broadly based on the literature around stigmatisation and denormalisation of smoking. The literature review did have a specific focus on stigma. However, we feel that, since stigma is considered a component of de-normalisation, we captured both concepts within this work. The main bodies of work explored for development of the stigma aspect of the topic guide were Goffman[88], Chapman & Freeman[26, 214], Poland[214-215], Farrimound & Joffi[209] and Thompson[72]¹. Key words and phrases as identifiers of stigma and de-normalisation were largely informed by these papers. The Link and Phelan conceptualisation of stigmatisation was discovered and applied to the data after collection.

We also included questions we specifically wanted to explore which were generated through the quantitative research, as part of the SmoFrI study published elsewhere on smoking behaviour, risk perception, attitudes towards the legislation etc.

Self reported smokers and ex-smokers were asked to provide a brief history of their smoking and how their behaviour was influenced by the implementation of the smoke-free legislation (both initial and sustained), these data were not collected for non-smokers. The topic guide explored participants'

1) attitude to and experiences of the smoke-free legislation in pubs (these were sought chronologically to enable participants to recount their experiences from just before, the time of introduction and since). This included changes in smoking patterns for smokers.

2) opinions and attitudes towards smoking and towards other people who smoke (i.e. active and passive smoking) generally and with particular emphasis on the context of the pub. Discussions around and comparisons to other social setting did arise but were not systematically addressed in detail.

¹ Key publications from Ritchie *et al.*, 2010 and Hargreaves *et al.*, 2010 were not published at this time

3) Participants were asked about a range of identifiers of stigma throughout the interview (shame, guilt, regret, uncomfortable, normal, outsider). These identifiers were generated after a literature review.

4) Participants were asked a series of questions to explore changes in pub culture as a consequence of the smoke-free legislation including the new spatial separation (smoking rooms/areas) of smokers from non-smokers. Included were attitudes towards SHS in smoking rooms, 'smirting' and the notion of non-smokers occupying the smoking areas.

Interviews were digitally recorded and then transcribed. In order to protect their confidentiality participants were given pseudonyms to protect their anonymity. The interviews lasted between 30 and 60 minutes. Non-smokers' interviews were generally shorter because a smoking history was not applicable. To maintain confidentiality, the interview tapes and transcripts were placed in a locked drawer, with access available to the research team only.

Analysis

The objective of the study was to examine the experiences of individuals since the introduction of the smoke-free legislation. Therefore, an interpretive methodology was utilised. A thematic analysis, which is an inductive process of data analysis, was carried out [199]. Each interview was read and the topic guide was used as an initial framework.

Link and Phelan's six components of stigmatisation [199] were identified as a useful supplement to the pre-existing identifiers of stigma (shame, guilt, regret, uncomfortable, normal, outsider) which were developed from the literature review. The Link and Phelan components also provided a structure to help identify and interpret the key themes related to the stigma analysis. Each theme was examined separately in relation to smoking and the overlap between the components acknowledged.

The components were: 1) Label, 2) Stereotyping, 3) Status Loss, 4) Discrimination, 5) Power and

6) Separation – separation emerged as the primary theme in relation to the smokefree legislation. As it was a central theme, the results section focuses on this component. Sub-themes, which emerged during the process, were created to facilitate the analysis and presentation of the results.

The themes were derived independently by BM and SM and agreed upon within the study group (BM, SM & BG). NVivo 8 software aided in the coding and the development of the themes. Given the small sample size involved, an analysis was done manually in the end. Each theme was examined separately and the overlap between the components was acknowledged and agreed (overlap occurred in particular between SHS exposure in general and when asked about risk perception of SHS). Key themes were identified based on participants' views of smoking and SHS, stigmatisation and exiling of smokers, smoking areas, the smoke-free legislation in general, the pub as a place to socialise and behaviour changes. BM and SM agreed on the key themes and sub-themes. Minority views were discussed and attempts were made to account for them in the analysis.

Results

This study identified attitudes of smokers and non-smokers and their changes over the time in respect of the introduction and establishment of the smoke-free workplace legislation.

Attitudes and opinions in relation to the ban

In retrospect, the smoke-free legislation in Ireland was slurred as being 'unworkable'. Many voiced concerns about policing, negative consequences such as pub closure, loss of employment and an end to the pub culture in Ireland [73, 216].

I think that in general initially the Irish probably thought, "Oh this is never going to work," *Tom, male, ex-smoker, 34 years*

Initially my reaction to it was positive. I said, "My God that's going to be great." But I didn't hold out much hope for it. I thought it was one of these things that wouldn't it be great but look sure it's Ireland. There's no *way* they're ever going to get this through.

Kate, female, ex-smoker, 35 years

Soon after implementation, some participants felt the law was unfair on smokers and some non-smokers felt sorry for smokers, particularly if the weather conditions were poor and smokers had to go outside to smoke. Of note was the perceived sense of injustice and pity towards older smokers. I don't think it affected younger people as much as it did older people like.

Trish, Female, smoker, 26 years

Like the older people going into the bars, they wouldn't be going into them as much as they used to like, maybe. they're older and they have to get up and out the back to have a smoke and stuff.

Peter, male, smoker 25 years

Despite this injustice voiced after the legislation by smokers and sympathetic nonsmokers, an overriding majority agreed that the ban was necessary to protect nonsmokers. It was for the overall good and it had been a great success. Official statistics on enforcement and compliance from the Irish Office of Tobacco Control suggested that that smoking in pubs was a 'fragile prevailing norm'. Some studies identified that smokers had regret for starting to smoke [217] and many wish to quit (at some point in the future). It may be assumed that some were even glad of the incentive the law provided to cut down or quit smoking.

Stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking

Evidence of perceived stigma and the intensification of stigma specifically due to the introduction of the smoke-free legislation in this data were examined using the Link and Phelan components as a guide to analysis. The six components are outlined below and interpreted with reference to the smoke-free legislation in Irish pubs.

Separation

Separation emerged as the most important component of the Link & Phelan conceptualisation of stigma related to the smoke-free legislation. This component will be discussed in detail below mostly under the heading 'smoking areas'. We will also take a unique look at the consequences of this separation for both smokers and non-smokers.

Label

Here 'label' refers to individuals being categorised into groups; both smokers and non-smokers can be considered labelled groups. Non-smokers in the most part remained in the smoke-free area as smokers are obliged to re-locate to a designated smoking area to smoke which automatically labels anyone in these areas as smokers. It will be evident later that this label is situational and may vary in intensity and also lead to mislabelling. As the now smoke-free area of the pub does not have the smell of cigarettes, the smell from smokers may be more intense. Many participants were labelled smokers based on their smell.

I hate the smell of cigarettes off someone when they come in (after cigarette). Joan, Female, ex-social smoker, 35 years

Smell, or lack of, was one of the predominant favourable outcomes cited, reflecting the support for the smoke-free legislation among smokers and nonsmokers; there was not any nasty smells, odour left on them (clothes, hair)(after attending the pub). *Joan, Female, ex-social smoker, 35 years*

It's (the smoke-free legislation) kind of like separated people. And you're kind of labelled as well in a way like. You're the smoker or you're the non-smoker or you're all kind of...you didn't notice it as much. You didn't use those labels as much I think. *Mary, female, never smoker, approx 27 years*

Stereotyping

Stereotyping refers to judgment made by others. Some smokers were 'stigma conscious', particularly due to the health and financial costs of smoking. Others referred to the 'stereotype threat' felt when meeting new people, disclosing their behaviour, and when socialising with prominently non-smokers.

I thinkthat ah smoking is being looked at as a little bit anti-social; certainly unhealthy and ah certainly economically very expensive.....at the end of the day it's a personal choice...

Tom, Male, ex- smoker, 34 years

(Meeting) boyfriend's parents and they asked, they found out that you smoke. You know I think it's kind of like, "Oh God she's a smoker." You know that would be a kind of awkward...I don't know if I really say awkward would be the word I'd use but kind of a sense of shame maybe as opposed to awkwardness.....I would never smoke out walking publically on my own somewhere.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

Being out on a social occasion with groups of people who don't smoke and then you are the person going outside the door for a cigarette. It's actually you know, I associate it with a sign of weakness

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

Status loss

Here what is meant by status loss is a decrease in hierarchy status. Smokers seemed, in some instances, conscious of their 'deviant behaviour' and referred to what they saw as the social significance of their behaviour:

smoking is such a taboo thing

Trish, Female, smoker, 26 years

You know that I actually was doing such a low life thing, you know like smoking a cigarette like.

Joan, Female, ex-social smoker, 35 years

but it would never be publicly because I just think it looks horrible to see somebody (smoking), a girl, especially a girl, a man can tend to get away with it actually.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

I think it was completely normal, but I do think that it's become a real, you know...something you know for the vanquished people... it has become a poor kind of social choice *James, Male, smoker, 37 years*

You know like smoking is a very selfish thing....I'm not ashamed about that I'm a smoker. I love them.you should have respect for other people again the hygiene and the smell and because you smoke you don't have to make everybody know it or smell it.

Aisleen, Female, smoker, 41 years

Discrimination

This theme includes rights of smokers and non-smokers, rejection of smokers by non-smokers and the movement of smokers to a smoking area creating one component of discrimination, 'structural discrimination', which will be discussed later under the theme of separation. From the data there was no evidence of obvious rejection of smokers by non-smokers.

Most participants acknowledged the rights of smokers to smoke and for nonsmokers to have a smoke-free environment.

I think people are entitled to smoke.....I think that they're (non-smokers) entitled to go in and sit in the pub without having to take in secondary smoke. *Mick, Male, non-smoker, 26 years*

Most participants also felt that the rights of smokers were up-held with the provision of smoking areas. It was not the smoker who was discriminated against, but the second-hand smoke as a product of smoking. it's not banning people from smoking, it's just where (they smoke) Mick, Male, non-smoker, 26 years

(Smoke-free legislation/law is) not there to kind of stop you from smoking. I think they're just guidelines to say that passive smoking and things like that are detrimental to people within an area so you know, if you want to have a cigarette you know go outside.

Tom, Male, ex- smoker, 34 years

Power

The smoke-free legislation provided the potential for non-smokers (stigmatiser) to exercise power over smokers (stigmatised) in so far as it became illegal to be exposed to SHS in enclosed spaces including the pub. Non-smokers rights were firmly justified by the law.

smoking is a choice and no matter how much they complain about it (smokefree legislation), it's just tough. I mean it's our health as well as theirs and if we don't want them to smoke around us then get out, *Anne, Female, non-smoker, 24 years*

As we will discuss later some non-smokers went to the smoking areas with smokers. Again this is viewed, in most cases, as a *right* exercised by non-smokers and facilitated by the smoke-free law.

If I am near a smoker now it's my choice that I'm near a smoker rather then as I say, having the right to light up next to me and me not having any recourse to say, "Look, that's illegal or stop you're not allowed do it," you know. *Kate, female, ex- smoker, 35 years*

The above quotation also illustrates the power this public health measure had on an individual's choice. On the one hand, smokers now had less choice in where they smoked (as opposed to being able to smoke in most pubs before) and the measure also provided choices for non-smokers if they wanted or did not want to be exposed to SHS exposure.

Impact of the geographical relocation of smokers to the smoking area on smokers' stigma

The consequences of the law for smokers and non-smokers were largely positive, most reflected on the lack of smell of SHS from hair and clothes, some smokers smoked less and most highlighted the benefits of 'good' smoking areas in terms of socialising and reduced noise. However, there were sustained negative aspects of the ban over time for smokers, particularly in relation to poor smoking facilities, where visibility of the smoker intensified and poor weather conditions compounded negative feelings or stigma.

Smoking areas

Visibility

Soon after the enactment of the law, smokers felt more visible on the streets and outside pubs, non-smokers also noted this visibility.

I have to say because you've got passing traffic, you know and I think, "Oh my God! Someone see me at the door here," you know. So I prefer smoking rooms, like definitely. *Eithne, Female, occasional smoker, 25 years*

The delay in providing facilities for smokers was most likely due to publicans concerns around the success of the legislation and if the need for smoking areas was to be realised. In order to attract new customers and to retain and satisfy existing customers, publicans who had space, constructed facilities for smoking. It will be discussed, how the publicans who constructed 'good' smoking facilities may have unintentionally undermined the potential impacts of the smoke-free legislation on smoking behaviour and stigmatisation.

When asked to reflect on visibility four years after the law, the situation seemed to change for most with the provision of good smoking facilities for patrons of pubs. However, it is not clear from these results if smokers just sought out favourable facilities and avoided pubs where they felt conscious of their visibility. In some instances the felt visibility of smoking faded for some as it became the norm to smoke on the street or as specific facilities were provided out of view.

I suppose that you just see the groups standing outside the doors of bars and restaurants and stuff like that, but I wouldn't pay that much attention because it's been a couple of years and you see it all the time now.

Frank, male, non-smoker, 33 years

The quality of these smoking facilities were essential in meeting the varying needs of smokers and non-smokers, in the understanding of the possible emergence of a new pub culture in Ireland and in the interpretation of the possible processes of stigmatisation in pubs.

Separation and 'the putting out' of smokers and their smoking

Linked with the above visibility was the physical separation or 'division' of smokers from non-smokers and the feeling of being 'put out'.

ahh the people inside not smoking and the people outside smoking, so there's a kind of a division now, you know.... you would yeah some pubs you would certainly feel like an outsider, yeah.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

Just because we were put out as smokers, it's definitely for the overall good, you know. It's a dirty, filthy habit you know at the end of the day, you know. *Noel, Male, smoker, 22 years*

Smokers felt separated from the social group and their absence was visible or noted by others. The removal of smokers to a smoking room/area may have created stigmatised 'smoking islands'. However, stigmatisation of smokers and the smoking areas may be situational, and dependent on the type and quality of the smoking area available.

Separation of smokers as dependent on the quality of the facilities

Standards or conditions of the smoking island (room/area) influenced the degree of stigmatisation of the island itself and that of its occupants.

It was evident from the interviews that there were huge variations in the standard of smoking areas made available in Republic of Ireland. Smoking areas will be broadly characterised in the following three ways. Firstly, as a designated largely enclosed space (e.g. roof, awing, walls, Perspex glass), with some or all of the following: heaters, seating, bar, music, permission to consume alcohol. Secondly, as an open space with some coverage from the weather, may have heaters, seating, bar, music, you may be allowed to consume alcohol. Finally, an area outside the pub (front or back door), with little or no facilities or protection from the weather. In most cases the designated smoking room/area was a newly constructed extension to the pub purpose built for smoking.

Many respondents referred to the smoking area as a new area or extension of the pub viewed in either a positive or negative way depending on the standard of the facilities available.

it's comfy it's like an extra room onto the pub.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

The smoking areas with high levels of SHS were labelled negatively by both smokers and non-smokers. Structural discrimination may apply here in smoking areas that are architecturally poor.

I saw one (smoking room) where it looked ridiculous. It was glass cage inside the bar. It was all, I mean you looked like you were at the zoo....it was actually very small and very poorly ventilated.

Liam, Male, smoker, 25 years

a Perspex house basically – a room and it was just clouds of smoke, you couldn't see anything..... Yeah it was sickening like..... It's an absolutely horrible thing. It's disgusting...... Because you can't even breathe. There's just I don't know you just what's the point in that like? John, Male, occasional smoker, 31 years

the glasshouse thing is just a bit toxic. A chimney like, do you know what I mean? They have the one in the XX is ridiculous like. I mean you go in there like and it's like you are overcome within two seconds like. *Mick, Male, non-smoker, 26 years*

really tiny smoking areas and it's just smelly and horrible so you don't really want to be out there for every long.....just have air vents but it's just like being in a little cage and it's not very healthy or nice to do that. *Clare, Female, Smoker, 25 years*

Most of these 'glasshouses' or 'cages' met the functional needs of smokers. Outside spaces with little or no protection from the weather (rain in particular) also provided a functional space. Again we saw evidence of structural discrimination in the poor facilities provided for smokers. These results suggest that poor facilities can be seen to intensify the formation of shamed smoking groups.

It's literally you go in to have your cigarette and to come back out

Trish, Female, smoker, 26 years

There are times when you stand outside the door and you are you..the vanquished, you know if the weather's not ah hospitable...., it can be tough....smoking outside.

James, Male, smoker, 37 years

You kind of felt sorry for the smokers during a winter's night that they'd be going out, you know. Yeah, that's about it really. *Kate, female, ex- smoker, 35 years* If however conditions in the smoking room were good or adequate the smoking room was viewed positively by smokers and non-smokers. If conditions on the island (room/area) were favourable, non-smokers often accompanied smokers in the smoking area.

Other (smoking areas) then are palatial, they're fabulous! They've got heaters and spot lights and candles and everything really... an ambiance that is more fun.

Kate, female, ex- smoker, 35 years

they have nice leather couches....a table, you can bring out your drinks and sit down and have a meal out there with your cigarette. They even provide games if you're bored and ahhhh

Liam, Male, smoker, 25 years

the most gorgeous smoking area ever. It's a canopy outside and there's couches, cushions everywhere and plants – you really feel like you're in the jungle or something! And heat lamps and...it's really nice, a really good atmosphere, really well maintained.

Mary, female, never smoker, approx 27 years

(pub) is unbelievable... lovely out there. It's all leather seating and there's flat screens and there's a barand there's plants and everything and a big fire wall. It's lovely actually. It's nearly a quarter of the bar, of the whole place! *Peter, Male, Smoker, 25 years*

So she'd (non-smoker friend) rather come in (smoking room) with us then to stand outside (pub). *Trish, Female, smoker, 26 years*

Camaraderie among smokers and the opportunity for non-smokers to experience 'smirting'

The introduction of smoking areas and the need for smokers to leave the pub to smoke were predicted to result in a 'spoilt atmosphere' and a disruption to social interactions. As pointed out by some scholars, the findings of the present study suggest that as a consequence of the re-location of smoking to designated smoking areas, smokers joined together in solidarity as shamed groups and found solace in the introduction of 'smirting', smoking and flirting, into the Irish social scene [206, 218-219].

So you have like a comrade in them (other smokers), you know, so yeah. Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

there's the general camaraderie coming into to it because no matter where you were, with whoever in a sense, you can always kind of go out and have a smoke and there's someone else out there having a smoke too who you can

ummm kind of talk to... you can relate to because you're smokingif anyone else comes out you are doing the same thing. *Noel, Male, smoker, 22 years*

it's literally a locals bar and everybody knows each other in there, so if you're going out for a cigarette, there's a bunch of them that go out together......(if the smokers went to a pub that was not their regular pub)...I think it would have an effect if they had to go out onto the street to smoke if there wasn't a smoking room or a beer garden or something like that. I think it would make them feel slightly more self conscious then.

Anne, Female, non-smoker, 24 years

In some instances non-smokers were happy to accompany smokers and benefited from their

experience in the smoking room.

there's a whole big social side now around smoking outdoors. I mean I've got, some of my friends who don't smoke and they go out with me when I go out for a cigarette at the pub because they think it's the place you meet someone, you know, that you'll get chatting with somebody and there is....seems to be a kind of, yeah well a kind of more interesting group of people outside smoking than there is inside and ahhh it's become a very social kind of thing again, going outside for a cigarette and chatting to people because you get chatting to all sorts of people when you're having a cigarette.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

To stand outside now it's as easy to talk to a stranger as it is to your friend, you know? And there is, there really is, definitely happens. That is definitely something that is completely to do with the Ban.

James, Male, smoker, 37 years

I think the atmosphere is slightly alth there's a slight release in the smoking area. And there genuinely seems to be more...lightness there.... I think it just gives people something to do you know. To just go from A to B and to step out into the night and in again,

James, Male, smoker, 37 years

Both smokers and non-smokers provided evidence of positive social interaction when spending time in a smoking area. The smoking area was seen as a place to meet other people, including strangers (smirting) and to have conversations (less noise). 'Smirting' is understood to mean smoking and flirting however evidence existed here of flirting among non-smokers who are in the smoking area for this reason, to flirt.

Potential for non-smokers to experience exclusion if they do not join smokers in the smoking area.

Non-smokers can be sympathetic (Goffman's 'the wise') of smokers' needs and have pity for them when they are 'put out' in bad weather to smoke. However, this

sympathy alone may not explain why non-smokers join smokers in the smoking areas. Perhaps non-smokers, in some instances, risk social exclusion if they do not go out to the smoking area with smokers. Our data suggest that some non-smokers felt obliged to join smoker friends in the smoking room or risk exclusion.

A new dating room, yeah Joan, Female, ex-social smoker, 35 years

she (non smoker) would be looking in at us, you know, that sort of a way. You're not going to sit there on the outside looking in at us all having a cigarette and a laugh and a joke, like.

Trish, Female, smoker, 26 years

There'd be groups of people outside and people would be saying it's a great way to met people standing outside the door to have cigarette like but I'd say now it's just kind of the done thing..... they're talking to people that they wouldn't be talking to you know within the pub, so I think there actually is a kind of social thing there,

Frank, Male, Non-smoker, 25 years

but it really does separate groups though.... And I find being the non-smoker I end up sitting on my own and the whole thing has moved outside....so I go out (to smoking area) *Joanne, Female, non-smoker, 35 years*

but the one thing that can be annoying sometimes is this you know. If you're with people and most of my friends would be smokers, they smoke and they go outside and I'm kind of sitting there with dust balls going round. Where's everyone gone? So sometimes I feel like I have to go out....just so I won't be sitting like an eejit on my own waiting for people to come back. *Mick, Male, non-smoker, 26 years*

I thought it (smoke-free legislation) was great! I was so excited and by that I mean I am asthmatic and I have to take a few inhalers... But then I didn't realise at the time I would spend most my time in smoking area with friends...(at start of the smoke-free legislation while in university)

Mary, female, never smoker, approx 27 years

Smoke-free legislation and the interplay with smoking behaviour change

Our data suggest that uncomfortable smoking facilities and poor weather conditions intensify de-normalisation of smoking. In certain situations these poor conditions also intensify stigma in terms of separation, discrimination and underlines the power exerted on smokers by the new social norm (and law) to not smoke in certain places. The following analysis also provides evidence that these negative conditions impacted smoking patterns and specific adaptations of smokers and non-smokers to the law. Some smokers acknowledged the practice of chain smoking before the law was in place in pubs and alluded to the unconscious nature of their behaviour. Having to go out to smoke served as a motivational tool for some to reduce the amount they smoke in this social settings. This reduced amount is most likely in-line with the smokers' routine daily consumption (when not at the pub). For some, the reduction in consumption was welcomed.

A silver lining- potential masking of stigma

Others reflected on their reduced consumption as a constructive result to a regrettable situation that 'discourages' smoking in an ever increasing number of places.

You, it's not as bad as when it came in at first because there's you know there's more facilities. I don't know if there should be more facilities or people would have given up if there weren't facilities made for it. I would have probably chain smoked (pre-ban). You know if you are sitting in the pub and you are with your friends and your cigarettes are next to you and you just keep smoking and you know you don't take any notice because you are drinking as well. So this, it is better that you have to have a think about when you want to go for a cigarette and if you can go and if you want to go. It is easier to forget about it and not smoke since the Smoking Ban, yeah.

Clare, female, smoker 25 years

Less, less because you just didn't want to get up and leave the group on your own, you know. You'd say, "Ere feck it. I'll stay in and not have..." Sure when you were able to smoke in the pub.... you'd be lighting one after the other after the other, you know? It was ridiculous actually yeah. Whereas now it's a case of you might light one every two or three hours or something or you know because you have to actually make a conscious effort to get up, go find the smoking area and go out and smoke now. So it's a little bit of hard work, you know.(Ban) has limited your choice (of where to smoke). You have to find a place to go to have a cigarette now and it's becoming more and more limited all the time, you know..... Anything that will help me, discourage me to smoke. I thought it was a great thing, yeah.

Eithne, Female, occasional Smoker, 25 years

The reduction in consumption was seen as positive in some respects but participants felt restricted and felt some form of injustice as they could not freely consume cigarettes in the comfort of the pub to their albeit 'ridiculous' pre-law rates.

Adaptations to the ban: Smoker acquired their nicotine level faster

Our data provides evidence of the impact of poor smoking facilities and poor weather in relation to smoking practices. Smokers' changed their smoking habits by rushing their cigarettes and smoke less (compared to pre-legislation levels). Definitely you would smoke less if say like it is in Ireland a lot raining, you go outside and there's no smoking room or no canopy and you're standing outside the pub having a smoke and you don't want to be out there like because it's just you being put outside because you're smoking, you know what I mean? So it would kind of make you smoke the cigarette faster because you'd get soaked and you would smoke less because you don't want to go out and get soaked every time.

Noel, male, smoker, 22 years

You'd smoke less all right. Yeah oh without a doubt because like look at the weather outside, you're not going to stay outside for long are you? You'd smoke less or ummm John, male, smoker, 31 years

Adaptation to the ban: Smokers found comfort in the smoking area and smoked to pre-legislation rates

The impact of good facilities and/or good weather had on the social experience and the smoking consumption rates of smokers is significant. Where the facilities were considered favourable smokers would smoke to pre-law levels and the potential stigma in terms of discrimination was removed.

'You'll find a spot, you know if the weather is anyway good, you'll find a table and the group of you would sit around and stay outside for the night. So then again you're going to smoke as much as you would have done if the Ban wasn't even in.' *Eithne, female, occasional smoker, 25 years*

'but then again they brought in the all these areas where you could smoke then though. So sometimes those are livelier than the pub itself so then you go out there and you'd find that you'd smoke more then again.

John, male, smoker, 31 years

Discussion

This research set out to investigate the specific consequences of the smoke-free legislation on stigmatisation of smokers and de-normalisation of smoking behaviour. It also explores the dynamic perspective on the processes of de-normalisation and stigmatisation as they may have changed over time. This work adds to a limited body of work on stigma generation via public policy. It attempts to address some issue raised by Chapman and Freeman [26] on the role of cultural change on de-normalisation of smoking. Firstly, I will discuss the potential interrelationship between de-normalisation and stigma with respect of the smoke-free legislation, and then I will discuss aspects of the specific results of this paper.

De-normalisation and stigmatisation are considered important strategies in tobacco control [26, 220]. Constructing behaviour in a more unacceptable way reduces its normality over time, and as the behaviour becomes more unacceptable the components of stigma (for example as identified by Link & Phelan) become more apparent and the behaviour may become more of a focus of stigmatisation. It has been argued that stigmatisation as a component of de-normalisation has, however, the potential to intensify existing social and health inequalities and may therefore be not a desirable strategy for public health interventions.

The interplay between de-normalisation and stigma can be understood to be evolving, dynamic with differences between the two concepts indistinct at times. Smoke-free legislation are considered de-normalising policies, some [26, 209, 214] identify the potential of such policies to have stigmatising effects on smokers. Denormalising policies can vary from tax increases to smoke-free environments. It is likely that as the target of the policy moves from a universal policy (applies to all smokers equally e.g. tax increase) to one which has more group differences (age, social class & gender e.g. smoke-free legislation) the potential for intensified stigma increases. It is also likely that in a country such as Ireland where there are historical and continual efforts to de-normalise smoking accessibility (price, age limit, point of sale advertising, marketing) and usability (smoke-free areas), there may also be an increase in sensitivity to stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking; as a sort of cumulative effect where any additional efforts can have a stigmatising effect.

The direction of the relationship could also be comprehended in reverse where stigma formation adds to overall de-normalisation efforts (potential to reduce initiation rates). The smoke-free workplace legislation, through the endorsement of inadequate facilities, presented the components of structural discrimination, labelling and separation of smokers. It also presented an opportunity for non-smokers to have power over smokers' in respect of their behaviour. The removal of smokers from the 'public realm' stigmatises smokers and their behaviour and also de-normalises smoking generally.

What is potentially of importance in respect to smoking from this paper, however, is that the intention and outcome of a de-normalising or stigmatising policy may not be inevitable or irreversible. De-normalisation and stigma associated with smoking seems to have occurred over time and to varying degrees, depending on the circumstances. More and more places in Western society are becoming smoke-free zones and taxes and initiatives are put in place in an attempt to reduce initiation rates and increase cessation rates. There are more places where smoking is not considered normal or acceptable. However, this is not to say that stigma is always inevitable or irreversible. Without sustained efforts to reduce smoking prevalence and denormalise smoking, smoking may become glamorised again and tobacco control efforts eroded. Smoking prevalence in Ireland dropped soon after the smoke-free legislation [221]. However, this decrease was not sustained over time. One explanation for this may be the provision of good smoking facilities in pubs which perhaps support glamorisation of the behaviour, may encourage non-smokers or exsmokers to start smoking; and may be a disincentive to quitting.

Although the scars of stigma for smokers can remain, in theory, the effects may not be permanent. Ritchie *et al.*, [213] described how the separation (again seen as the main component of stigma) can be temporary where smokers can re-join nonsmokers in the pub. Comfortable smoking facilities and having friends in that smoking area provide a circumstance where it is possible to have a behaviour that is less normal but in these optimum conditions does not always lead to stigmatisation of that behaviour. Therefore is it is not always inevitable that stigma follows on from de-normalisation (or that the relationship follows in that direction).

Smoker stigma seems to be intensified in those with a certain profile including females [213] and older smokers. Smokers see that there is a life course in smoking, a time in their life for quitting, such as when they have children or when they get to a certain age. Perhaps stigma intensifies when you pass these so called milestones and do not quit.

Right the minute I, you know, if I have children or whatever that's when I am going to give up; that's when I am going to stop.....I think it's (quitting) to do with age (not the ban). You get older you just want to quit because it's fine like when you are 25, you know but it's a different story as you get on, you are thinking that it's just...you stop as you get older, you start getting more health conscious,

Eithne, female, occasional smoker, 25 years

The stigma associated with smoking in pubs is at present highly situational. In some circumstance (comfortable smoking facilities) de-normalisation can be seen or understood without stigmatisation (non-smokers are in smoking area too). Nonetheless caution in using this interpretation is warranted. The examples from this data may be isolated events, may be age related and may be an optimistic view of smoking portrayed by smokers to alleviate self shaming.

Stigmatisation related to the smoke-free workplace legislation appeared to be dependent on a number of levels. Firstly, smoking is considered a stigmatised behaviour, but its visibility can vary and can be controlled in the pub setting. The label of smoker can be based on self-reporting, but can also be given when someone is seen smoking a cigarette, when there is a smell of cigarettes and more questionably, when in a smoking area. Outside of satisfying nicotine cravings, the label is arguably transient (smokers can return to the smoke-free area) and the label is largely controllable in the pub setting. The smoker may choose to leave the 'structural discrimination' of the smoking area, not to be 'separated' from others in the pub and initiate the lifting of any 'status loss'. A stigma that is visible cannot be removed or altered or somehow impacts on others, is fated to be more intensive. Due to the removal of the risk to others (i.e. SHS in the pub) some stigma assigned to and felt by smokers may have actually lessened since the law, smokers are now 'considerate' by going to a smoking area and not exposing others to SHS, therefore any feelings of stigma associated with the SHS exposure lifted.

Secondly, the rights of smokers to continue smoking and the provision of good facilities (in some cases) facilitated the behaviour to be sustained and only the place to smoke changed following the introduction of the legislation. This change had an unexpected impact on non-smokers and not just to the labelled group as would be the intention of the de-normalisation process. One scenario might involve the 'separation' of the smoker from others leaving the non-smoker alone in the pub, or another scenario where there was no 'separation' of the 'them and us' at all when the non-smokers joined smokers in the smoking room. The latter scenario suggests the norm around smoking in pubs changed for both smokers and non-smokers thus not separating the 'stigmatiser' and a 'stigmatised'.

According to compliance rates from the Irish Office of Tobacco Control and the general success of the legislation, resistance to the law can be implied to have been low. Approval of smoking in the pub may have been a weak social norm, something both smokers and non-smokers were largely unhappy with and were therefore satisfied for the change to occur (therefore no power between 'stigmatiser' and 'stigmatised').

The restrictions on smoking in the pub cannot be generalised to other smoke-free settings and that the intensification of stigma for smokers is most likely more intense in other circumstances (poor smoking facilities), in other settings (workplace, home), for males and females and for different age groups.

While using the Link & Phelan [199] conceptualisation of stigma there was evidence that stigma exists towards smokers and their smoking. However, it was not clear if this stigma was directed solely at the smoker or was combined with their behaviour (because of SHS, smell, litter etc). Evidence to support claims that smoke-free legislation intensified this stigma in pubs was varied and depended on the quality of the smoking facilities. Evidence of stigma existed for all components of Link and Phelan's [199] conceptualisation. However, the elements of labelling, stereotyping and discrimination appeared to be secondary to the element of separation which emerged as a theme of particular importance in the context of the smoke-free legislation. Findings in relation to the role of power and how non-smokers, as the potential 'stigmatisers', exert such power were varied. Non-smokers, in some instances, were empowered to say 'get out' if you want to smoke while others showed compassion to smokers and considered it a choice if they, as non-smokers, were exposed to SHS.

Relationship to other research

The smoke-free legislation was largely welcomed by smokers and non-smokers, which suggests a weak social norm around smoking, particularly in confined spaces with high levels of SHS such as those experienced before the smoke-free law in pubs. Our data suggest that separation as a component of stigma was mainly dependent on the smoking facilities. There were variations in the facilities available

to smokers in pubs and this variation resulted in deferential consequences for both smokers and non-smokers.

Perceived increased visibility among smokers was an indication of intensified stigma and was related to the poor quality of smoking areas provided; these findings have been confirmed in Scotland [53, 204]. Hargreaves *et al.*, [204] describes how visibility decreased after the legislation in many public areas except for outside pubs. Our data suggests that the legislation initially resulted in a perception of increased visibility among smokers; this was sustained for some, particularly when in a pub with poor smoking facilities and when there were poor weather conditions outside. The issue of visibility may have diminished for some overtime because it became the norm to be seen outside smoking. For others the facilities improved in the pubs so they did not have to put themselves in sight of others or perhaps smokers sought out favourable smoking facilities in a different pub.

Where the facilities were poor, these spaces largely functioned as a place to smoke, where little extra time was spent, non-smokers usually didn't accompany the smokers and the most stigma was felt by smokers. Both Hargreaves [204] and Ritchie [53] noted provision of less suitable facilities for smokers in disadvantaged localities and emphasised the important role played by the quality of facilities in constraining smoking behaviour and intensifying stigma. Chapman & Freemans [26] suggested that smoke-free legislation contributed to de-normalisation of smoking where smokers' were "exiled" from others to designated areas and induced the identity of social "lepers"; or where there was compounding of existing stigma and resultant exiling of smokers to 'fenced off cages'. Nevertheless the present study showed that where the facilities were considered good or adequate by the non-smokers and smokers, this element of stigma associated with smoking was for the most part not intensified and the pub as a place to socialise did not change, the space to socialise just moved. This evidence was echoed in Hilton *et al.*, [206].

In some instances the facilities for smokers provided an extension to the pub; a place for smokers and non-smokers to co-exist and, as also noted elsewhere, [206] where social interactions such as 'smirting' were facilitated. A sense of camaraderie among smokers was also evident in this research and was noted elsewhere [206, 222]. In addition, our evidence suggested that some smokers did not feel stigma in all circumstances. This is an interesting outcome that may be specific to the Irish pub culture that warrants further investigation in other countries. Hargreaves *et al.*, [204] work on the Scottish smoking ban spans over a year post-legislation and they mentioned the possible emergence of new comfortable smoking areas, particularly in more advantaged areas, towards the end of their data collection. These unforeseen and unexpected consequences of the smoke-free legislation may be counterproductive for tobacco control in terms of de-normalisation of smoking and increasing quit rates.

The consequences of the legislation were assumed to have been felt mostly by smokers. However, a major merit of this work was the inclusion of non-smokers in the sample. Within the selection of research which has emerged on changing social norms around smoking as a consequence of smoke-free legislation, particularly from Scotland [53, 61, 204, 212, 223], none completed analysis from the non-smokers perspective. The inclusion of non-smokers provided us with unexpected evidence of real consequences for non-smokers. Some non-smokers choose to be exposed to SHS in the smoking areas rather than risk isolation in the pub, while others choose to go to the smoking areas as the atmosphere and social interactions were better there than in the smoke-free environment (pub). Ritchie et al., [53] suggested that smokers 'rationalised the hassle of going out with stories of good social interactions'. Although this explanation could also be seen within our sample, the inclusion of the non-smoker provided unexpected experiences of non-smokers staying in the smoking areas with a smoker which suggests that perhaps some smoking areas do provide an opportunity for good social interactions. The inclusion of non-smokers also gave insight into the sympathy and understanding towards smokers, particularly when they had to smoke in poor weather conditions.

Alongside providing the potential positive outcomes of a 'social lubricant', the data here also presented feelings of guilt, shame and embarrassment among smokers because of their behaviour. The extent to which the smoke-free legislation has any effect in aggravating these feelings is unclear. It is plausible that the existence of tobacco control efforts, including health warnings pre- and post- the smoke-free legislation, contributed to intensification of the perceived stigma associated with smoking. It would also be reasonable to assume that smoking is most likely considered more acceptable in the social settings of the pub and, therefore, it may be the last place to experience stigma.

The data from this study fit very well within the Link and Phelan theoretical framework. However, this work also highlighted the limitations of the framework as the sole basis for the analysis. Although useful to identify aspects of stigma, it was difficult to depict the dynamism of the smoke-free legislation when just using this somewhat restrictive framework. As discussed earlier, stigma evolves over time and is experienced differently in different situations.

Link & Phelan [199] described how 'there are so many stigmatised circumstances and because stigmatising processes can affect multiple domains of people's lives, stigmatisation probably has a dramatic bearing on the distribution of life chances in such areas as earnings, housing, criminal involvement, health, and life itself.' In terms of smoking as a stigmatised behaviour, the life chances of smokers are largely unaffected. However, some evidence exists internationally of intensified stigmatisation of smokers e.g. the WHO no longer hire smokers and higher health insurance premiums for smokers in some countries.

Bayer & Stuber [220] described how Policies and cultural standards that result in isolation and severe embarrassment are different from those that cause discomfort, acts that seek to limit the contexts in which smoking is permitted are different from those that restrict the right to work, to access health or life insurance, or to reside in communities of one's choice'. As it stood in Ireland smokers were not discriminated against to the later extent. However, evidence does exist from this and similar research to suggest an intensification of the stigma felt by smokers since the implementation of smoke-free legislation. Some worrying evidence from this work points to a potential background shift which might glamorise smoking and facilitate smoking to become acceptable. In this regard, it is a fine balancing act as to what extent continued efforts are needed to reduce prevalence. From a public health perspective, stigmatisation of smokers can potentially reduce smokers' likelihood of accessing healthcare. However, for Public Health to ignore the epidemic of smoking because of fears of stigmatisation of smokers would also be irresponsible. We need to be mindful of interaction between de-normalisation and stigma and constantly monitor for negative impacts of smoker stigma, learn from these and other examples

of how much is too much and if other routes are more effective as tools to reduce initiation and prevalence rates.

The questions remain unanswered as to whether Public Health should encourage the creation of stigma and can it be justified as a public health tactic in terms of reduced initiation and prevalence rates. Perhaps the potential burden of stigmatisation is justified by the ethical consideration of protecting the collective good.

Limitations

Some limitations need to be considered in this qualitative study. Given the existence of extensive tobacco control measures in Ireland preceding the smoke-free legislation it was not possible to differentiate between existing smoker stigma pre-smoke-free legislation and the contribution of the smoke-free legislation to this stigma. A longitudinal study design would have better assessed the exact consequences of the law on stigmatisation and would have provided a more accurate reflection of the dynamism of the law. Stigma is an evolving process and highly situational in the pub context and, as such, no direct claim can be attributed to the smoke-free legislation alone in terms of intensification of stigma among smokers.

Stigmatisation processes related to smoking most likely vary in different occupational settings, community setting [53] for different social classes, age groups and for males and females. This research restricted the age of participants and, therefore, the results cannot be generalised to other age groups. The participants were recruited in an urban area. Therefore, experiences within the rural setting were most likely not captured. Coupled with Hilton *et al.*, [206] identification of older men as a group with particular difficulties this is an area requiring further research, particularly among socially and economically marginalised communities among whom smoking prevalence is highest and pre-existing stigma is most likely to occur.

The focus of this research was to investigate experiences specifically related to the pub as a social setting where smoking was probably most accepted of any social setting. It is likely that the effects of the smoke-free legislation were felt more intensely in other settings including the home and in the workplace. The data relied on participant recall and perhaps smokers had adjusted to the new norms around

smoking and no longer recall their strong views around infringements on right and powerlessness which were evident in Ritchie *et al.*, [53].

Considering the age group of the participants it is likely that they go to 'super pubs' which might be more likely to have good smoking facilities designed to maximise customer numbers and length of stay in the pub. This then may have impacted on the 'good social interaction' felt and the co-existence of smokers and non-smokers in the smoking area. Due to the overall small sample size including only nine smokers (smokers were considered to have been most affected by the law) no real comparisons could be made in relation to age and education level achieved and responses to the law.

The researchers were non-smokers and thus did not belong to the stigmatised groups. Therefore, interpretations of the data were 'from the vantage point of theories that are uninformed by the lived experience of the people they study' [199]. However, since the researchers were within the same age group as the participants, have friends who smoke, go to pubs regularly and both have previously worked in pubs, it could be argued that they would have understanding towards smokers and non-smokers.

Interviews were undertaken in a smoke-free environment. Perhaps if the interviews had been conducted in a pub with a smoking area the participants may have responded differently.

Conclusions

Stigmatisation of smokers as a result of de-normalising policy may be unwelcome by some public health / health promotion practitioners but many tobacco control advocates would encourage stigmatisation. 'There are people within the public health community who believe that they are stigmatising a behaviour and not smokers themselves' [220]. Our research provides some evidence to support this belief. However, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Evidence for intensification of the de-normalisation of smoking solely owing to the Irish smoke-free legislation is inconclusive. Evidence existed for each element of the Link and Phelan conceptualisation of stigma with the component of separation, seen as a direct result of the smoke-free legislation, of most significance. However, the degree of stigma felt by smokers when 'exiled' from public spaces, the evidence for the willingness of non-smokers to occupy these 'smoking islands' and the social interactions that resulted, although highly situational and dependent on the quality of the available facilities, may not be considered encouraging from a tobacco control perspective. The standard of smoking facilities seems critical in the understanding and interpreting how the smoke-free legislation has influenced smoker stigma. These facilities have the potential to impact on intensity of smoker stigma, smoking patterns and social glamorisation of smoking. More work is needed to investigate the differential impacts of these facilities on smoking and stigma. Perhaps future work should consider a different age group and ask questions which explore if the positive experiences of smoking in Irish pubs are sustained over time and if these experiences are portrayed by 'considerate' smokers as defence mechanism to alleviate self shaming.

Smoking facilities should be monitored to ensure compliance with the law (not more than 50% of the perimeter of smoking area is covered) so as to encourage efforts to de-normalise smoking as a behaviour and prevent glamorisation of smoking and smoking areas.

From a public health perspective the inconclusive evidence for increased stigma felt by smokers is positive. Perhaps de-normalisation of smoking intensified but perceived stigma felt by smokers did not.

Appendix: Overview of Link & Phelan's conceptualisation of stigma

In our conceptualization, stigma exists when the following interrelated components converge. In the first component, people distinguish and <u>label</u> human differences. In the second, dominant cultural beliefs link labelled persons to undesirable characteristics resulting in negative <u>stereotypes</u>. In the third, labelled persons are placed in distinct categories so as to accomplish some degree of <u>separation</u> of "us" from "them." In the fourth, labelled persons experience <u>status loss</u> and <u>discrimination</u> that lead to unequal outcomes. Finally, stigmatisation is entirely contingent on access to social, economic, and political <u>power</u> that allows the identification of differentness, the construction of stereotypes, the separation of labelled persons into distinct categories, and the full execution of disapproval, rejection, exclusion, and discrimination. Thus, we apply the term stigma when elements of labelling, stereotyping, separation, status loss, and discrimination co-occur in a power situation that allows the components of stigma to unfold.

Because of the importance of power in stigmatisation, it is critical to ask the following set of questions:

- Do the people who might stigmatize have the power to ensure that the human difference they recognize and label is broadly identified in the culture?
- Do the people who might confer stigma have the power to ensure that the culture recognizes and deeply accepts the stereotypes they connect to the labelled differences?
- Do the people who might stigmatize have the power to separate "us" from "them" and to have the designation stick?
- And do those who might confer stigma control access to major life domains like educational institutions, jobs, housing, and health care in order to put really consequential teeth into the distinctions they draw?
- To the extent that we can answer yes to these questions, we can expect stigma to result.

To the extent that we answer no, some of the cognitive components of stigma might be in place, but what is generally meant by stigma would not exist. Stigma exists as a matter of degree.

References

- 1. Chapman, S. and B. Freeman, *Markers of the denormalisation of smoking and the tobacco industry*. Tobacco control, 2008. **17**(1): p. 25.
- 2. Link, B.G. and J.C. Phelan, *Conceptualizing Stigma*. Annual Review of Sociology, 2001. **27**(1): p. 363-385.
- 3. Fischer, B. and B. Poland, *Exclusion*, *'risk'*, and social control—reflections on community policing and public health. 1998. **29**(2): p. 187-197.
- 4. Steinert, H., Soziale Ausschließung–Das richtige Thema zur richtigen Zeit. 1995. **27**(2): p. 82-88.
- 5. Mullally, B., B. Greiner, S. Allwright, G. Paul, and I. Perry, *The effect of the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking among bar workers.* The European Journal of Public Health, 2009. **19**(2): p. 206.
- 6. Braverman, M.T., L.E. Aaro, and J. Hetland, *Changes in smoking among restaurant and bar employees following Norway's comprehensive smoking ban.* Health Promotion International, 2007. **5**: p. 5-15.
- 7. Cesaroni, G., F. Forastiere, N. Agabiti, P. Valente, P. Zuccaro, and C. Perucci, *Effect of the Italian smoking ban on population rates of acute coronary events*. Circulation, 2008. **117**(9): p. 1183.
- 8. Elton, P. and P. Campbell, *Smoking prevalence in a north-west town following the introduction of Smoke-free England*. Journal of Public Health, 2008.
- 9. Galán, I., N. Mata, C. Estrada, L. Díez-Gañán, L. Velázquez, B. Zorrilla, A. Gandarillas, and H. Ortiz, *Impact of the" Tobacco control law" on exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in Spain.* BMC Public Health, 2007. **7**(1): p. 224.
- 10. Eisner, M.D., *Banning Smoking in Public Places: Time to Clear the Air.* JAMA, 2006. **296**(14): p. 1778-1779.
- 11. Heloma, A. and M.S. Jaakkola, *Four-year follow-up of smoke exposure, attitudes and smoking behaviour following enactment of Finland's national smoke-free work-place law.* Addiction, 2003. **98**(8): p. 1111-1117.
- 12. Fong, G., A. Hyland, R. Borland, D. Hammond, G. Hastings, A. McNeill, S. Anderson, K. Cummings, S. Allwright, and M. Mulcahy, *Reductions in tobacco smoke pollution and increases in support for smoke-free public places following the implementation of comprehensive smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland: findings from the ITC Ireland/UK Survey.* Tobacco control, 2006. **15**(suppl 3).
- Pursell, L., S. Allwright, D. O'Donovan, G. Paul, A. Kelly, B.J. Mullally, and M. D'Eath, *Before and after study of bar workers' perceptions of the impact* of smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland. 2007. 7(1): p. 131.
- 14. Laurier, R.M., L. Goodwin, N., *Daily and lifecourse contexts of smoking*. . Sociology of Health and Illness 2000. **22**(3): p. 289-309.
- Eadiea, D., S. MacAskilla, D. Heimb, and G. Hastingsa, *Responding to change: how did bar workers adapt to the smoke-free legislation in Scotland?* International Journal of Environmental Health Research, 2010. 20(1): p. 13-26.
- 16. Hargreaves, K., A. Amos, G. Highet, C. Martin, S. Platt, D. Ritchie, and M. White, *The social context of change in tobacco consumption following the*

introduction of 'smokefree' England legislation: A qualitative, longitudinal study. Social Science & amp; Medicine, 2010. **71**(3): p. 459-466.

- 17. Thompson, L., J. Pearce, and J.R. Barnett, *Moralising geographies: stigma, smoking islands and responsible subjects.* 2007, Blackwell Publishing.
- 18. Poland, B., Smoking, stigma, and the purification of public space. 1998. p. 208-225.
- 19. Nyborg, K. and M. Rege, On social norms: the evolution of considerate smoking behavior. 2003. **52**(3): p. 323-340.
- 20. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, and C. Martin, *Public places after smoke-free--A qualitative exploration of the changes in smoking behaviour*. Health & Place, 2009.
- 21. Hilton, S., J. Cameron, A. MacLean, and M. Petticrew, *Observations from behind the bar: changing patrons' behaviours in response to smoke-free legislation in Scotland*. BMC Public Health, 2008. **8**(1): p. 238.
- 22. Goffman, E., *Stigma: notes on the management of spoiled identity*. 1963: Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Pavis, S.C.-B., S. Amos, A. , *Health Related Behavioural Change in Context: Young People in Transition*. Social Science and Medicine, 1998. 47(10): p. 1407-1418.
- 24. Stead, M.M., S. MacKintosh, A. Reece, J. Eadie, D., "It's as if your locked in": qualitative explanations for area effects on smoking in disadvantaged communities. Health and Place, 2001. 7 p. 333-343.
- 25. Rose, J.S., L. Chassin, C.C. Presson, and S.J. Sherman, *Demographic factors in adult smoking status: mediating and moderating influences.* 1996. **10**: p. 28–37.
- 26. Benowitz, N.L. and D. Hatsukami, *Gender dip erences in the pharmacology* of nicotine addiction. 1998. **3**: p. 383-404.
- 27. Farrimond, H. and H. Joffe, *Pollution, peril and poverty: a British study of the stigmatization of smokers.* Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 2006. **16**(6): p. 481-491.
- 28. Bell, K., L. McCullough, A. Salmon, and J. Bell, 'Every space is claimed': smokers' experiences of tobacco denormalisation. Sociology of health & illness, 2010. **32**(6): p. 914-929.
- 29. Jones, E., A. Farina, A. Hastorf, H. Markus, D. Miller, and R. Scott, *Social stigma: The psychology of marked relationships*. 1984: WH Freeman, New York.
- 30. Poland, B.D., *The 'considerate'smoker in public space: the micro-politics and political economy of 'doing the right thing'.* 2000. **6**(1): p. 1-14.
- 31. Heim, D., A. Ross, D. Eadie, S. MacAskill, J. Davies, G. Hastings, and S. Haw, *Public health or social impacts? A qualitative analysis of attitudes toward the smoke-free legislation in Scotland*. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009.
- 32. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, and C. Martin, "But it just has that sort of feel about *it, a leper*"—Stigma, smoke-free legislation and public health. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2010. **12**(6): p. 622-629.
- 33. Patton, M., *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. 2002: Sage Publications, Inc.
- 34. Holloway, I. and S. Wheeler, *Qualitative Research in Nursing and Healthcare*. 2010: Wiley-Blackwell.

- 35. Howell, F., *Smoke-free bars in Ireland: a runaway success*. Tob Control, 2005. **14**(2): p. 73-74.
- 36. Jarvis, M.J., Why people smoke. Bmj, 2004. **328**(7434): p. 277-279.
- 37. Houston, M., *Infringements of Irish smoking ban are few*. British Medical Journal, 2004. **329**: p. 368.
- 38. Hughes, S., Smoking ban lights up love life, in The Observer. 2005.
- 39. Lennon, A., C. Gallois, N. Owen, and L. McDermott, *Young Women as Smokers and Nonsmokers: A Qualitative Social Identity Approach.* Qualitative Health Research, 2005. **15**(10): p. 1345-1359.
- 40. Bayer R, S.J., *Tobacco Control, Stigma, and Public Health: Rethinking the Relations.* American Journal of Public Health, 2006. **96**(1): p. 47–50.
- 41. Ireland, O.o.T.C. Ireland: Current trends in cigarette smoking. [cited.
- 42. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, R. Phillips, S. Cunningham-Burley, and C. Martin, *Action to achieve smoke-free homes- an exploration of experts' views*. BMC Public Health, 2009. **9**(1): p. 112.
- 43. Phillips, R., A. Amos, D. Ritchie, S. Cunningham-Burley, and C. Martin, *Smoking in the home after the smoke-free legislation in Scotland: qualitative study.* British Medical Journal, 2007. **335**(7619): p. 553.
- 44. Brown, A., C. Moodie, and G. Hastings, *A longitudinal study of policy effect* (*smoke-free legislation*) on smoking norms: *ITC Scotland/United Kingdom*. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009. **11**(8): p. 924.
Chapter 6 Discussion, Conclusions and Recommendations

Context of this research

The Irish smoke-free legislation was framed as an occupational health intervention and considered the only viable measure to protect workers and patrons of bars, nightclubs and restaurants from the harmful effects of SHS exposure [21].

Research on the health and social impacts of smoking restriction and legislative smoke-free workplace legislation was sparse before the introduction of Ireland's legislative ban in 2004. When I started this PhD research work little systematic scientific evidence existed with respect to the health and social impacts of smoke-free legislation and most evidence was based on local, regional and workplace smoke-free policies. This changed dramatically over the past few years, during the preparation of this dissertation. Many countries have now joined Ireland in implementing smoke-free workplace legislation [28] and have contributed to the evidence base for the positive health, economic and social consequences of smoke-free legislation.

Many concerns arose before the enactment of the law in Ireland including loss in tourism, job losses and changes in pub culture. Concerns were not realised in relation to displacement of SHS from the pub to the car [60] or from the pub to the home, and in fact, there was an actual increase in the number of voluntary smoking restrictions in the home [60, 193-194] post legislation. However, there was some evidence that home bans were more common among the higher SES groups [127] and among younger groups [224]. Concerns for economic losses due to a ban were rubbished [225] as were concerns around job losses. There is now an abundance of evidence in support of a smoke-free environment among bar workers and the general population [226-229].

There is now convincing evidence on the positive health benefits from all smokefree jurisdictions. The most unambiguous findings relate to reductions in SHS exposure [31-35] and improvements in respiratory health in specific work groups [36-39]. Consistent evidence now exists from Ireland [34-35, 39], Norway [32], Sweden [38] and New York [31] showing that where occupational exposure to SHS is reduced, respiratory symptoms improve among non-smokers after the implementation of smoke-free workplace legislation. Encouraging evidence from California suggests that some of these reductions were sustained 10 years postlegislation and the prevalence decline had occurred across all demographic groups, and for both males and females [40].

Removal of SHS from the Irish workplace was the principal reasoning for the law. However, some additional consequences were also hypothesised including a reduction in initiation rates and increases in quit rates (reduced prevalence). Some evidence implies that legislation contributes to a reduction in prevalence of smoking and consumption among employees [1-3, 44].

This body of work can make a contribution to the evidence on smoke-free workplace legislation in terms of smoking prevalence and consumption, knowledge related to risk associated with SHS exposure and the social consequences of the law on smokers and non-smokers in the pub.

Outline of this chapter

The purpose of this chapter is to summarise and discuss the main results across the 4 thesis papers and to link the findings with recent international research results that had become available after publication or upon completion of the manuscripts. As newer Irish data on smoking prevalence has become available, the main findings of the 4 papers will be discussed in the light of national and international trends in smoking behaviour. Furthermore the findings will be discussed in relation to further developing a public health theoretical framework for the determinants of smoking. Finally, the results and the research process will be reflected upon considering the limitations of the study approach.

1. Has the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation resulted in reductions in smoking prevalence and consumption rates?

The bar worker study (papers 1 & 2) focused on smoking prevalence and consumption (individual lifestyle factor) among this specific occupational group. Paper 2 (chapter 3) investigated the impact of the smoke-free legislation on smoking behaviour among the representative follow-up sample of bar workers (impacts of smoke-free legislation on this individual lifestyle factor). This thesis also provided the first estimates of smoking prevalence and cigarettes consumption among bar

workers (chapter 2). Bar workers, as predicted, had an extremely high smoking prevalence (54%) compared to their general population counterparts (28%). However, cigarette consumption rates were comparable.

Allwright et al., [39] concluded that bar workers were an occupational group exposed to high levels of SHS before the smoke-free legislation and, as outlined above, were a group with a high proportion of smokers, and they anticipated that they would change behaviour after the legislation [73]. The legislation was, therefore, expected to have a more profound impact on their smoking behaviour compared to others. Chapter 3 investigated the implications of the introduction of the smoke-free workplace legislation on changes in smoking behaviour among this 'at risk' occupational group and contrasted it with comparable groups in the general population. The prevalence of smoking dropped non-significantly among bar workers after the legislation and, contrary to expectations, the drop within the comparable general population sub-sample was larger (near significant). The changes in cigarette consumption was reversed with a significant drop seen among smoking bar workers; a drop of 4.2 cigarettes per day and a non-significant drop of 0.9 cigarettes per day within the comparable general population group. The legislation, therefore, did not seem to differentially impact on bar workers in the way hypothesised.

Since this paper was published a number of papers from other smoke-free jurisdictions have been published which also address the issue of changes to smoking prevalence and consumption. An overview of these publications is outlined within Table 1 in appendix 3.

A Scottish [50] study was very similar in design to the SmokfrI Study and both studies had similar smoking prevalence rates for bar workers pre-law (55%). Semple *et al.*, [50] found a reduction in smoking of 4% among their bar workers post legislation in addition to a significant reduction in consumption rates (drop of 2.5 cig/day). Data from the SmofrI Study generated a drop in consumption twice of that seen in the Semple *et al.*, but found a non-significant decrease in prevalence. Evidence from Norway [3] and Spain [52], where bar workers were also the focus, found a prevalence drop of 3.6% [3], and both demonstrated a significant consumption drop of 1.6 cigarettes/day. Variation in results could be explained by

differences in culture, follow-up periods and the ways in which smoking behaviour was measured.

Smoking Behaviour Changes within the General Population

The bar worker study did not attempt to quantify changes in national smoking trends but used social class specific general population data for comparisons. Next I will look briefly at the national smoking prevalence rates in Ireland and in other smokefree countries. This can provide a context for and an understanding of changes (or lack of) in bar workers' smoking behaviour and of how the smoke-free legislation may have impacted on smoking prevalence trends nationally.

Tracking data (12 month moving average) from Ireland was provided by the Office of Tobacco Control Ipsos MRBI Omnipoll [45]. According to this data the introduction of the smoke-free legislation in March 2004 was followed soon after by a decline in prevalence, especially among women. Internationally some evidence exists for reductions in smoking prevalence among the general population as a whole [49] and specifically among males [41] post legislation (table 1, appendix 3). Other research has supported this initial drop with increases in quit attempts seen just before [55-56] or just after implementation [55, 57]. Others have produced evidence of no change in prevalence [46] or quit attempts [56, 58] among the general population and some have shown a non-significant increase [47] after the implementation of the legislation. Additional research also provides support consistent with the previous evidence of smokers reducing their consumption or having an increased quit intention because of the legislation [49, 53, 56-57, 59-61, 204].

The initial outcome from Ireland of reduced prevalence and consumption rates relate to a number of aspects examined in my thesis. Within the qualitative paper we saw that smokers initially felt a heightened 'visibility' of their smoking when the law was enacted; this may have resulted in smokers re-considering their smoking behaviour. Smokers may have decided to quit smoking altogether or reduce consumption to avoid staying out in these 'visible' areas. Secondly, smoking facilities were reported to have been poor or there was a delay in establishing good facilities which may have resulted in smokers not wanting to go outside to smoke as often or at all. Thirdly, some smokers had expected to use this opportunity to quit or cut down as demonstrated by evidence elsewhere [59, 73]. The gender difference in prevalence drop may also be seen reflected in the risk perception of SHS data where women's understanding of the risk posed by SHS exposure significantly increased overtime compared to men and perhaps contributed to a quit attempt or increase in contemplation of quitting. The noteworthy decline in prevalence among women also highlights the importance of considering gender issues in interpretation of the increased visibility and stigma associated with the law.

This initial drop in Irish smoking prevalence was not sustained for long after the introduction of the legislation, with prevalence reaching close to pre-law levels two years post-law (approx 26.5% back up to 28%). An additional observation by the Office of Tobacco Control (OTC) was that the proportion of occasional smokers had increased by almost 2% (18% - \approx 20%) since June 2008. A rationalisation for these results might be deciphered from the qualitative paper in chapter 5 where smokers may either have adjusted to the norm of smoking in the ever increasing 'visibility' of the smoking areas; the facilities for smokers in pubs may have improved; that smokers sought out pubs with good smoking facilities or through a mechanism of 'masking' the stigma smokers found consolation in the idea that they were not exposing non-smokers to SHS, and so felt justified in continuing their smoking behaviour. Other explanations might include the lack of appropriate resources and services to support smokers to quit as the law was accompanied largely by national level campaigns (quit-line) and not employing targeted socioeconomic and gender sensitive approaches. There was also reluctance from the government to increase tax on cigarettes; even though taxation is considered the most effective policy level intervention to reduce prevalence rates [230] and multi-level interventions are considered more effective in behaviour change than one-off interventions [62, 230].

Smoke-free legislation may have a delayed impact on the population smoking prevalence rates [63] and/or may contribute to a steady decline in prevalence overtime [48, 51, 64]. Supportive evidence for this can be seen in the more up-to-date tracking data from Ireland which indicates a steadier decline from 2008 (27.4%) to 2010 (23.6%) in prevalence for both males (25%) and females (22.2%) [45]. England has also seen a steady reduction in overall prevalence rates from 2003 to

2008 of 4% (from 25% to 21%) [48]. Other data also supports this where smokers contemplated quitting more [59-61] around the time of the introduction of the ban (table 1, appendix 3) and a slight decrease in the proportion of heavy smokers in Ireland (approx 8%- 6.5% [45], England [46] and Italy [41] which can all be considered to be an indication of intention to quit at sometime in the future.

2. Has the introduction of the smoke-free legislation increased risk knowledge related to second-hand smoke?

Study 2 involved two repeated cross sectional samples of Irish adults in 1999 and 2006 (telephone survey- commissioned research) and a representative sample of GPs (SmofrI Study) in 2006 who provided an 'expert view' of risk perception of SHS (chapter 4). Advances in health literacy related to SHS exposure were probable around the introduction of the smoke-free legislation. Improvements in health education were most likely obtained through mass media campaigns surrounding the introduction of the legislation and through social and community networks such as discussions with family, friends and work colleagues. Risk perception, as conceptualised in the Dahlgren-Whitehead model, was influenced by social norms around what is harmful and dangerous. Paper 3 (chapter 4) outlined the improvements in knowledge among the general population of health risks linked to SHS exposure. This enhanced knowledge may have 'strengthened individuals' and, may or may not, be expressed as reductions in prevalence and consumption rates among smokers. To what extent social norms influence risk perception is unclear using this questionnaire. The true extent of how the legislation impacted on the risk perception of SHS could not be ascertained through this paper (chapter 4) as paired analysis within the general population sample and a shorter pre-post evaluation would be needed. Although this paper cannot identify the changes specifically due to the law, it does provide insights into the trend overtime, and the improvements in knowledge that may add to an understanding as to the success and general endorsement of the legislation adding to the notion of smoking in public places being a 'weak social norm'.

Chapter 4 does point to an alarming lack of appreciation among the general population of risk posed by SHS exposure to a vulnerable subset of our population: children. Of the GP sample 81.5% believed that SHS exposure increases a child's

risk of ear infections compared to only 46% of the general population. Awareness of ear infections in children increased, but not significantly, with no change in disparity between smokers and non-smokers, from 1999 to 2006 (7%). However, the questions remains whether an improved knowledge of risk perception would translate into improved behaviour.

Smoking status, as expected, was consistently found to be the most important factor in the underestimation of risk, with smokers underestimating the risks posed by SHS exposure. Despite the encouraging evidence of the narrowing of this disparity in risk perception of SHS between smokers and non-smokers, the results point to an optimistic bias among smokers towards their behaviour [175, 231-232]. This optimism may be infringing upon Public Health and tobacco control advocates' attempts to reduce smoking prevalence and could be considered as an obstacle to behaviour change as well, as how it might interplay with gender, age and broad social class issues. This optimistic bias may also tie in with results from the qualitative work (chapter 5). In an attempt to justify and elevate feeling of stigma associated with their behaviour smokers may also take an optimistic view of how cigarette smoking will impact on their health and their social standing. This may be one small factor in a myriad of factors to explain smoking prevalence rates in any society and why, in this case, the drop in prevalence was not sustained; and the true impacts of cigarette smoking on health would need to be delivered in a new and innovative social specific way.

3. Are smoking areas providing smoking islands for the stigmatised smoker? Could the quality of smoking areas provided for smokers in Ireland act as a deterrent for smokers to quit?

Study 3 (chapter 5) comprised of eighteen qualitative semi-structured interviews exploring the social implications of the smoke-free legislation specifically on stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking behaviour (chapter 5). Leaders in tobacco control 'recommend that schemes rating the comprehensiveness of national tobacco control should be supplemented by documentation of markers of this denormalisation' [26]. Stigmatisation of smoking, has been suggested as one of the mechanisms of de-normalisation [26], resulting in negative feelings and thoughts towards smokers and internalised feelings of guilt and shame among smokers [214].

Using the Link & Phelan [199] conceptualisation of stigma, this work identified markers of stigmatisation: labelling, stereotype, separation, status loss, discrimination, and power. These markers were used to interpret if the smoke-free legislation intensified stigma. Our paper (chapter 5) provided evidence of stigmatisation of smokers and of their smoking behaviour. However, evidence to support claims that smoke-free legislation intensified this stigma in pubs was varied and at times highly situational. The themes of separation and discrimination (structural) were of major significances in situations of increased stigma.

Perceived increased visibility among smokers on the 'smoking island' was an indication of intensified stigma and was related to the poor quality of smoking areas provided; these findings have been confirmed in Scotland [53, 204]. Hargreaves *et al.*, [204] describes how visibility of smoking decreased after the legislation in many public areas except for outside pubs and both Hargreaves *et al.*, [204] and Ritchie [53] describe how disadvantaged communities had generally poorer facilities for smokers and therefore the legislation intensified stigma particularly among this group. This is not to say that less visibility is translated into less stigma felt in other public areas, it is probably that the pub is an acceptable setting for smoking and smoking in other public places is becoming more and more de-normalised. Perhaps the pub is the final heaven for smokers not to feel the intensity of stigma that is felt in other public places?

The added value in this PhD doctoral work was the inclusion of non-smokers in the sample. Of the plethora of research which has emerged on changing social norms around smoking as a consequence of smoke-free legislation, particularly from Scotland [53, 61, 204, 212, 223], some included recent ex-smokers, but none completed analysis from the non-smokers perspective.

Chapter 5 outlines how many smokers maintained their pre-law consumption levels and also pointed to the surprising finding of the co-existence of non-smokers in the smoking area, both scenarios were associated with the provision of good quality smoking facilities. Non-smokers possess the potential 'power' to stigmatise but could also have the potential of reducing the de-normalising or stigmatising effects of the law. In scenarios where non-smokers co-exist in the smoking areas with smokers, they remove the need for smokers to reduce their cigarette consumption; they also remove the separation aspect of socialising in pubs and cause confusion in the labelling of smokers. It some situations non-smokers enjoyed the experience and actively sought to go to the smoking areas, others felt a lack of choice as not joining the smokers resulted in their isolation in the smoke-free pub. As outlined above a number of aspects remain unclear. It is not clear from the results if smokers sought these good smoking areas out, if because the participants were young and part of a 'super-pub' culture they had more access to good smoking facilities, if the maintenance in consumption was part of a rebellious behaviour or if smokers justified their smoking because they were now 'considerate' (not exposing non-smokers to their SHS). A age differential in responses to the law is born out by Hargreaves *at al.*, [204] where smoking outside is suggested to be less of a problem for young smokers particularly in advantaged communities.

Nevertheless, this paper also summarises sustained negative aspects of the smokefree legislation overtime, particularly in relation to poor smoking facilities. Smokers felt increased stigma because of the separation from others and discrimination (poor facilities), although it can be argued that it is temporary, in that smokers could return to the comfortable smoke-free area, it is, nonetheless, a stigmatising situation and an opportunity for power to be exerted by non-smokers 'to put out' smokers. The poor smoking facilities also resulted in some smokers smoking less after the smoke-free law and like Hargreaves [204] this occurred because of 'constraints imposed by the legislation' [204]. In Ireland, if the facilities were poor, if the weather was poor and/or a person was the only smoker in their social group, smokers spent less time outside smoking (and smoked less). Some of the data points to a continuation of daily smoking rates in these poor facilities and the reduction in consumption referred to was compared to pre-law 'chain smoking' in the pub.

Smoking is a social behaviour and evidence from this thesis suggests that the behaviour is more acceptable in the social setting of the pub. The enforcement of the smoke-free legislation was feared to have intensified stigma associated with smoking behaviour and of smokers and this research does provide some evidence for an intensification of stigma among smokers. This stigma might serve as a disincentive to smokers to access primary and secondary care services, remove a

coping mechanism as well as compounding stigma for already vulnerable sectors of society. Equally, however, there are results within this thesis and elsewhere [233] indicating that the pubs with good smoking facilities perhaps act to encourage and endorse smoking (although it could be argued that this is age related) which should be something of concern to tobacco control advocates. Tobacco control efforts should be very considerate of the interplay between de-normalisation and stigma formation, that the effects may not be permanent and may backfire. Caution is crucial in applying these methods for public health gains. If sustained efforts to reduce smoking initiation and reduce prevalence rates are not continued tobacco control efforts may be eroded due to increased glamorisation in certain public settings.

The smoke-free legislation can be considered to be a law exhibiting 'universalism' as the law applies to all in Irish society; with few exceptions, but has an 'intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage' [234]. This has the potential of targeting those in the lower social groups encouraging quitting or cutting down. Those in lower social groups are targeted firstly because the legislation removes SHS from groups previously exposed to high levels as they are more likely to be employed in industries with high SHS levels. Secondly those in lower social groups are more likely to smoke thus the ban may have been an incentive to quit or opportunity to reduce consumption. This policy could have the potential of 'levelling up' health inequalities related to smoking.

4. Reflections on the theoretical underpinning of the research -Determinants of health model & the smoke-free workplace legislation

This research was based on the social epidemiological determinants of health model and was informed by socio-ecological models. The determinants of health model may be considered simplistic in understanding a complex behaviour such as smoking and as such is useful to suggest the potential myriad of factors involved in any behaviour. For future analyses of public health policy I suggest that stigma be viewed across all layers of the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's conceptual framework. Inclusion of stigma as a factor at all levels of this DOH framework may contribute to stigma conscious public health interventions and evaluations in the future. This may also help foresee possible negative impacts of policy among socially disadvantaged groups. The smoke-free legislation also presented a good example of the potential ripple effects of health policy on individual behaviour. Development of a specific model for smoking should advance perspectives and approaches to tobacco control internationally.

Addressing the social determinants of health 'goes beyond the immediate causes of disease' and places a stronger emphasis on upstream factors, or the fundamental 'causes of causes' (WHO CSDH, 2007). Upstream or distal determinants of health are considered 'those that are distant either in time or place from any change in health status' [235]. These interventions affect material factors and social structural conditions, such as equity, social gradients, social exclusion, discrimination and social environments [236]. Smoke-free workplace legislation is an upstream intervention, which can have the potential to change social determinants of health. Smoking is considered a 'downstream' factor which operates at an individual level and can be influenced by upstream factors.

Dahlgren's and Whitehead's conceptual framework is frequently cited to explain how health is shaped as a result of interactions between different levels of causal conditions, from the individual to communities to the level of national health policies. This thesis draws on the framework to guide the inquiry and interpretation of some of the impacts of the smoke-free workplace legislation and how the framework might be applied to smoking. As discussed earlier there are many determinants of smoking behaviour and it was unfortunate that is was not feasible within the SmofrI research project to investigate all of the determinants of health relevant to the smoke-free legislation.

With reference to the smoke-free workplace legislation, smoking is an individual behaviour but is influenced by a series of broader social, environmental and socioeconomic factors. Smoking can be influenced by social interactions and peer pressure at home, at work and in social situations (e.g. pubs and restaurants). All of these can shape smoking norms and, ultimately, individual smoking behaviour. A smoke-free work environment reduces opportunities to smoke as people have to go to designated areas to smoke and it has removed SHS as a potential prompt or reminder to smoke. The provision and standards of smoking areas also shape social norms around smoking and thus can influence smoking behaviour and interaction

between smokers and non-smokers. Figure 2 below is a graphical representation of the suggested conceptualisation of the determinants of smoking (with one of them being tobacco legislation) applied within the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's framework.

Figure 2: Smoke-free work place legislation within the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's frame work



General socio-economic, cultural and environmental conditions

The smoke-free legislation is first located in the outer most layer (of figure 2) as a national policy; this intervention was accompanied by a host of historical tobacco control measures including smoke-free workplaces, taxation on cigarettes and a ban on advertising. Social equity is also an important determinant in terms of the legislation as it influences fair access to livelihood (employment), education, and resources at community level (e.g. smoking areas, health services); which filters

down to standards of smoking facilities for smokers, social norms and into likelihood of smoking.

Living and working conditions

Secondly, the smoke-free legislation is located within work environments (living and working conditions). The work sites of particular importance for the smoke-free legislation were bars and restaurants as these sites had no pre-existing policies like most other workplaces in Ireland. Other factors of particular relevance to this layer were other social and public spaces (including smoking areas, public parks, outdoor sporting venues and streets), private spaces (e.g. at home and in cars) and education (health literacy). The impact of the legislation on smoking in the private homes were addressed to some extent within the qualitative study (chapter 5) and issues related to healthcare services (including smoking cessation services, provision of nicotine replacement therapy, role of GP) were addressed within the GP survey but are not dealt with within this thesis.

Social and Community networks

Elements within this layer were foremost within the qualitative paper (chapter 5) on de-normalisation and stigmatisation of smoking and the risk perception of SHS exposure paper (chapter 4). The absolute contribution of each factor within this layer to smoking behaviour is unclear but it is apparent that social, family and peer pressures as well as social supports are important in determining and influencing social norms around smoking and knowledge related to smoking.

Stigma, as determined by social norms, may be conceptualised at the outer layer in terms of social equity and recent employment restrictions for smokers by the WHO. It is, however, apparent from our analysis of stigmatisation of smokers and of smoking behaviour that stigma is mostly operating at the living and working conditions level (at work, in pubs and restaurant, in other public spaces) and at the social and community networks level. Smoking behaviour is an individual behaviour and can itself be stigmatised. Age and gender are important factors to consider but I believe stigma in this instance was felt and interpreted mostly at the two aforementioned levels. In this examination of stigma, I suggest that stigma transcends one layer of the DOH framework and can be viewed as entrenched across three layers; namely the individual lifestyle factors, social and community networks,

and living and working conditions (Figure 2). I also suggest that this stigma was unidirectional; stigma imposed at a national level through policy, for example, filters through community norms and social networks and is experienced at the individual level. This individual stigma changes norms at the social and community level, impacts on living and working conditions and impacts on social equity (access to jobs and health services) at a national level. As outlined in chapter 5 stigma due to the smoke-free legislation is situational and dependent on a number of factors including the standards of the smoking areas and smoking status of friends.

Risk knowledge can be informed by education (health literacy) and information may penetrate through from family, social networks and peers. Risk perception of SHS is confounded by smoking status with smokers underestimating the risks associated with SHS exposure (chapter 4). In this examination of risk perception, I suggest that risk perception was directly influenced by education and smoking status but that most risk knowledge was influenced at the social and community networks layer (Figure 2). It was clear that the general public know the risk associated with active and SHS but were influenced in terms of behaviour by family, peers and social norms.

Individual lifestyle factors

Smoking behaviour as discussed earlier has many determinants. It is clear from this research that smoking behaviour (smoker and non-smoker) was influenced by each layer of the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's framework and that smoke-free legislation creates a ripple effect through the determinants to impact on these behaviours.

This thesis may contribute to the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's framework in two ways. Firstly, the smoke-free legislation can be considered a good example to demonstrate a ripple effect of an upstream intervention on downstream behaviours. Secondly, the examination of stigmatisation of smokers through this framework highlights the importance of 'stigma proofing' public health policies. Inclusion of stigma as a determinant at all levels of this DOH framework may contribute to stigma conscious public health interventions and evaluations in the future.

It is clear that the Dahlgren's and Whitehead's framework was, therefore, a comprehensive framework with which to investigate the impacts of the smoke-free legislation.

Determinants of health model & smoking behaviour - smoking prevalence, risk perception and stigmatisation

This thesis incorporated 3 separate research studies: the bar worker study on prevalence and cigarette consumption (chapters 2 & 3), general population and general practitioner data investigating risk perception of SHS exposure (chapter 4) and, finally, a qualitative study among a sample of the general population exploring stigmatisation of smokers and their smoking behaviour (chapter 5). Next, I will draw on the DOH framework to outline how the smoke-free legislation has impacted on smoking behaviour through prevalence and consumption changes, changes in risk perception of SHS exposure and stigmatisation of smoking behaviour.

5. Reflection on the overall research approach

This thesis presented the consequences of the smoke-free workplace legislation for both smokers and non-smokers. This research employed mixed methods (quantitative and qualitative) to provide a rounded evaluation; the qualitative study expanded upon and complemented our quantitative results and provided richness in detail to the overall research project.

Some of the limitations of the research would include small sample size within the bar workers study which may have restricted power in the estimation of prevalence and consumption changes. The thesis could have focused entirely on occupational specific effects among those within lower socio-economic groups but, instead, we developed a broad socio-ecological approach to the evaluation. Restricting the analysis to those from lower socioeconomic group would have been an option as the legislation was anticipated to impact on this group disproportionately because of their high smoking prevalence and fewer smoke-free restrictions before the legislation. However, to assess the overall impact on the legislation on society a holistic approach was utilised with the analysis considering smoking status, gender and social class where possible. The qualitative study aimed to assess the social implications of the smoke-free legislation for smokers and non-smokers, with a particular focus within the pub. Again here a larger sample size, especially among smokers, and a longitudinal perspective would have added greatly to the study findings. An interesting perspective on this work would be to consider gender and age related social consequences of the legislation.

6. Conclusions

The primary aim of the smoke-free legislation was to protect workers from SHS exposure, and it was hoped that it would have a knock-on effect among smokers by reducing prevalence and consumption. It was also envisaged that the legislation would increase the de-normalisation of smoking behaviour, thus further reducing prevalence and consumption. This works adds to an increasing body of research, examining changes in culture, specifically in pub culture and the consequences of de-normalisation of smoking on a social behaviour since the implementation of a smoke-free legislation.

This thesis provides evidence that Ireland's smoke-free legislation was associated with a drop in prevalence and cigarette consumption and points to added effects among 'at risk' occupational groups. The impacts of the legislation on smoking prevalence and consumption are likely to become clearer overtime. These effects will vary across all occupational groups and classes and future analysis would need to be mindful of class, gender and age differentials in responses to such measures. Preliminary findings from a longitudinal study on prevalence since SLAN 2007 show a reduction in Irish prevalence for most young adults, a reduction was seen among Social Class (SC) 3-4 and among women in SC 5-6 [237].

The smoke-free legislation, through a knowledge based mechanism, should have resulted in an increased understanding of the risks posed by SHS exposure. This thesis points to encouraging evidence of the narrowing disparity in knowledge between smokers and non-smokers of the risks SHS exposure poses. Noteworthy, is a lack of understanding among the general population of the risks posed by SHS exposure to the occurrence of ear infections in children. This knowledge deficit needs to be effectively disseminated as soon as possible.

Public health may utilise smoke-free legislation as a mechanism to increase the unacceptability and de-normalise smoking behaviour. The creation of smoking areas through the smoke-free workplace legislation provided an opportunity to intensify this de-normalisation. This thesis sought to identify stigma as a factor of de-normalisation and detect increases in stigma towards smokers and their behaviour as a results of the introduction of the smoke-free legislation. This work provides

evidence of stigma towards smokers and their behaviour and, in particular, outlines the situational nature of this stigma whereby 'good' and 'bad' smoking facilities had consequences for the level of stigma experienced.

In addition to the concerns raised related to increased stigmatisation of smokers and their behaviour, our findings also point to a possible encouragement and endorsement of smoking in pubs with good smoking facilities. Tobacco control efforts to reduce prevalence need to be mindful of potential obstacles to change among the Irish population and they need to continue and sustain tobacco control efforts in an innovative way.

7. Recommendations

Recommendations emanating from this thesis- Recommendations for research

Continued research on smoking areas

The standard of smoking facilities seems significant in the understanding and interpreting of how the legislation has influenced smoker stigma. These facilities have the potential to impact on intensity of smoker stigma, smoking patterns and social glamorisation of smoking. Follow-up qualitative work is warranted to investigate whether stigma is sustained or evolves overtime in the pub setting. A repeat of this work would also provide an opportunity to investigate variation in effects including if older adults and females respond differently to the denormalisation and stigmatisation of smoking in pubs. A more in-depth analysis of the provision of 'good' smoking areas as an obstacle to smoking cessation could identify mediating factors for cessation and provide better evidence for smoking cessation approaches.

Behavioural responses to de-normalisation and stigma

The findings from the qualitative paper point to many other interesting research questions. Although the pub was the main setting focused upon by the smoke-free legislation other workplaces and social settings were impacted. It is likely that the experiences of stigma are more intense in other social and public settings such as work settings, private homes, outside public buildings and sporting venues.

Quantitative data could identify behavioural adjustments made by smokers in certain situations (e.g. while with non-smokers) and setting (work, at bus stop, home). This work may then inform some qualitative work around how de-normalisation/ stigma might interplay with smoking behaviour in these settings and if non-smokers have a role in stigma formation (or alleviation) in these other settings.

This PhD doctoral research and other works point to the importance of age, gender and socioeconomic class in smoking behaviour and responses to tobacco control measures such as the smoke-free legislation; these factors need to be included in all tobacco control research.

Long term impacts of the smoke-free legislation

This research highlighted the short and medium term impact on the legislation on smoking trends and provides significant insight into effectiveness of such policies on behaviour. Cotinine measures and respiratory health questionnaires were used to detect changes in SHS exposure in the very short term while national smoking trends suggest some medium term impacts. The consequences of reduced SHS exposure are, in some instances, more appropriately measured in the longer term. Hahn [63] suggests that the impacts of smoke-free legislation on smoking behaviour are more likely seen in the long term. A repeated cross sectional quantitative study among bar workers would be interesting to investigate long term impacts of the law on smoking behaviour. Other long term impacts include examination of changes in hospital admissions among adults (heart attacks, respiratory conditions cardiovascular conditions [238]) and children (asthma [239]). To date little has been done in Ireland to assess the longer term impacts of the legislation.

Qualitative research, collected retrospectively, among those who quit smoking due to the law, but began smoking again, may identify factors associated with a quit attempt and may shed more light on why national prevalence dropped and increased again 2 years post legislation. This could then be followed by quantitative work to identify key triggers, mediating factors or components of the law and other tobac co control measures (as it would be difficult to isolate impact of just the law) that encourage a quit attempt and subsequently led to a relapse in smoking. Perhaps some of these factors can then be incorporated into smoking cessation programs and policies.

Recommendations emanating from this thesis - Recommendations for practice and policy

Continued surveillance and improvements to tracking data

The Office of Tobacco Control (OTC) in Ireland was responsible for commissioning tracking data on smoking behaviour in Ireland. There is a need for continued surveillance and research of prevalence trends in Ireland. Smoking prevalence and consumption rates are decreasing in Ireland, the long-term impacts of the smoke-free legislation on smoking behaviour in conjunction with gender, age and socioeconomic class differences in responses to this and other national policy should be investigated. Continued surveillance are vital for monitoring the impact of smoke-free legislation in the long term and for monitoring other tobacco control policies into the future, identifying cross-country differences, understanding some of the reasons for policy successes and failures, and disseminating evidence-based guidance on how to implement strong policies. Surveillance and opinion polling are needed to advance thinking and approaches to further reduce population exposure to SHS. Smoke-free cars and other outdoor policies (hospitals, colleges) are underway in Ireland and elsewhere. Statistics are needed to support these advances and demonstrate effectiveness.

This OTC tracking surveillance had taken into consideration the extensive use of mobile phones among the Irish population. Other improvements in this data collection may include use of a standardised measure for socioeconomic class or obtain data on occupational group, obtaining age as a continuous variable, obtain data on quitting behaviour and the adaptation of the questionnaire for younger participants. Research on determinants of initiation among teenagers and factors influencing sustained behaviour is important to inform development of new evidence based approaches to cessation and prevention of initiation (including education programs targeted to teens).

Occupational specific approaches to smoking cessation

The high smoking prevalence reported within this thesis among bar workers underscores the critical importance of working with this population (and similar occupational groups; construction workers, mining, soldiers, catering staff) as an audience for tobacco control efforts. Research like this also demonstrates the important in ensuring we concentrate efforts on helping the more disadvantaged groups in society to quit. And also further emphasises the potential use of adapting national surveillance to include data on occupational groups.

Effective dissemination of risks of SHS exposure

From the risk perception paper it is clear that the misconceptions among smokers of harmful effect of passive smoke need to be dealt with, particularly in relation to the risks posed by young children exposed to SHS in the home.

Recommendations for tobacco control generally

Tobacco control efforts

There is a need for sustained efforts to reduce prevalence and consumption; tobacco control cannot stand still in Ireland. Tax increases on cigarettes are seen as one of the most effective measures to reduce national prevalence rates [230] but we have witnessed only limited increases on tax on cigarettes in recent years in Ireland. Comprehensive and integrated tobacco control strategies are needed. A combination of measures such as tax increases, education and training programmes for undergraduate healthcare professionals; occupational, gender and age specific approaches to smoking cessation could be used in Ireland to tackle the tobacco epidemic more aggressively. Multi-faceted approaches are consistently proven to be more effective than solitary interventions [230].

Ireland has a long history of tobacco control but perhaps there has been an over emphasis on policy and legislative measure to tackle the issue, this needs to be redressed. Community interventions are important to supplement the macro impacts of legislation. Interventions based in Irish schools and workplaces are usually *ad hoc* and limited to a few organisations without an overall strategy and are under evaluated.

Smoking cessation services & training

Smoking cessation services need to be furthered developed in Ireland in terms of access, success and effectiveness. Health professionals including GPs provide an

essential service to the population and their community service present valuable opportunities for exchange of brief interventions advice and knowledge for clients. Training of GP practice nurses for brief interventions and the formation of clinics for smoking cessation should be considered. Development of training for smoking cessation should be continued by the HSE. Incentives could be put in place to accredit GP practices for undertaking specific training and delivering a systematic approach to smoking cessation.

Tightening of smoke-free legislation

Sustained monitoring of the smoke-free legislation and the continued development of tobacco control measures in Ireland are needed. The Irish government could ensure all smoking facilities meet regulatory requirements and that future tobacco control measures consider the potential of increased glamorisation of smoking in certain setting for certain age groups and the potential targeting of non-smokers as facilitators of the de-glamorisation of smoking should be considered. Chapter 7 References

- Heloma, A. and M.S. Jaakkola, Four-year follow-up of smoke exposure, attitudes and smoking behaviour following enactment of Finland's national smoke-free work-place law. Addiction, 2003. 98(8): p. 1111-1117.
- Eisner, M.D., Banning Smoking in Public Places: Time to Clear the Air. JAMA, 2006. 296(14): p. 1778-1779.
- Braverman, M.T., L.E. Aaro, and J. Hetland, *Changes in smoking among restaurant and bar employees following Norway's comprehensive smoking ban*. Health Promotion International, 2007. 5: p. 5-15.
- Peto, R. and A. Lopez, *Future worldwide health effects of current smoking patterns*. Critical issues in global health. San Francisco, Wiley (Jossey-Bass), 2001: p. 154–161.
- Houston, M., Ireland leads the way for Europe in banning smoking in the workplace. British Medical Journal, 2003. 327(7414): p. 522.
- Kawachi, I., N. Pearce, and R. Jackson, *Deaths from lung cancer and* ischaemic heart disease due to passive smoking in New Zealand. The New Zealand Medical Journal, 1989. 102(871): p. 337.
- Hackshaw, A., M. Law, and N. Wald, *The accumulated evidence on lung cancer and environmental tobacco smoke*. British Medical Journal, 1997. 315(7114): p. 980.
- Law, M., J. Morris, and N. Wald, *Environmental tobacco smoke exposure* and ischaemic heart disease: an evaluation of the evidence. British Medical Journal, 1997. 315(7114): p. 973.
- Whincup, P., J. Gilg, J. Emberson, M. Jarvis, C. Feyerabend, A. Bryant, M. Walker, and D. Cook, *Passive smoking and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: prospective study with cotinine measurement*. British Medical Journal, 2004. 24(329): p. 200-205.
- Radon, K., K. Busching, J. Heinrich, H. Wichmann, R. Jorres, H. Magnussen, and D. Nowak, *Passive smoking exposure: A risk factor for*

chronic bronchitis and asthma in adults? CHEST, 2002. **122**(3): p. 1086-1090.

- Leuenberger, P., J. Schwartz, U. Ackermann-Liebrich, K. Blaser, G. Bolognini, J. Bongard, O. Brandli, P. Braun, C. Bron, and M. Brutsche, *Passive smoking exposure in adults and chronic respiratory symptoms* (SAPALDIA Study). Swiss Study on Air Pollution and Lung Diseases in Adults, SAPALDIA Team. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine, 1994. **150**(5): p. 1222.
- Jaakkola, M., J. Jaakkola, M. Becklake, and P. Ernst, *Effect of passive* smoking on the development of respiratory symptoms in young adults: an 8year longitudinal study. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 1996. 49(5): p. 581-586.
- Jaakkola, M., R. Piipari, N. Jaakkola, and J. Jaakkola, *Environmental tobacco smoke and adult-onset asthma: a population-based incident case-control study*. American Journal of Public Health, 2003. **93**(12): p. 2055.
- Tamim, H., U. Musharrafieh, Z. Roueiheb, K. Yunis, and W. Almawi, *Exposure of children to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and its association with respiratory ailments*. Journal of Asthma, 2003. 40(5): p. 571-576.
- 15. Tobacco Control Initiative, W., International consultation on environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and child health, in 1999, WHO: Geneva.
- Charlton, A., *Children and passive smoking: a review*. The Journal of Family Practice, 1994. 38(3): p. 267.
- Lieu, J. and A. Feinstein, *Effect of gestational and passive smoke exposure* on ear infections in children. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 2002. 156(2): p. 147.
- Repace, J. and A. Lowrey, An enforceable indoor air quality standard for environmental tobacco smoke in the workplace. Risk Analysis, 1993. 13(4): p. 463-476.

- Jamrozik, K., Estimate of deaths attributable to passive smoking among UK adults: database analysis. British Medical Journal, 2005. 330(7495): p. 812.
- Woodward, A. and M. Laugesen, *How many deaths are caused by second hand cigarette smoke?* Tobacco Control, 2001. 10(4): p. 383.
- 21. Allwright S, M.J., Murphy D, Pratt I, Ryan M, Smith A, Guihen B, *Report* on the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) in the workplace.
- . 2003, Health and Safety Authority/Office of Tobacco Control.: Dublin:. Dublin.
- 22. Section 2 (d) of the Tobacco Products (Control of Advertising, S.a.S.P.A., 1978, Section 2 (d) of the Tobacco Products (Control of Advertising, Sponsorship and Sales Promotion) Act, 1978. 1978.
- 23. 2004, S.o.t.P.H.T.P.o.s.A., Section 7 (36) 2 of the Public Health (Tobacco) Prohibition of sponsorship Act 2004
- OIREACHTAS, Section 6 (33A, 35) of the Public Health (Tobacco) Prohibition of sponsorship Act 2009 OIREACHTAS, Editor. 2009: Dublin Ireland.
- 25. Alliance, I.H.I., Irish Hospitality Industry Alliance comprised of the Licensed Vintners' Association, the Vintners' Federation of Ireland, the Irish Hotels Federation, IBEC, ICMOA, Irish Restaurants Association, Irish Nightclubs Industry.
- 26. Chapman, S. and B. Freeman, *Markers of the denormalisation of smoking and the tobacco industry*. Tobacco Control, 2008. **17**(1): p. 25.
- 27. WHO, WHO report on the global tobacco epidemic, 2009 implementing smoke-free environments. 2009.
- 28. <u>http://www.smokefreepartnership.eu/Smoke-free-legislation-in-the-EU</u>.
 2010 [cited 2010 18th May 2010].
- 29. *Tobacco Atlas; Smoke-free legislations worldwide* [cited 2010 18th May 2010]; Available from: http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/smokefreeareas.html.

- 30. Whitehead, M. and G. Dahlgren, *Concepts and principles for tackling social inequities in health: Levelling up Part 1.* Copenhagen: WHO, 2007.
- 31. Farrelly, M.C., J.M. Nonnemaker, R. Chou, A. Hyland, K.K. Peterson, and U.E. Bauer, *Changes in hospitality workers' exposure to secondhand smoke following the implementation of New York's smoke-free law.* Tobacco Control, 2005. 14(4): p. 236-241.
- Ellingsen, D.G., G. Fladseth, H.L. Daae, M. Gjolstad, K. Kjaerheim, M. Skogstad, R. Olsen, S. Thorud, and P. Molander, *Airborne exposure and biological monitoring of bar and restaurant workers before and after the introduction of a smoking ban*. Journal of Environmental Monitoring, 2006.
 8(3): p. 362-368.
- Pierce, J. and M. León, *Effectiveness of smoke-free policies*. The Lancet Oncology, 2008. 9(7): p. 614-615.
- Goodman P, Agnew M, McCaffrey M, Paul G, and C. L, *Effects of the Irish Smoking Ban on Respiratory Health of Bar Workers and Air Quality in Dublin Pubs.* American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, 2007. 175: p. 840-845.
- 35. Mulcahy, M., D.S. Evans, S.K. Hammond, J.L. Repace, and M. Byrne, Secondhand smoke exposure and risk following the Irish smoking ban: an assessment of salivary cotinine concentrations in hotel workers and air nicotine levels in bars. Tobacco Control, 2005. **14**(6): p. 384-388.
- 36. Ayres, J., S. Semple, L. MacCalman, S. Dempsey, S. Hilton, F. Hurley, B. Miller, A. Naji, and M. Petticrew, Bar workers' Health and Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure (BHETSE): Symptomatic improvement in bar staff following smoke-free legislation in Scotland. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 2009. 66: p. 339-346.
- Eagan, T., J. Hetland, and L. Aarø, *Decline in respiratory symptoms in service workers five months after a public smoking ban*. Tobacco Control, 2006. 15(3): p. 242.

- 38. Larsson, M., G. Boëthius, S. Axelsson, and S. Montgomery, *Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and health effects among hospitality workers in Sweden--before and after the implementation of a smoke-free law.* Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health, 2008. **34**(4): p. 267.
- Allwright, S., G. Paul, B. Greiner, B.J. Mullally, L. Pursell, A. Kelly, B. Bonner, M. D'Eath, B. McConnell, J.P. McLaughlin, D. O'Donovan, E. O'Kane, and I.J. Perry, *Legislation for smoke-free workplaces and health of bar workers in Ireland: before and after study*. British Medical Journal, 2005. 331(7525): p. 1117-.
- Al-Delaimy, W., M. White, and D. Trinidad, *The California Tobacco* Control Program: Can We Maintain the Progress? Results from the California Tobacco Survey (CTS), 1990-2005 (Vol. 2). 2008, California Department of Public Health. Sacramento, CA. February.
- Cesaroni, G., F. Forastiere, N. Agabiti, P. Valente, P. Zuccaro, and C. Perucci, *Effect of the Italian smoking ban on population rates of acute coronary events*. Circulation, 2008. **117**(9): p. 1183.
- 42. Bartecchi, C., R. Alsever, C. Nevin-Woods, W. Thomas, R. Estacio, B. Bartelson, and M. Krantz, *Reduction in the incidence of acute myocardial infarction associated with a citywide smoking ordinance*. Circulation, 2006. 114(14): p. 1490.
- 43. Pell, J., S. Haw, S. Cobbe, D. Newby, A. Pell, C. Fischbacher, A. McConnachie, S. Pringle, D. Murdoch, and F. Dunn, *Smoke-free legislation* and hospitalizations for acute coronary syndrome. The New England Journal of Medicine, 2008. **359**(5): p. 482.
- 44. Hopkins, D., P. Briss, C. Ricard, C. Husten, V. Carande-Kulis, J. Fielding, M. Alao, J. McKenna, D. Sharp, and J. Harris, *Reviews of evidence regarding interventions to reduce tobacco use and exposure to environmental tobacco smoke*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 2001. 20(2S1): p. 16-66.

- 45. OTC. Current trends in cigarette smoking. 2010 (accessed June 2011; available at <u>http://www.otc.ie/fig.asp?image=2010Charts/Fig2.1.jpg</u>. 2010 [cited.
- 46. Elton, P. and P. Campbell, Smoking prevalence in a north-west town following the introduction of Smoke-free England. Journal of Public Health, 2008. 30(4): p. 415-420.
- 47. Galán, I., N. Mata, C. Estrada, L. Díez-Gañán, L. Velázquez, B. Zorrilla, A. Gandarillas, and H. Ortiz, *Impact of the'' Tobacco control law'' on exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in Spain*. BMC Public Health, 2007. 7(1): p. 224.
- Lee, J.T., S.A. Glantz, and C. Millett, *Effect of Smoke-Free Legislation on* Adult Smoking Behaviour in England in the 18 Months following Implementation. PloS one, 2011. 6(6): p. e20933.
- Tramacere, I., S. Gallus, E. Fernandez, P. Zuccaro, P. Colombo, and C. La Vecchia, *Medium-term effects of Italian smoke-free legislation: findings from four annual population-based surveys.* Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 2009. 63(7): p. 559.
- 50. Semple, S., L. Maccalman, A. Naji, S. Dempsey, S. Hilton, B. Miller, and J. Ayres, Bar workers' exposure to second-hand smoke: The effect of Scottish Smoke-free legislation on Occupational Exposure. Annals of Occupational Hygiene, 2007. 51(7): p. 571-580.
- Bajoga, U., S. Lewis, A. McNeill, and L. Szatkowski, Does the introduction of comprehensive smokefree legislation lead to a decrease in population smoking prevalence? Addiction, 2011. 106(7): p. 1346-1354.
- 52. Martinez-Sanchez, J., E. Fernandez, M. Fu, M. Perez-Rios, M. Lopez, C. Ariza, J. Pascual, A. Schiaffino, R. Perez-Ortuno, and E. Salto, *Impact of the Spanish smoking law in smoker hospitality workers*. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009. **11**(9): p. 1099.

- 53. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, and C. Martin, Public places after smoke-free--A qualitative exploration of the changes in smoking behaviour. Health & Place, 2009. 16(3): p. 461-469.
- 54. Owen, N. and R. Borland, *Delayed compensatory cigarette consumption after a workplace smoking ban.* British Medical Journal, 1997. **6**(2): p. 131.
- 55. Wilson, N., G. Sertsou, R. Edwards, G. Thomson, M. Grigg, and J. Li, A new national smokefree law increased calls to a national quitline. BMC Public Health, 2007. 7(1): p. 75.
- Fowkes, F., M. Stewart, F. Fowkes, A. Amos, and J. Price, *Scottish smoke-free legislation and trends in smoking cessation*. Addiction, 2008. 103(11): p. 1888-1895.
- Hackshaw, L., A. McEwen, R. West, and L. Bauld, *Quit attempts in response to smoke-free legislation in England*. British Medical Journal, 2010. 19(2): p. 160.
- Hyland, A., L. Hassan, C. Higbee, C. Boudreau, G. Fong, R. Borland, K. Cummings, M. Yan, M. Thompson, and G. Hastings, *The impact of smokefree legislation in Scotland: results from the Scottish ITC Scotland/UK longitudinal surveys*. The European Journal of Public Health, 2009. 19(2): p. 198.
- Eadiea, D., S. MacAskilla, D. Heimb, and G. Hastings, *Responding to change: how did bar workers adapt to the smoke-free legislation in Scotland?* International Journal of Environmental Health Research, 2010. 20(1): p. 13-26.
- 60. Fong, G., A. Hyland, R. Borland, D. Hammond, G. Hastings, A. McNeill, S. Anderson, K. Cummings, S. Allwright, and M. Mulcahy, *Reductions in tobacco smoke pollution and increases in support for smoke-free public places following the implementation of comprehensive smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland: findings from the ITC Ireland/UK Survey.* Tobacco Control, 2006. 15(3): p. 51-58.

- Brown, A., C. Moodie, and G. Hastings, A longitudinal study of policy effect (smoke-free legislation) on smoking norms: ITC Scotland/United Kingdom. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009. 11(8): p. 924.
- 62. Callinan, J., A. Clarke, K. Doherty, and C. Kelleher, *Legislative smoking* bans for reducing secondhand smoke exposure, smoking prevalence and tobacco consumption. Cochrane Database Systematic Reviews, 2010. **14**(4).
- Hahn, E., M. Rayens, R. Langley, A. Darville, and M. Dignan, *Time since* smoke-free law and smoking cessation behaviors. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009: p. 1011-1015.
- 64. Bauer, J., A. Hyland, Q. Li, C. Steger, and K. Cummings, A longitudinal assessment of the impact of smoke-free worksite policies on tobacco use. American Journal of Public Health, 2005. 95(6): p. 1024.
- Laurier, R.M., L. Goodwin, N., Daily and lifecourse contexts of smoking.
 Sociology of Health and Illness 2000. 22(3): p. 289-309.
- 66. Gilman, S.E., D.B. Abrams, and S.L. Buka, Socioeconomic status over the life course and stages of cigarette use: initiation, regular use, and cessation. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 2003. 57(10): p. 802.
- 67. Parry, O.T., C. Fowkes, G., Cultural context, older age and smoking in Scotland: qualitative interviews with older smokers with arterial disease. Health Promotion International, 2002. 17(4): p. 309.
- Pavis, S.C.-B., S. Amos, A., *Health Related Behavioural Change in Context: Young People in Transition*. Social Science and Medicine, 1998.
 47(10): p. 1407-1418.
- McMillen, R.C., J. Breen, W. Frese, and A.G. Cosby, *Rural-Urban Differences in Social Climate Surrounding Environmental Tobacco Smoke:* A report from the 2002 Social Climate Survey of Tobacco Control. The Journal of Rural Health, 2004. 20(1): p. 7-16.

- Bancroft, A.W., S. Parry, O. Amos, A., "It's like an addiction first thing.....afterwards it's like a habit": daily smoking behaviour among people living in areas of deprivation. Social Science and Medicine, 2003. 56: p. 1261-1267.
- 71. Poland, B., *Smoking, stigma, and the purification of public space*. 1998. p. 208-225.
- Thompson, L., J. Pearce, and J.R. Barnett, *Moralising geographies: stigma, smoking islands and responsible subjects*. Royal Geographical Society, 2007. **39**(4): p. 508-517.
- 73. Pursell, L., S. Allwright, D. O'Donovan, G. Paul, A. Kelly, B.J. Mullally, and M. D'Eath, *Before and after study of bar workers' perceptions of the impact* of smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland. BioMed Central- Public Health, 2007. 7(1): p. 131.
- 74. Levy, D.T. and K.B. Friend, *The effects of clean indoor air laws: what do we know and what do we need to know?*
- 10.1093/her/cyf045. Health Educ. Res., 2003. 18(5): p. 592-609.
- 75. Chapman, S., R. Borland, M. Scollo, R. Brownson, A. Dominello, and S. Woodward, *The impact of smoke-free workplaces on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the United States*. Am J Public Health, 1999. 89(7): p. 1018-1023.
- Woodruff, T.J., B. Rosbrook, J. Pierce, and S.A. Glantz, Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California 10.1001/archinte.153.12.1485. Arch Intern Med, 1993. 153(12): p. 1485-1493.
- 77. Fichtenberg, C. and S. Glantz, *Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review*. British Medical Journal, 2002. 325(7357): p. 188.
- 78. Jeffery, R.W., S.H. Kelder, J.L. Forster, S.A. French, H.A. Lando, and J.E. Baxter, *Restrictive Smoking Policies in the Workplace: Effects on Smoking*

Prevalence and Cigarette Consumption. Journal of Preventive Medicine, 1994. **23**(1): p. 78-82.

- Farrelly, M.C., W.N. Evans, and A.E.S. Sfekas, *The impact of workplace smoking bans: results from a national survey*. British Medical Journal, 1999.
 8(3): p. 272.
- 80. Brandt, A.M., *Blow some my way: passive smoking, risk and American culture.* Clio Medica, 1998. **46**: p. 164-87.
- 81. Poland, B.D., *The 'considerate'smoker in public space: the micro-politics and political economy of 'doing the right thing'*. 2000. **6**(1): p. 1-14.
- 82. Sibley, D., *Geographies of Exclusion: Society and Difference in the West*.1995: Routledge.
- Nyborg, K. and M. Rege, On social norms: the evolution of considerate smoking behavior. Journal of Economic Behaviour & Organisation, 2003.
 52(3): p. 323-340.
- 84. Colotelo C, M.C., Mosneagu AM, Munteanu C, Munteanu P, Preda I, Anthropology of Pubs: the Identity Role of a Pub, P.C.N. R, Editor: National School of Political Science & Administration Bucharest Romania.
- Oldenburg, R., The Great Good Place: Cafes, Coffee Shops, Bookstores, Bars, Hair Salons, and Other Hangouts at the Heart of a Community. 1999: Marlowe & Company.
- Pratten, J.D., *Smoking policies in UK pubs: a business opportunity?* Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 2003. 15(2): p. 120-125.
- Fuhrer, U., Bridging the ecological-psychological gap: Behavior settings as interfaces. Environment and Behavior, 1990. 22(4): p. 518.
- 88. Goffman, E., Stigma: notes on the management of spoiled identity. 1963: Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

- 89. Farrimond, H.R. and H. Joffe, *Pollution, Peril and Poverty: A British Study of the Stigmatization of Smokers*. 2006, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. p. 481.
- Fischer, B. and B. Poland, *Exclusion, 'risk', and social control—reflections on community policing and public health.* Geoform, 1998. 29(2): p. 187-197.
- 91. Wang, M.Q., E.C. Fitzhugh, R.C. Westerfield, and J.M. Eddy, *Family and peer influences on smoking behavior among American adolescents: an age trend*. Journal of Adolescent Health, 1995. 16(3): p. 200-3.
- 92. Distefan, J.M., E.A. Gilpin, W.S. Choi, and J.P. Pierce, *Parental Influences Predict Adolescent Smoking in the United States*, 1989-1993. Journal of Adolescent Health, 1998. 22(6): p. 466-474.
- Stuber, J., S. Galea, and B. Link, *Smoking and the emergence of a stigmatized social status*. Social Science & Medicine, 2008. 67(3): p. 420-430.
- Rose, J.S., L. Chassin, C.C. Presson, and S.J. Sherman, *Demographic factors in adult smoking status: mediating and moderating influences*. Psychology of Addictive Behaviours, 1996. 10: p. 28–37.
- 95. Benowitz, N.L. and D. Hatsukami, *Gender differences in the pharmacology of nicotine addiction*. Addiction Biology, 1998. **3**: p. 383-404.
- 96. Liang, L., F. Chaloupka, M. Nichter, and R. Clayton, *Prices, policies and youth smoking, May 2001.* Addiction 2003. **98**(s 1): p. 105-122.
- 97. Graham, H., Gender and class as dimensions of smoking behaviour in Britain: insights from a survey of mothers. Social Science & Medicine, 1994.
 38(5): p. 691-698.
- Steinert, H., Soziale Ausschließung–Das richtige Thema zur richtigen Zeit. Kriminologisches Journal, 1995. 27(2): p. 82-88.
- 99. Fischer, B. and B. Poland, *Exclusion*, 'risk', and social control—reflections on community policing and public health. 1998. **29**(2): p. 187-197.

- 100. Lupton, D., *The imperative of health: public health and the regulated body.* (1995) London. 1995: Sage.
- 101. Stead, M.M., S. MacKintosh, A. Reece, J. Eadie, D., "It's as if your locked in": qualitative explanations for area effects on smoking in disadvantaged communities. . Health and Place, 2001. 7 p. 333-343.
- 102. Foucault, *Governmentality* Ideology and Consciousness, 1979. 6: p. 5–21.
- 103. Cojocaru, *Challenges in Using Mix Methods in Evaluation*.Postmodern Openings, 2010. **3**: p. 35-47.
- 104. Johnson, R.B. and A.J. Onwuegbuzie, *Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come*. Educational researcher, 2004.
 33(7): p. 14.
- Harrits, More Than Methods?: A Discussion of Paradign Differences
 Within Mixed Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 2011.
 5(2): p. 150-166.
- Creswell JW, T.A., *Editorial: Differing Persepctives on Mixed* Methods Research. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 2007. 1(4): p. 303-308.
- 107. Denscombe, *Communities of Practice; A Research Paradigm for the Mixed Methods Approach*. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 2008. 2(2):
 p. 270-283.
- 108. Patton, M., *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. 2002: Sage Publications, Inc.
- 109. Holloway, I. and S. Wheeler, *Qualitative Research in Nursing and Healthcare*. 2010: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Baum, F., *Researching public health: behind the qualitative-quantitative methodological debate*. Social Science & Medicine, 1995. **40**(4): p. 459-468.

- 111. Rosenstock IM, S.V., Becker MH, Social Learning Theory and the health belief model. Health Education and Behaviour, 1988. 15(2): p. 175-183.
- 112. Prochaska JO, R.C., Evers KE, *The transtheoretical model and stages* of change, in *Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research and Practice*, R.B. Glanz K, Viswanath K, Editor. 2008, Jossey-Bass: California.
- 113. Montano DE, K.D., Theory of Reasoned Action, Theory of Planned Behaviour and the Integrated Behavioural Model, in Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research and Practice, R.B. Glanz K, Viswanath K, Editor. 2008, John Wiley & Son: California. p. 97-122.
- 114. Richard, L., L. Gauvin, and K. Raine, *Ecological Models Revisited: Their Uses and Evolution in Health Promotion Over Two Decades*. Annual Review of Public Health, 2011. **32**: p. 307-26.
- 115. McLaren, L. and P. Hawe, *Ecological perspectives in health research*. Journal of epidemiology and community health, 2005. **59**(1): p. 6.
- Huisman, M., F.J. Van Lenthe, K. Giskes, C.B.M. Kamphuis, J.
 Brug, and J.P. Mackenbach, *Explaining socio-economic inequalities in daily smoking: a social–ecological approach*. The European Journal of Public Health, 2011. 22(2): p. 238-243.
- 117. Elder, J.P., L. Lytle, J.F. Sallis, D.R. Young, A. Steckler, D. Simons-Morton, E. Stone, J.B. Jobe, J. Stevens, T. Lohman, L. Webber, R. Pate, B.I. Saksvig, and K. Ribisl, A description of the social–ecological framework used in the trial of activity for adolescent girls (TAAG). Health Education Research, 2007. 22(2): p. 155-165.
- 118. Sallis, J.F., N. Owen, and E.B. Fisher, eds. *Ecological models of health behavior*. 4th ed. Health Behaviour and Health Education; Theory, Research and Practice, ed. B.K.R. KAREN GLANZ, K. VISWANATH. 2008, Jossey-Bass: San Francisco. 465.
- 119. Whitehead M, B.M., Curtis S, Raphael D Dahlgren and Whitehead and beyond: The social determinants of health in research, policy and service delivery, in Society for Social Medicine and the Cardiff Institute of Society, Health & Ethics. 2005: Cardiff.
- 120. Wilkinson, R. and M. Marmot, *Social determinants of health: the solid facts*. 2003: World Health Organization.
- 121. Kuper, H. and M. Marmot, Job strain, job demands, decision latitude, and risk of coronary heart disease within the Whitehall II study. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 2003. 57(2): p. 147.
- 122. Mackenbach, J., *Health inequalities: Europe in profile*. 2006: produced by COI for the Department of Health.
- 123. Mackenbach, J., W. Meerding, and A. Kunst, *Economic implications* of socio-economic inequalities in health in the European Union. 2007.
- Howell, F., Smoking cessation--time to move forward. Irish Medical Journal, 2002. 95(2): p. 36.
- 125. Hemingway, H. and M. Marmot, Evidence based cardiology: psychosocial factors in the aetiology and prognosis of coronary heart disease: systematic review of prospective cohort studies. British Medical Journal, 1999. **318**(7196): p. 1460.
- 126. Layte, R. and C. Whelan, Explaining social class inequalities in smoking: the role of education, self-efficacy, and deprivation. European Sociological Review, 2009. 25(4): p. 399.
- 127. SLÁN, *The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys* 2007, RCSI, ESRI, UCC & NUIG Ireland.: Galway, Dublin, Cork.
- 128. Thomas, S., D. Fayter, K. Misso, D. Ogilvie, M. Petticrew, A. Sowden, M. Whitehead, and G. Worthy, *Population tobacco control interventions and their effects on social inequalities in smoking: systematic review*. Tobacco Control, 2008. **17**(4): p. 230.

- 129. Van Loon, A., M. Tijhuis, P. Surtees, and J. Ormel, *Determinants of smoking status: cross-sectional data on smoking initiation and cessation*.
 The European Journal of Public Health, 2005. 15(3): p. 256.
- Zarcadoolas, C., A. Pleasant, and D.S. Greer, *Understanding health literacy: an expanded model*. Health Promotion International, 2005. 20(2): p. 195-203.
- 131. Siahpush, M., A. McNeill, D. Hammond, and G. Fong, Socioeconomic and country variations in knowledge of health risks of tobacco smoking and toxic constituents of smoke: results from the 2002 International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. Tobacco control, 2006. 15(3): p. 65-70.
- 132. Escobedo, L., R. Anda, P. Smith, P. Remington, and E. Mast, Sociodemographic characteristics of cigarette smoking initiation in the United States: implications for smoking prevention policy. JAMA, 1990.
 264(12): p. 1550.
- Giskes, K., A.E. Kunst, J. Benach, C. Borrell, G. Costa, E. Dahl,
 J.A.A. Dalstra, B. Federico, U. Helmert, K. Judge, E. Lahelma, K. Moussa,
 P.O. Ostergren, S. Platt, R. Prattala, N.K. Rasmussen, and J.P. Mackenbach, *Trends in smoking behaviour between 1985 and 2000 in nine European countries by education*. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health,
 2005. 59(5): p. 395-401.
- 134. Avenevoli, S. and K. Merikangas, *Familial influences on adolescent smoking*. Addiction, 2003. **98**(s 1): p. 1-20.
- Gilbert, G., E. Hannan, and K. Lowe, *Is smoking stigma clouding the objectivity of employee performance appraisal?* Public Personnel Management, 1998. 27(3): p. 285-300.
- 136. Mullally, B., B. Greiner, S. Allwright, G. Paul, and I. Perry, Prevalence of smoking among bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland

smokefree workplace legislation. Irish journal of medical science, 2008. **177**(4): p. 309-316.

- 137. Repace, J.L., J.N. Hyde, and D. Brugge, *Air pollution in Boston bars before and after a smoking ban.* BMC Public Health, 2006. **6**(1): p. 266.
- 138. Jones, S., C. Love, G. Thomson, R. Green, and P. Howden-Chapman, Second-hand smoke at work: the exposure, perceptions and attitudes of bar and restaurant workers to environmental tobacco smoke. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2001. 25(1): p. 90-3.
- Bang, K.M. and J.H. Kim, Prevalence of cigarette smoking by occupation and industry in the United States. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 2001. 40(3): p. 233-239.
- Edwards, R., C. Hasselholdt, K. Hargreaves, C. Probert, R. Holford,
 J. Hart, M. Van Tongeren, and A. Watson, *Levels of second hand smoke in pubs and bars by deprivation and food-serving status: a cross-sectional study from North West England.* BMC Public Health, 2006. 6(1): p. 42.
- 141. Jarvis, M., J. Foulds, and C. Feyerabend, *Exposure to passive smoking among bar staff*. British Journal of Addiction, 1992. 87(1): p. 111-3.
- 142. Bates, M., J. Fawcett, S. Dickson, R. Berezowski, and N. Garrett, *Exposure of hospitality workers to environmental tobacco smoke*. Tobacco Control, 2002. **11**(2): p. 125-129.
- Allwright, S., G. Paul, B. Greiner, B.J. Mullally, L. Pursell, A. Kelly,
 B. Bonner, M. D'Eath, B. McConnell, J.P. McLaughlin, D. O'Donovan, E.
 O'Kane, and I.J. Perry, *Legislation for smoke-free workplaces and health of bar workers in Ireland: before and after study*
- 10.1136/bmj.38636.499225.55. British Medical Journal, 2005. **331**(7525): p. 1117-.
- 144. Mulcahy, M., D.S. Evans, S.K. Hammond, J.L. Repace, and M. Byrne, *Secondhand smoke exposure and risk following the Irish smoking*

ban: an assessment of salivary cotinine concentrations in hotel workers and air nicotine levels in bars

10.1136/tc.2005.011635. Tobacco Control, 2005. 14(6): p. 384-388.

- 145. Jones, S., C. Love, G. Thomson, R. Green, and P. Howden-Chapman, Second-hand smoke at work: the exposure, perceptions and attitudes of bar and restaurant workers to environmental tobacco smoke. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2001. 25(1): p. 90–3.
- Bang, K. and J. Kim, *Prevalence of cigarette smoking by occupation and industry in the United States*. American Journal of Industrial Medicine, 2001. 40(3): p. 233-239.
- 147. Chapman, S., R. Borland, M. Scollo, R. Brownson, A. Dominello, and S. Woodward, *The impact of smoke-free workplaces on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the United States*. American Journal of Public Health, 1999. **89**(7): p. 1018-1023.
- 148. Woodruff, T.J., B. Rosbrook, J. Pierce, and S.A. Glantz, Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California
- 10.1001/archinte.153.12.1485. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1993. **153**(12): p. 1485-1493.
- Brenner H, F.B., Smoking Regulations at the Workplace and Smoking Behavior: A Study from Southern Germany. Preventative Medicine, 1994.
 23: p. 230-234.
- Longo, D.R., J.C. Johnson, R.L. Kruse, R.C. Brownson, and J.E.
 Hewett, A prospective investigation of the impact of smoking bans on tobacco cessation and relapse

- 151. Office, C.S., <u>www.cso.ie</u>.
- Standard Occupational Classification. Second ed. HMSO. 1995, London.

^{10.1136/}tc.10.3.267. Tobacco Control, 2001. **10**(3): p. 267-272.

- 153. Averbach AR, L.D., Lam LJ, Sharfstein J, Cohen B, Koh H Smoking behaviours and attitudes among male restaurant workers in Boston's Chinatown: a pilot study. Tobacco Control, 2002. **11** p. 34-37.
- SLÁN, The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys in Centre for Health Promotion Studies, Galway: National University of Ireland. 1999, Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland.: Galway.
- SLÁN, *The National Health and Lifestyle Surveys* 2003, Centre for Health Promotion Studies, National University of Ireland.: Galway.
- 156. Holbrook AL, Green MC, and K. JA, Telephone versus Face-to-Face Interviewing of National Probability Samples with Long Questionnaires: Comparisons of Respondent Satisficing and Social Desirability Response Bias. Public Opinion Quarterly, 2003. 67: p. 79-125.
- 157. Levy, D.T. and K.B. Friend, *The effects of clean indoor air laws:* what do we know and what do we need to know? Health Education Research, 2003. 18(5): p. 592-609.
- 158. Friend, K. and D.T. Levy, Reductions in smoking prevalence and cigarette consumption associated with mass-media campaigns. 2002, Oxford Univ Press. p. 85-98.
- 159. Pierce, J.P. and E.A. Gilpin, *News media coverage of smoking and health is associated with changes in population rates of smoking cessation but not initiation.* British Medical Journal, 2001. **10**(2): p. 145.
- 160. Li, M., Chapman S, Agho K, Eastman C, Can even minimal news coverage influence consumerhealth-related behaviour? A case study of iodized

salt sales, Australia. Health Education Research, 2007. 3(23): p. 543-548.

161. Wakefield, M., B. Flay, M. Nichter, and G. Giovino, *Effects of Anti-Smoking Advertising on Youth Smoking: A Review*. Journal of Health Communication, 2003. 8(3): p. 229-247.

- 162. Allwright, S., G. Paul, B. Greiner, B.J. Mullally, L. Pursell, A. Kelly,
 B. Bonner, M. D'Eath, B. McConnell, J.P. McLaughlin, D. O'Donovan, E.
 O'Kane, and I.J. Perry, *Legislation for smoke-free workplaces and health of bar workers in Ireland: before and after study.* BMJ, 2005. 331(7525): p. 1117-.
- 163. Mulcahy, M., D.S. Evans, S.K. Hammond, J.L. Repace, and M. Byrne, Secondhand smoke exposure and risk following the Irish smoking ban: an assessment of salivary cotinine concentrations in hotel workers and air nicotine levels in bars. British Medical Journal, 2005. 14(6): p. 384.
- 164. Mullally BJ, G.B., Allwright S, Paul G, Perry IJ., *Prevalence of smoking among bar workers prior to the Republic of Ireland smokefree workplace legislation.* Irish Journal of Medical Sciences 2008; *in press.*
- 165. Gallus, S., P. Zuccaro, P. Colombo, G. Apolone, R. Pacifici, S. Garattini, and C. La Vecchia, *Effects of new smoking regulations in Italy*. Ann Oncol, 2006. **17**(2): p. 346-347.
- 166. Fichtenberg, C.M. and S.A. Glantz, *Effect of smoke-free workplaces* on smoking behaviour: systematic review. British Medical Journal, 2002.
 325(7357): p. 188.
- 167. Chapman, S., R. Borland, R. Brownson, M. Scollo, A. Dominello, and S. Woodward, *The impact of workplace smoking bans on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the USA*. Am J Public Health, 1999.
 89: p. 1018-23.
- 168. Woodruff, T.J., B. Rosbrook, J. Pierce, and S.A. Glantz, Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California.153.12.1485. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1993. 153(12): p. 1485-1493.
- 169. Slovic, P., Smoking: risk, perception & policy. 2001, London: Sage Publications.

- 170. Power, B., S. Neilson, and I. Perry, *Perception of the risks of smoking in the general population and among general practitioners in Ireland*. Irish Journal of Medical Science, 2004. **173**(3): p. 141-144.
- 171. Viscusi, W., Age variations in risk perceptions and smoking decisions. The Review of Economics and Statistics, 1991. 73(4): p. 577-588.
- Sutton, S., *How ordinary people in Great Britain perceive the health risks of smoking*. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 1998.
 52(5): p. 338.
- Slovic, P., What does it mean to know a cumulative risk?
 Adolescents' perceptions of short-term and long-term consequences of smoking. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 2000. 13(2): p. 259-266.
- 174. Romer, D. and P. Jamieson, *The role of perceived risk in starting and stopping smoking*. Smoking: Risk, Perception & Policy, Thousand Oaks, California, Sage, 2001: p. 64-80.
- 175. Viscusi, W., *Do smokers underestimate risks?* Journal of Political Economy, 1990: p. 1253-1269.
- 176. Weinstein, N., Public understanding of risk and reasons for smoking low-yield products, in Risks associated with smoking cigarettes with low machine-measured yields of tar and nicotine. 2001, U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, National Cancer Institute. p. 193–198.
- 177. Weinstein, N., Accuracy of smokers' risk perceptions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 1998. 20(2): p. 135-140.
- 178. Cummings, K., A. Hyland, G. Giovino, J. Hastrup, J. Bauer, and M. Bansal, Are smokers adequately informed about the health risks of smoking and medicinal nicotine? Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2004. 6: p. 333-340.
- Kreuzer, M., J. Heinrich, L. Kreienbrock, A. Rosario, M. Gerken, and
 H. Wichmann, *Risk factors for lung cancer among nonsmoking women*.
 International Journal of Cancer, 2002. **100**(6): p. 706-713.

- 180. Siegel, M. and M. Skeer, *Exposure to secondhand smoke and excess lung cancer mortality risk among workers in the "5 B's": bars, bowling alleys, billiard halls, betting establishments, and bingo parlours.* Tobacco control, 2003. **12**(3): p. 333.
- 181. Pitsavos, C., D. Panagiotakos, C. Chrysohoou, J. Skoumas, K. Tzioumis, C. Stefanadis, and P. Toutouzas, *Association between exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and the development of acute coronary syndromes: the CARDIO2000 case–control study*. Tobacco control, 2002. 11(3): p. 220.
- Kritz, H., P. Schmid, and H. Sinzinger, *Passive smoking and cardiovascular risk*. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1995. 155(18): p. 1942.
- 183. Iribarren, C., J. Darbinian, A. Klatsky, and G. Friedman, *Cohort study of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke and risk of first ischemic stroke and transient ischemic attack*. Neuroepidemiology, 2004. 23(1-2): p. 38.
- Panagiotakos, D. and C. Pitsavos, *Passive smoking's role in diabetes*.
 More evidence of the harmfulness of tobacco smoke. British Medical Journal, 2006. 332(7549): p. 1044.
- 185. Houston, T., S. Person, M. Pletcher, K. Liu, C. Iribarren, and C. Kiefe, Active and passive smoking and development of glucose intolerance among young adults in a prospective cohort: CARDIA study. British Medical Journal, 2006. 332(7549): p. 1064.
- 186. Hayashino, Y., S. Fukuhara, T. Okamura, H. Yamato, H. Tanaka, T. Tanaka, T. Kadowaki, and H. Ueshima, A Prospective Study of Passive Smoking and Risk of Diabetes in a Cohort of Workers. Diabetes care, 2008. 31(4): p. 732.
- 187. Green, E., C. Courage, and L. Rushton, *Reducing domestic exposure* to environmental tobacco smoke: a review of attitudes and behaviours. The

journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health, 2003. **123**(1): p. 46.

- 188. Duaso, M., J. De Irala, and N. Canga, Employee's perceived exposure to environmental tobacco smoke, passive smoking risk beliefs and attitudes towards smoking: a case study in a university setting. Health Education Research, 2006. 21(1): p. 26.
- 189. Halpern-Felsher, B. and M. Rubinstein, Clear the air: adolescents' perceptions of the risks associated with secondhand smoke. Preventive Medicine, 2005. 41(1): p. 16-22.
- 190. Heath, J., J. Andrews, F. Kelley, and J. Sorrell, *Caught in the middle:* experiences of tobacco-dependent nurse practitioners. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 2005. 16(9): p. 396-401.
- Radsma, J. and J. Bottorff, *Counteracting ambivalence: Nurses who* smoke and their health promotion role with patients who smoke. Research in Nursing & Health, 2009. **32**(4): p. 443-452.
- 192. Slovic, P., *Rejoinder: the perils of Viscusi's analyses of smoking risk perceptions*. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 2000. 13(2): p. 273-276.
- Edwards, R., G. Thomson, N. Wilson, A. Waa, C. Bullen, D. O'Dea,
 H. Gifford, M. Glover, M. Laugesen, and A. Woodward, *After the smoke has cleared: evaluation of the impact of a new national smoke-free law in New Zealand*. British Medical Journal, 2008. 17(1): p. e2.
- 194. Akhtar, P., D. Currie, C. Currie, and S. Haw, *Changes in child* exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (CHETS) study after implementation of smoke-free legislation in Scotland: national cross sectional survey. British Medical Journal, 2007: p. 335-545.
- 195. Haw, S. and L. Gruer, *Changes in exposure of adult non-smokers to* secondhand smoke after implementation of smoke-free legislation in

Scotland: national cross sectional survey. British Medical Journal, 2007. **335**(7619): p. 549.

- 196. Bird, Y., J. Moraros, L.K. Olsen, S. Forster-Cox, H. Staines-Orozco, and R.W. Buckingham, *Smoking practices, risk perception of smoking, and environmental tobacco smoke exposure among 6th-grade students in Ciudad Juarez, Mexico.* 2007, Informa Healthcare. p. 195-203.
- 197. Rothman, A. and M. Kiviniemi, *Treating people with information: an analysis and review of approaches to communicating health risk information.* JNCI Monographs, 1999. **1999**(25): p. 44.
- 198. Thomson, G. and N. Wilson, *Public attitudes to laws for smoke-free* private vehicles: a brief review. British Medical Journal, 2009. **18**(4): p. 256.
- 199. Link, B.G. and J.C. Phelan, *Conceptualizing Stigma*. Annual Review of Sociology, 2001. **27**(1): p. 363-385.
- Steinert, H., Soziale Ausschließung–Das richtige Thema zur richtigen Zeit. 1995. 27(2): p. 82-88.
- 201. Mullally, B., B. Greiner, S. Allwright, G. Paul, and I. Perry, *The effect of the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking among bar workers.* The European Journal of Public Health, 2009. **19**(2): p. 206.
- 202. Pursell, L., S. Allwright, D. O'Donovan, G. Paul, A. Kelly, B.J.
 Mullally, and M. D'Eath, *Before and after study of bar workers' perceptions* of the impact of smoke-free workplace legislation in the Republic of Ireland. 2007. 7(1): p. 131.
- 203. Eadiea, D., S. MacAskilla, D. Heimb, and G. Hastingsa, *Responding to change: how did bar workers adapt to the smoke-free legislation in Scotland?* International Journal of Environmental Health Research, 2010.
 20(1): p. 13-26.
- 204. Hargreaves, K., A. Amos, G. Highet, C. Martin, S. Platt, D. Ritchie, and M. White, *The social context of change in tobacco consumption*

following the introduction of 'smokefree' England legislation: A qualitative, longitudinal study. Social Science & Medicine, 2010. **71**(3): p. 459-466.

- 205. Thompson, L., J. Pearce, and J.R. Barnett, Moralising geographies: stigma, smoking islands and responsible subjects. 2007, Blackwell Publishing.
- 206. Hilton, S., J. Cameron, A. MacLean, and M. Petticrew, *Observations* from behind the bar: changing patrons' behaviours in response to smoke-free legislation in Scotland. BMC Public Health, 2008. **8**(1): p. 238.
- 207. Rose, J.S., L. Chassin, C.C. Presson, and S.J. Sherman, *Demographic factors in adult smoking status: mediating and moderating influences*. 1996.
 10: p. 28–37.
- 208. Benowitz, N.L. and D. Hatsukami, *Gender dip erences in the pharmacology of nicotine addiction*. 1998. **3**: p. 383-404.
- 209. Farrimond, H. and H. Joffe, Pollution, peril and poverty: a British study of the stigmatization of smokers. Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 2006. 16(6): p. 481-491.
- Bell, K., L. McCullough, A. Salmon, and J. Bell, 'Every space is claimed': smokers' experiences of tobacco denormalisation. Sociology of health & illness, 2010. 32(6): p. 914-929.
- 211. Jones, E., A. Farina, A. Hastorf, H. Markus, D. Miller, and R. Scott, Social stigma: The psychology of marked relationships. 1984: WH Freeman, New York.
- 212. Heim, D., A. Ross, D. Eadie, S. MacAskill, J. Davies, G. Hastings, and S. Haw, *Public health or social impacts? A qualitative analysis of attitudes toward the smoke-free legislation in Scotland*. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2009. **11**(12): p. 1424-1430.

- 213. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, and C. Martin, "But it just has that sort of feel about it, a leper"—Stigma, smoke-free legislation and public health. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2010. 12(6): p. 622-629.
- Poland, B., Smoking, stigma, and the purification of public space, in Putting Health Into Place: Landscape, Identity and Well-Being, G.W.
 Kearns RA, Editor. 1998, University Press Syracuse: NY. p. 208-225.
- 215. Poland, B.D., *The 'considerate'smoker in public space: the micro-politics and political economy of 'doing the right thing'*. Health and Place, 2000. 6(1): p. 1-14.
- 216. Howell, F., *Smoke-free bars in Ireland: a runaway success*. Tob Control, 2005. 14(2): p. 73-74.
- 217. Jarvis, M.J., *Why people smoke*. Bmj, 2004. **328**(7434): p. 277-279.
- 218. Houston, M., *Infringements of Irish smoking ban are few*. British Medical Journal, 2004. **329**: p. 368.
- 219. Hughes, S., Smoking ban lights up love life, in The Observer. 2005.
- Bayer R, S.J., Tobacco Control, Stigma, and Public Health: Rethinking the Relations. American Journal of Public Health, 2006. 96(1): p. 47–50.
- 221. Ireland, O.o.T.C. Ireland: Current trends in cigarette smoking. [cited.
- 222. Ritchie, D., A. Amos, R. Phillips, S. Cunningham-Burley, and C. Martin, *Action to achieve smoke-free homes- an exploration of experts' views*. BMC Public Health, 2009. 9(1): p. 112.
- 223. Phillips, R., A. Amos, D. Ritchie, S. Cunningham-Burley, and C. Martin, *Smoking in the home after the smoke-free legislation in Scotland: qualitative study.* British Medical Journal, 2007. **335**(7619): p. 553.

- Heck, J., I. Stucker, S. Allwright, E. Gritz, M. Haglund, C. Healton,
 E. Kralikova, S. Sanchez Del Mazo, E. Tamang, and C. Dresler, *Home and* workplace smoking bans in Italy, Ireland, Sweden, France, and the Czech Republic. European Respiratory Journal, 2009: p. 969-979.
- 225. Scollo, M., A. Lal, A. Hyland, and S. Glantz, *Review of the quality of studies on the economic effects of smoke-free policies on the hospitality industry*. Tobacco Control, 2003. **12**(1): p. 13.
- 226. Tang, H., D.W. Cowling, C.M. Stevens, and J.C. Lloyd, *Changes of knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and preference of bar owner and staff in response to a smoke-free bar law.* Tobacco Control, 2004. **13**(1): p. 87-89.
- 227. Thomson, G. and N. Wilson, One year of smokefree bars and restaurants in New Zealand: Impacts and responses. BMC Public Health, 2006. 6(1): p. 64.
- 228. Tang, H., D. Cowling, J. Lloyd, T. Rogers, K. Koumjian, C. Stevens, and D. Bal, *Changes of attitudes and patronage behaviors in response to a smoke-free bar law*. American Journal of Public Health, 2003. **93**(4): p. 611.
- 229. Gilpin, E., L. Lee, and J. Pierce, Changes in population attitudes about where smoking should not be allowed: California versus the rest of the USA. Tobacco Control, 2004. 13(1): p. 38.
- 230. Levy, D.T., F. Chaloupka, and J. Gitchell, *The Effects of Tobacco Control Policies on Smoking Rates: A Tobacco Control Scorecard*. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 2004. **10**(4): p. 338-353.
- 231. Weinstein, N.D., S.E. Marcus, and R.P. Moser, *Smokers' unrealistic optimism about their risk*. Tobacco Control, 2005. **14**(1): p. 55-59.
- Weinstein, N., P. Slovic, and G. Gibson, Accuracy and optimism in smokers beliefs about quitting. Nicotine & Tobacco Research, 2004. 6: p. 375-380.

- 233. Wakefield, M., M. Cameron, and M. Murphy, Potential for Smoke-Free Policies in Social Venues to Prevent Smoking Uptake and Reduce Relapse: A Qualitative Study. Health Promotion Practice, 2007: p. 119-127.
- 234. Marmot, M., Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish Di, Grady M, Geddes I, *Fair Society, Healthy Lives* 2010.
- 235. Keleher, H., *The drivers for health lie outside the health sector*.
 Understanding Health Promotion., ed. M.C. Keleher H, Murphy B, 2007:
 OUP Australia & New Zealand. 47–60.
- Waters, E., M. Petticrew, N. Priest, A. Weightman, A. Harden, and J. Doyle, *Evidence synthesis, upstream determinants and health inequalities:* the role of a proposed new Cochrane Public Health Review Group.
 European Journal of Public Health, 2008. 18(3): p. 221-223.
- 237. Currie, L., The prevalence of tobacco use among young adults in Ireland; A first look at longitudinal data from SLAN, in Working Together Towards a Tobacco Free Society. 2010: Mansion House, Dublin.
- Naiman, A., R.H. Glazier, and R. Moineddin, Association of antismoking legislation with rates of hospital admission for cardiovascular and respiratory conditions. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 2010. 182(8): p. 761-767.
- 239. Mackay, D., S. Haw, J.G. Ayres, C. Fischbacher, and J.P. Pell, Smoke-free Legislation and Hospitalizations for Childhood Asthma. New England Journal of Medicine, 2010. 363(12): p. 1139-1145.

Context of research

The data generated for these PhD papers originate from several study populations and datasets. Only a proportion of the data generated is presented within this PhD. Data generated though this large body of research also formed substantial parts of additional publications namely Allwright *et al.* (2005), and Pursell *et al.* (2007) Additional publications are planned to maximise the available data.

Work originally commenced on the All Ireland Bar Workers Study (AIBS) before the smoke-free workplace legislation. This was a quasi-experimental follow-up study among bar workers. The research was compiled in collaboration with colleagues in 3 other study centres Dublin (Prof Shane Allwright (PI) & Ms Gillian Paul), Galway (Ms Lisa Pursell & Mr Diarmiad O'Donovan) and Northern Ireland (Mr Eamon O'Kane).

Data were gathered before and 1 year after the ban across all centres and included:

- Respiratory symptoms
- Cotinine measures
- Occupational SHS exposure
- Attitudes
- Smoking behaviour
- Alcohol consumption
- Respiratory health measures –PEF and FEV1

Additional laboratory based respiratory data was collected in the Dublin centre under the supervision of Prof Luke Clancy.

Smoke Free Ireland Study (SmofrI) –Cork

Dr. Birgit Greiner, Ms Bernie Lonergan (Mullally), Ms Sarah Meaney & others

Study 1: Follow-up of random sample of bar workers (3 phases). This was the only random sample of the 4 centres. Data were generated as outlined above with an additional data phase two years post-ban.

General population data were kindly made available to the SmofrI study by the Office of Tobacco Control. This facilitated occupational class analysis of trends in national smoking behaviour during the same time periods.

Study 2: Smoking risk perception among general population (repeated crosssectional) and General Practitioners (General Practitioners; follow-up & representative samples)

- Risk perception of SHS exposure
- Risk perception of active smoking
- Cumulative risk and optimistic bias
- Smoking behaviour

General Population data were collected by TNS mrbi (telephone marketing company) on behalf of the SmofrI project.

Data were available for the general population and GPs in 1999 on most of the above measures. This GP sample was followed-up in conjunction with an additional sample of newly qualified GP for representativity.

Study 3: Qualitative investigation of social and behavioural consequences of smoke-free workplace legislation on Irish culture- specifically within the Irish Pub

This study included the following broad areas:

- Stigmatisation of smokers since the introduction of the ban
- Impact of ban on smoking behaviour generally and specifically within the social setting of the pub
- Smoking behaviour life course
- Risk perception of active and SHS

The conceptualisation work for this study is included as appendix 4. Substantial data were generated from this aspect of the SmofrI study and is envisaged to be published at a later stage by colleagues.

Conference Presentations

Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco, Dublin (April 2009)

Effect of the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking behaviour among bar workers.

Sociology Association of Ireland, Waterford (May 2009)

Consequences of the ban on workplace smoking in Ireland – The stigmatisation and "exiling" of smoking –a qualitative study.

European Tobacco or Health Conference, Basel (Sep 2007)

Is exposure to second-hand smoke dangerous? Risk perception before and after the smoking ban.

Joint Conference of the Society for Social Medicine and the International Epidemiological Association, Cork (Sep 2007)

Risk perception of smoking in the general population: Changes from 1999 to 2006.

13th World Conference on Tobacco or Health, Washington DC USA (July 2006)

The impact of the smoke-free workplace law on smoking and smoking rates among bar workers in the republic of Ireland - All Ireland Bar Study.

Lets Talk Health Research Seminar @ Health Research Board (Dec 2006)

Changes in smoking prevalence and consumption rates in the Republic of Ireland compared with Cork bar workers before and after the legislative ban on workplace smoking.

Society for Social Medicine Glasgow UK. (Sep 2005)

The smoking ban and prevalence of smoking in Cork bar workers.

Office of Tobacco Control. (March 2005)

Prevalence of smoking and smoking consumption among bar workers in Cork City. Smoke-Free Workplaces in Ireland; *A One-Year Review seminar* @

And co-authored others; conference posters not included here

Update on evidence for smoke-free workplace legislation and active smoking since 2004

Several publications on the impact of smoke-free policies have been published since the publication of my second paper, thus, were not included in the background section of this publication. This review provides an update of published research on the impact of smoke-free legislation on smoking prevalence and consumption which were not included in paper 2 (chapter 3) 'The effects of the Irish smoke-free workplace legislation on smoking among bar workers' and refers to research published since 2004. Also refer to the accompanying Table 1 below.

Search Strategy:

<u>Combinations of the following search terms were used in the search</u>; smoking behaviour, smoking prevalence, smoking rates, smoking consumption, smoke free/smokefree/smoke-free workplace/ legislation; smoking ban; workplace legislation.

<u>Databases searched included:</u> PubMed; Google Scholar; BMJ journals; Cochrane Collaboration; Oxford Journals; Wiley InterScience

<u>Inclusion/exclusion criteria</u>: Included here are both quantitative and qualitative research finding. Since there are some countries with partial smoke-free policies and others with regional legislation I decided to only include studies from countries with comprehensive national smoke-free legislation.

	Smoking	Reported Effect(s)	Study design and	Reference
	legislation		period	
England	Complete ban July 2007	No change in prevalence. Sign. ↓ in number of smokers smoking > 20 cig/day	Postal survey before & ban	Elton & Campbell 2008[46]
		2.9% more smokers made a quit attempt. post-ban 19% of smokers making a quit attempt did so in response to the legislation.	ban	Hackshaw <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2010 [57]
Scotland	Complete ban march 2006	Contemplation of quitting \uparrow pre-ban. Attempts & contemplation to quit \downarrow post ban. Reports of cutting down post ban	Pre-post qualitative study (bar workers)	Eadiea <i>et al.</i> , 2010[59]
		\downarrow cigarettes smoked. Smokers in disadvantaged communities more likely to report \downarrow and successful quitting than smokers in affluent areas	Longitudinal qualitati ve study	Ritchie <i>et al.</i> , 2010[53]
		No significant post-ban difference between Scotland (ban in place) and rest of UK (no ban) in quit attempt or cessation.	Quasi-experimental telephone survey	Hyland <i>et al.</i> , 2009[58]
		2.2 fold \uparrow in smokers quitting smoking pre-ban compared to the same time period one year previous. Quit rates for 2006 & 2007 were consistent with gradual increase in quit rates prior to ban.	Cohort (50-75 yrs old) pre- & post-ban	Fowkes <i>et al.</i> , 2008[56]
		Supported for ban associated with a higher quit intention pre-ban. Perceptions of unacceptability of smoking \uparrow more in Scotland postban compared to rest of UK.	Longitudinal survey (gen pop ≥18 yrs); Scotland (at time of ban & post ban) V's U.K (no ban)	Brown <i>et al.</i> , 2009[61]
		4% drop in smoking rate among bar workers (pre-ban to 1 year post- ban). Drop in consumption of 2.5 cig/day (significant)	Cohort (bar workers); pre- & post-ban	Semple <i>et al.</i> , 2007[50]
New Zealand	Complete ban Dec 2004	Quitline had ↑ in calls, ↑ dispensing of nicotine replacement therapy vouchers, during the month of, and month after, the smoke-free law compared to the same two months the year before	Time series analysis on Quitline 2 yrs pre- & 1 yr post ban	Wilson <i>et al.</i> , 2007[55]

Table 1: Update of evidence of impacts of national smoke-free workplace legislation on active smoking since 2004

		The % smokers who reported that they smoked "more than normal" when at public social venues halved between 2004 & 2005 (57.8% to 28.6%).	National surv <i>e</i> ys Pre- Post ban	Thomson & Wilson 2006[227]
Spain	January 1 st 2006 Bars restaurants $\circ \le 100 \text{ m}^2$ can be smoke-free $\circ \ge 100 \text{m}^2$ must be	Sign. ↓ in consumption (1.6 cigarettes/day p<0.01) from pre to post ban. Strongest effect seen in hospitality workers working in completely smoke-free environments	Prospective cohort study; pre- post-ban	Martinez- Sanchez <i>et al.</i> , 2009[52]
	smoke-free, ventilated smoking room allowed	Non-significant \uparrow in % of smokers from 31.7% pre to 32.7% post-ban (p=0.55)	Cross-sectional surveys ; national survey >18 yrs pre- post-ban	Galán <i>et al.</i> , 2007[47]
Ireland	Complete ban March 2004	46% of s mokers said law made them more likely to quit s moking. Of those who had quit, 80% reported that the law helped them quit and 88% to stay quit.	quasi-experimental national cohort study pre- & post- ban	Fong 2005[60]
Italy	January 2005 Ban in all public indoor spaces, smoking rooms allo wed.	↓ prevalence of 3.6% from 2005 to 2008 (25.6% to 22%) ~30% of ex-s mokers reported influenced ~83% of s mokers said no effect, 12% reported ↓ consumption Prevalence men ↓ from 34.9% pre- (2000) to 30.5% post-ban (2005); drop in moderate (<20cig/day) smokers from 29.8% -26.2% and heavy (≥20cig/day) smokers from 5.1% - 4.3%. Prevalence among women was unchanged (20.6% 20.4%) as was the	4 national surveys from 2005, 2006, 2007 & 2008 6 national surveys between 2000-2005	Tra macere <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> ,2009[49] Cesaroni <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2008[41]

Contextualisation for SmofrI Qualitative study & Topic guides

Note:

This document provided additional information used in the conceptual framework for the qualitative work on smoking behaviour within the SmokfrI study. Some of the information generated through this process has now moved to the introduction or discussion chapters of the thesis. I have also included the two topic guides for the qualitative interviews.

This document is not of publication standard, key publications which were considered relevant to this qualitative piece are referenced.

Introduction

The legislative ban

Evidence has accumulated on the health risks associated with second-hand smoke (SHS) exposure. A report by Allwright [22] and Surgeon General in US [2] concluded that smoke-free workplaces were the 'only viable measure to protect workers' from the harmful effects of SHS.

In Europe the first legislative ban on workplace smoking was introduced in the Republic of Ireland in March 2004.

The ban was framed as an occupational health and safety measure with a primary focus on the protection of workers' health [23] including those employed in the hospitality industry. Additional effects have been attributed to the introduction of the legislative ban including reductions in smoking prevalence and consumption drop [4-11] and changing norms around the social acceptability of smoking (denormalisation).

Smoking, Segregation and Stigma

Research from New Zealand [12] and Australia [13] emphasise the importance of examining the possible harmful consequences of multiple tobacco control measures which through processes of altering the social meaning of smoking, de-normalising it and eroding its social acceptability they say are leading to 'compound layers' of stigmatisation of smoking and smokers.

Thompson attempts to theorise the way in which people make sense of continued smoking in the face of 'stigmatisation of the substance and the space'. Thompson [12] draws on Tuathail's idea of geo-power describing the stigmatisation of smoking by separation, categorization, definition or confinement ('you're a smoker, you've got to get outside' to 'smoking islands') and describes how this power then leads to more pronounced bio-power. Gastaldo [14] describes bio-power as the mechanism employed to manage the population and discipline individuals to produce or protect a healthy and productive citizenry. The 'hierarchical observation' that people can be controlled merely by self-regulation (self-surveillance, Foucault). Regulation of smoke-free social spaces such as pubs (bars) could be controlled by the mere possibility of being observed or visibly deviant (Foucault; Panopticism) or the threat of being judged 'abnormal' or given a sense of 'disapproval' [15] which Foucault says constrains us from misbehaving. Others discuss how public health and health promotion encourages individuals to be 'health conscious' 'self regulated' [16] (pg131) and 'good citizens' [17] by taking personal responsibility to protecting ourselves (Abel 1982 from [23]), and the entire population from SHS.

Thompson refers to 'smoking islands' as fixed geographical locations with mostly fixed residents, who are consistently exposed to stigmatisation. We could argue that Thompson's [12] idea of 'smoking islands' are only applicable to pubs seen as 'regulars' by their clients and that are considered local or 'third places'. The new superpub or a pub which may not provide a 'third place' may or may not give that same sense of everyone on the islands knows each other and are stigmatised together.

As smoking islands vary across pubs with different codes of behaviour and norms around smoking it is possible that the level and extent of bio-power and stigmatisation may also vary. Can these differing levels of stigmatisation determine where smokers choose to go to smoke in comfort or has this variety any 'compounding' impact on stigma among smokers? Chapman and Freeman [13] identify what they posit as markers (evident in the Australian context) of how smokers' identities have been "spoiled". In relation to smoke-free environments public settings and the home are identified as settings where smoking restrictions are imposed. The authors argue that in public settings smokers are "exiled" from others to designated areas or obliged to smoke in sometimes unpleasant surroundings such as parking lots, alleyways sometimes in poor weather within view of passers by. Dedicated spaces for smokers, such as smoking rooms in airports, they argue contribute to feelings of "otherness" amongst smokers and induce the identity of social "lepers". Not only have the public spaces undergone 'purification', smokers are now also 'exiled' from their private homes. They also describe how, due to constraints on their smoking, smokers do not enjoy their social time as they are busy thinking of how they can next accommodate their addiction. Poland [23] describes how smokers continually monitor which spaces are permissible to smoking in anticipation of needing to smoke.

Smoking Identities

Smokers and their smoking, at an individual level, can play a role in social identity (glamour/attraction/rebellious) [18] and as providing pleasure or relief from stress. A smoker could also be perceived as having no personal regard for health, addicted and weak (Brandt 1998 cited in [12]) backward, uncivilised and unclean [22] (Poland 1998 cited in [12]) druggy, tough and tarty among youth [18]. These identities may change as smokers move through the life course and with increased de-normalisation of smoking.

Smoking was largely considered as an individual practice with direct consequence to the individual; since research has confirmed the health consequences of smoking are beyond the individual that smokers are now responsible for 'contaminating' [23] others including most notable the innocent and vulnerable such as young children and babies with SHS (Farrimound & Joffe [21-22]. Farrimound & Joffe [23] went on to say that those from lower SES, in accepting the dangers associated with smoking and SHS, may indicate an internalisation of the 'spoiled' smoking identity. Farrimound & Joffe conclude that lower SES groups, as opposed to all smokers (as outlines by Chapman [13]), tend to internalise stigmatisation rather than

challenge it or change their behaviour to avoid it. Thompson challenges this and distinguishes between smoking consequences to self and on health of others through SHS by arguing that smokers can 'claim responsible identities' if they adapt their behaviour to protect others from SHS. Therefore instead of 'dual stigmatisation' [12] smokers feel they are 'good citizens' by not exposing others to SHS. So perhaps instead of smokers being deviant and resisting the measure they are alleviated from some of their stigma through smoking in these spaces and continue smoking?

Regular pub

The new smoke-free workplace legislation's uniqueness was its focus on the social setting of the pub and restaurant. These behavioural settings could be understood as the most difficult settings to enforce the law and the most controversial in relation to personal choice to smoke. For this reason and because pubs present us with a diverse social setting our research will focus on the experience of the ban in relation to the pub.

Social acceptability of smoking is highly situational ([23] pg188) and having and referring to a regular pub in relation to smoking may influence the level of stigmatisation expressed by smokers. It is possible that a smoker in his/her regular pub may feel comfortable smoking alone and not feel stigmatised or 'exiled'. Similarly non-smokers in a regular pub may feel comfortable alone within the pub while smokers leave.

Pubs will vary in the provision of spaces available for smoking and as such could present differing levels of comfort and acceptability of smoking. It could also be argued that within each different pub type (small Vs large, modern Vs old fashioned) exists a different code of behaviours around smoke-free environments and where smokers can smoke. This can be influenced by how comfortable the designated area is, if non-smoker routinely stays in these areas too and if alcohol can be consumed while smoking.

Taking account of the participants' experiences within the pub they visit regularly is important in understanding what is most commonly experienced since the ban.

'Think of the pub that you regularly go to; what kind of a pub is it?' 'How often do you go?' 'Are some smoking areas better than other? Why?'

'Which in your opinion are the best types of smoking areas?'

If facilities are poor not only could the amount smoked be less but the smoker could also feel more conscious of their smoking feel that their smoking is deviant. Another consequence of smokers going to the smoking space is that their absence and length of absence can be visible to companions and have consequences for involvement in conversation and possible judgements on their 'deviant' behaviour.

Alcohol & Smoking culture

As mentioned above there have been significant changes in both the extent and style of alcohol consumption and the nature of the pub since the early 1990s. From an Irish context the shift in drinking culture was evident where socialising and specifically drinking at home became more frequent [24-25]. This new culture is noted to have developed due to a number of reasons including new drink driving laws and increased cost of alcohol in pubs. With the emergence of this new drinking culture we may also see a shift in the places to smoke with a possibility of a move 'of places to smoke' following 'the places to drink' or vice versa.

In some cases since the introduction of the ban alcohol and cigarettes cannot be consumed simultaneously within the pub facilities. Alcohol is now largely consumed within the pub while cigarettes mainly consumed outside the main pub space in a smoking area or outside the pub. The spatial segregation of smoking may have resulted in its ties with alcohol being severed somewhat and instead the creation of smokers on a 'smoking island' [12]. So not only are the places where a smoker can smoke changed or moved but perhaps the associated behaviour of drinking alcohol (in a pub) is prevented for some.

Social relationships

Could the absences of a friend results in new social interactions in these spaces? Could through the acknowledgment of similar plight (group formation by stigmatisation [26]) to smoke, create an opportunity for conversation or diffuse invasion of personal space? Does 'smirting' exist where conversation between strangers occurs while in the smoking area? Could this be an attraction for nonsmokers to frequent the smoking island? We will ask both smokers and non-smokers

'Do you non-smoking friends join you in the smoking area?' 'Do you join your friends who smoke in the smoking area?' 'do you think the pub as a place to socialise has changed because of the ban' and 'do you think it is easier to talk to strangers in the smoking area than in the rest of the pub?'

Stigmatisation

While investigating changes in smoking behaviour within the life stages framework and in reference to changes in behaviour since the smoke-free workplace legislation we will also try to determine the level of restriction felt as a consequence of the legislation and by restrictions developed by family and friends. We will ask participants 'can you smoke where and when you wants now (at home and socially) illuminating physical restrictions imposed on smokers. The pub as a social setting also presents different restrictions on smoking; 'where do you smoke when you go to a pub? And if you can drink while smoking 'can you also drink in this space?'

Once the degree of restriction is determined we will then enquire through a variety of questions if these restrictions are producing stigma and what extent friends and family are involved in formation of smokers' stigma.

'Do others (friends, family, work mates) talk to you about your smoking (positive or negative)?'
'How do your close friends or family feel about smoking?'
'How do you feel about other people talking to you about your smoking?'
'Do you change when, where and how much you smoke when you are with different people?'
'Have you ever felt uncomfortable about your smoking?'
'How do you think others feel about your smoking (e.g. family friends or strangers)?'
'Do you find that people notice your smoking more or less since the ban?'

In the context of restrictions imposed upon smoking socially we will investigate stigma in the pub. Coupled with information gathered on the type of facilities provided for smokers in their regular pub; the response of smokers to restrictions generally and their existing stigma, we will look specifically at the contribution of the smoking island within the pub to stigma by asking; 'When you first heard about the ban what did you think of it?'
'Do you ever feel uncomfortable or out of place when smoking? If so in what situations'
'Do you ever feel embarrassed or awkward about your smoking?'
'Do you ever feel guilty for smoking?'
'Some people have argued that smoking areas make people feel like outsiders, do you agree?'
Does it bother you that you now have to go to an outside area to smoke? Do you go out to smoke alone, and does that bother you?'
'Do you feel conscious /aware of your smoking now that you have to go to this area to smoke?'
'How do you feel about going outside to smoke?'
'Where do you hate/enjoy smoking?'

To take account of smoker shame and to understand why smokers may consider these restrictions as acceptable we will ask 'what do you think about other people smoking around you? 'how do you feel about smoking, in general and since the introduction of the ban?'

Life Stages

Smoking initiation

We will establish before the interview if the participant is a smoker or non-smoker and if a smoker if a regular or occasional smoker.

Among all smokers we will determine 'age when you started smoking' and if the participant 'smoke everyday' to determine how routine the behaviour was initially. Also we will look at where and with whom the participants smoked which will give some insight into the role of peers and family on smoking initiation. We also want to investigate if smokers felt that they could 'smoke when and where they wanted', contributing to the acceptability of smoking for this individual at this time in the life stage of his/her smoking. All of this information will provide a frame for understanding smokers' responses to the legislative ban.

Current smoking behaviour

We want to determine what is different for a smoker now in comparison to when they first started smoking. Where are smokers going to smoke and whom are they smoking with 'can you give me examples of where and with whim you smoke now in home, work, and in the pub?' and 'is there any change in when and where you smoke from when you started smoking?' Specifically we want to explore what was anticipated by smokers to be different for them because of the smoking ban ('how did you think the ban was going to affect your smoking?) and if the ban was going to result in smokers attempting to quit ('did you consider quitting before the ban came into effect?).

This is the ground work for understanding the eventual influence of the ban on behaviour change. Firstly we will establish if smoking was allowed in the work or the home environment before the ban and if smoking is allow since the ban. 'Did you smoke at work & home before the ban?' and 'did the ban change where you could smoke at work and home?' We can then examine 'how the ban first affected your smoking' and 'how about now, four years later, are you smoking more/less? We also ask if the participant felt that the ban had influenced their smoking more than increases in price of cigarettes 'Do you think the ban impacted more on your smoking than say increases in price of cigarettes has?'

And how the formation of smoking island (smoking areas) has changed 'how many cigarettes do you smoke when you go out to the smoking area' and if you would smoke 'the same number of cigarettes if the smoking area was indoors or outdoors? We will also look for any evidence of compensatory smoking ' do you ever smoke your cigarettes faster in some circumstances or smoke extra before going to a place you know you cannot smoke? Or more consideration of quitting since the ban 'do you consider quitting more since the ban was introduced?'

Occasional smokers have different smoking pattern to regular smokers and may or may not have established their smoking behaviour into a routine. Occasional smoker typically smoke when socialising or when drinking and may therefore only smoke once or twice a week. Occasional smokers have been noted to not identify themselves as current smokers during interview [27] as they feel their behaviour does not fall within a definition of smoker. Definitions of current smoker include 'smoking a cigarette in last month and smoke 1 cigarette per week'. Due to the adhoc nature of an occasional smoker's behaviour they may be able to restrict or even stop smoking because of a new restriction like the ban. While among regular smokers the physiological addiction and the established daily routine may make the adoption to the ban more difficult.

<u>Life events</u>

Life events such as pregnancy, children in the home and personal or family illness may prompt some smokers to adapt behaviour such as leave the room or go outside to smoke while others might attempt to quit. Quit attempts or adoption of behaviour in the smokers' career is useful to interpret the context in which smokers may react or adapt to the ban as another life event. The influence of family/friends on smoker stigmatisation will draw these issues to the fore e.g.;

'Do others (friends, family, work mates) talk to you about your smoking (positive or negative)?'

'How do your close friends or family feel about smoking?'
'How do you feel about other people talking to you about your smoking?'
'Do you change when, where and how much you smoke when you are with different people?'
'Have you ever felt uncomfortable about your smoking?'
'How do you think others feel about your smoking (e.g. family friends or strangers)?'

'Do you ever feel guilty for smoking?'

Smoking status & practices

Smokers and non-smokers probably experienced the ban within the pub from different perspectives. Smokers may need to leave the pub to go outside to smoke, in which case non-smokers may be left alone inside the pub. Alternatively smokers and non-smokers may stay in the smoking area together (*Do you join your friends who smoke in the smoking area?*). The experience for both smokers and non-smokers could depend on the facilities available for smokers, how the smoker or non-smoker feels about being alone, the attitude of the non-smoker to smoking and SHS (*How do you feel about going outside with smokers?*) and the feeling of choice available to both smokers and non-smokers.

Since smoking is relocated to a space separate to the main pub the number of cigarettes consumed while socialising in a pub could be more or less dependant on a number of hypothetical situations:

Smokers may smoke less since the ban because

1) cigarettes are consumed largely without its associated alcohol or coffee

2) As the smoker has to leave the established space within the pub with friends or acquaintances or seats.

3) The smoker may be unfamiliar/uncomfortable in smoking area therefore rushing the cigarette or finishing it early.

Alternatively if smoking with friends or if facilities allow smoking and drinking to occur together maybe smoker consume more cigarettes.

References

- 1. Allwright S, M.J., Murphy D, Pratt I, Ryan M, Smith A, Guihen B, *Report* on the health effects of environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) in the workplace. 2003, Health and Safety Authority/Office of Tobacco Control.: Dublin: Dublin.
- 2. Services, U.S.D.o.H.a.H., *The Health Consequences of Involuntary Exposure to Tobacco Smoke: A Report of the Surgeon General.* 2006, Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health.
- 3. Fischer, B. and B. Poland, *Exclusion*, *'risk'*, and social control—reflections on community policing and public health. Geoform, 1998. **29**(2): p. 187-197.
- 4. Heloma, A. and M.S. Jaakkola, *Four-year follow-up of smoke exposure, attitudes and smoking behaviour following enactment of Finland's national smoke-free work-place law.* Addiction, 2003. **98**(8): p. 1111-1117.
- Levy, D.T. and K.B. Friend, *The effects of clean indoor air laws: what do we know and what do we need to know?* Health Education Research, 2003. 18(5): p. 592-609.
- Chapman, S., R. Borland, M. Scollo, R. Brownson, A. Dominello, and S. Woodward, *The impact of smoke-free workplaces on declining cigarette consumption in Australia and the United States*. American Journal of Public Health, 1999. **89**(7): p. 1018-1023.
- Woodruff, T.J., B. Rosbrook, J. Pierce, and S.A. Glantz, Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California.153.12.1485. Archives of Internal Medicine, 1993. 153(12): p. 1485-1493.
- 8. Jeffery, R.W., S.H. Kelder, J.L. Forster, S.A. French, H.A. Lando, and J.E. Baxter, *Restrictive Smoking Policies in the Workplace: Effects on Smoking Prevalence and Cigarette Consumption*. Journal of Preventive Medicine, 1994. **23**(1): p. 78-82.
- Fichtenberg, C.M. and S.A. Glantz, *Effect of smoke-free workplaces on smoking behaviour: systematic review*. British Medical Journal, 2002. 325(7357): p. 188.
- Gallus, S., P. Zuccaro, P. Colombo, G. Apolone, R. Pacifici, S. Garattini, and C. La Vecchia, *Effects of new smoking regulations in Italy*. Ann Oncol, 2006. 17(2): p. 346-347.
- Farrelly, M.C., W.N. Evans, and A.E.S. Sfekas, *The impact of workplace smoking bans: results from a national survey*. British Medical Journal, 1999. 8(3): p. 272.
- 12. Thompson, L., J. Pearce, and J.R. Barnett, *Moralising geographies: stigma, smoking islands and responsible subjects.* Royal Geographical Society, 2007. **39**(4): p. 508-517.

- 13. Chapman, S. and B. Freeman, *Markers of the denormalisation of smoking and the tobacco industry*. Tobacco Control, 2008. **17**(1): p. 25.
- 14. Gastaldo, D., *Is health education good for you? Re-thinking health education through the.* 1997.
- 15. Brandt, A.M., *Blow some my way: passive smoking, risk and American culture.* Clio Medica, 1998. **46**: p. 164-87.
- 16. Lupton, D., *The imperative of health: public health and the regulated body.* (1995) London. 1995: Sage.
- 17. Blume, S., *Anti-vaccination movements and their interpretations*. Social Science and Medicine, 2006. **62**: p. 628-642.
- 18. Amos, A., D. Gray, C. Currie, and R. Elton, *Healthy or druggy? Self-image, ideal image and smoking behaviour among young people.* 1997. **45**(6): p. 847-858.
- 19. Bayer R, S.J., *Tobacco Control, Stigma, and Public Health: Rethinking the Relations.* American Journal of Public Health, 2006. **96**(1): p. 47–50.
- 20. Farrimond, H. and H. Joffe, *Pollution, peril and poverty: a British study of the stigmatization of smokers.* Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology, 2006. **16**(6): p. 481-491.
- 21. Farrimond, H.R. and H. Joffe, *Pollution, Peril and Poverty: A British Study* of the Stigmatization of Smokers. 2006, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. p. 481.
- 22. Louka, P., M. Maguire, P. Evans, and M. Worrell, 'I think that it's a pain in the ass that I have to stand outside in the cold and have a cigarette': representations of smoking and experiences of disapproval in UK and Greek smokers. Journal of health psychology, 2006. **11**(3): p. 441.
- 23. Poland, B., *Smoking, stigma, and the purification of public space*, in *Putting Health Into Place: Landscape, Identity and Well-Being*, G.W. Kearns RA, Editor. 1998, University Press Syracuse: NY. p. 208-225.
- 24. McBride, L., *Wine sales up as pubs fall from favour* in *Sunday Business post*. 2004.
- 25. Group, G.A.A., *Government Alcohol Advisory Group Submission of the Competition Authority*. 2008.
- 26. Goffman, E., *Stigma: notes on the management of spoiled identity*. 1963: Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- 27. Levinson, A., S. Campo, J. Gascoigne, O. Jolly, A. Zakharyan, and Z. Tran, *Smoking, but not smokers: Identity among college students who smoke cigarettes.* Nicotine & tobacco research, 2007. **9**(8): p. 845-852.

<u>Topic Guide</u> <u>Smokers and Ex-Smokers</u>

Name, sex & DOB: Just for my records can you please just say your name and date of birth?

Today I want to talk to about your smoking and if your smoking has changed before and since the ban was introduced. Also I want you to think about how going to a pub may have changed for you since the ban was introduced.

Smoking behaviour:

Started smoking:

Can you tell me please what age were you when you started smoking? Can you please tell me a little about when you started smoking; did you smoke everyday? at that time who smoked around you or with you? When you first started to smoke where did you smoke? Did you find it difficult to smoke when and where you wanted?

Current smoking: (Smoking before you quit –change tenses)

Can you please tell me a little about your smoking now: Can you give me examples of where and with whom you smoke now –home, work, pub? Is there any change in when and where you smoke from when you started smoking?

Can you smoke where and when you want now (home/social)? Do other (friends, family, work mates) talk to you about your smoking (positive or negative)? How do most of your close friends or family feel about smoking? How do you feel about other people talking to you about your smoking? Do you change when and where and how much you smoke when you are with different people? What do you think about other people smoking around you?

Have you ever felt uncomfortable about your smoking?

Do you ever regret starting to smoke?

Do you think smoking is or was ever a normal behaviour?

Ex-smokers

Why did you decide to quit? Would increase in cost of cigarettes make you consider quitting?

Influence of the ban

When you first heard about the ban what did you think of it? How did you think the ban was going to affect your smoking? Did you consider quitting before the ban came into effect?

How did the ban first affect your smoking? How about now, four years later, are you smoking more/less? (For example, do you ever smoke your cigarettes faster in some

circumstances or smoke extra before going to a place you know you cannot smoke?).

Do you think the ban impacted more on your smoking than say increases in price of cigarettes has?

Did you smoke at work & home before the ban? Did the ban change where you could smoke at work and home?

Do you consider quitting more since the ban was introduced?

How do you think others feel about your smoking (e.g. family/friends or strangers)?

How do you feel about smoking, in general and since the introduction of the ban? Do you think smoking is or was ever a normal/accepted behaviour? Do you think fewer people are smoking because of the ban?

Who do you think enforces or polices the ban (pub owners/managers or the public)?

Do you find that people notice your smoking more or less since the ban? (Notice smokers in the streets, in smoking rooms, see people smoking & notice smell) Do you think the government had a right to step in and ban smoking in public places

New pub culture & behaviour

Think of the pub that you regularly go to: What kind of pub is it? How often do you go? Monthly/Weekly etc. Where do you smoke when you go to a pub? Can you also drink in this space?

How do you feel about going outside to smoke? Are some smoking areas better then others? Why? Which in your opinion are the best types of smoking areas?

<u>E.g.</u> Indoor or Outdoor?

Smoking at the front of the bar on the path. To the back of the bar In seating areas to the front In seating areas to the back just for smokers Beer gardens Different types of rooms (larger, smaller, different ventilation)

What do you think of passive smoking in smoking areas? Does passive smoke bother smokers or non-smokers more?

Does it bother you that you now have to go to an outside area to smoke? Do you go out to smoke alone? If yes does that bother you?

How many cigarettes do you smoke when you go out to the smoking area? Would you smoke the same number of cigarettes if the smoking area was indoors or outdoors?

Do you feel conscious/ aware of your smoking now that you have to go to this area to smoke?

Where do you hate/enjoy smoking?

Do your non-smoking friends join you in the smoking area? Who in your experience enforces the ban?

Do you ever feel uncomfortable or self-conscious or out of place when smoking? If so in what situations? Do you ever feel embarrassed or awkward about your smoking? Do you ever feel guilty for smoking? Or do you ever feel ashamed because you smoke? Do you think the pub as a place to socialise has changed because of the ban? Do you think it is easier to talk to strangers in the smoking areas than in the rest of the pub?(smirting)?

Some people have argued that smoking areas make people look or feel like outsiders, do you agree?

Risk Perception:

Are you more aware of the health effects of passive smoking since the introduction of the ban?

If yes in what way

Who informed you of the ill effects of passive smoking? Probe how they were informed? (media, government, GP, family, friends) What did they tell you the risks of passive smoking are?

Do you think the risks of passive smoking are exaggerated? If yes in what way?

What do your family and friends think of passive smoking? Are there situations where people think more negatively about passive smoke? Perhaps around children?

In some situations the ban may lead to informal bans on smoking in private homes? Do you know anyone who doesn't allow smoking in their home? Do you allow smoking in your home? If yes why? If no why?

How aware were you of passive smoke 6 or 7 years ago? How aware are you now of passive smoking? Has there been a change in how aware you are of the health risks? In what situations would you notice passive smoke more or less often? (in cars, foreign holidays)
<u>Topic Guide</u> <u>Non-Smokers</u>

Name, sex & DOB: Just for my records can you please just say your name and date of birth?

Today I want to talk to about your experience of the smoking ban since it was introduced. Also I want you to think about how going to a pub may have changed for you since the ban was introduced.

Influence of the ban

When you first heard about the ban what did you think of it?

When the ban was actually introduced in 2004 what did you think of it? How did it affect you?

Four years later has that changed?

Who do you think enforces or polices the ban (pub owners/managers or the public)? How do you feel about smoking, in general and since the introduction of the ban? Do you think smoking is or was ever a normal/accepted behaviour? How do most of your close friends or family feel about smoking? Do you think fewer people are smoking because of the ban?

If not are there more people smoking? Why?

What do you think about other people smoking around you?

Do you think fewer people are smoking because of the ban? Do you think increases in price of cigarettes would have any impact on the number of people smoking?

Do you find that you notice people who are smoking more or less since the ban? (Notice smokers in the streets, in smoking rooms, see people smoking & notice smell)

Do you think the government had a right to step in and ban smoking in public places

New pub culture & behaviour

Think of the pub that you regularly go to: What kind of pub is it? How often do you go? Monthly/Weekly etc. Where do smoker smoke at this pub? Can you also drink in this space? What do you think of smoking areas in general? Who in your experience enforces the ban? Which in your opinion are the best types of smoking areas? Why? E.g. Indoor or Outdoor? Smoking at the front of the bar on the path. To the back of the bar In seating areas to the front In seating areas to the front In seating areas to the back just for smokers Beer gardens Different types of rooms (larger, smaller, different ventilation)

What do you think of passive smoking in smoking areas?

Does passive smoke bother smokers or non-smokers more? Do you join your friends who smoke in the smoking area? How do you feel about going outside with smokers?

Do you think smokers you know are more conscious of their smoking now that the ban is here? Or self conscious about their smoking? Do you think smokers are sorry or regret starting smoking?

Do you think the pub as a place to socialise has changed because of the ban? Do you think it is easier to talk to strangers in the smoking areas than in the rest of the pub?(smirting)?

Some people have argued that smoking areas make people feel or look like outsiders, do you agree?

Do you ever feel uncomfortable when with someone who is smoking? If so in what situations?

Do you ever feel embarrassed being with a smoker? Or do you ever feel ashamed because you are with or know a smoker?

Risk Perception:

Are you more aware of the health effects of passive smoking since the introduction of the ban? If yes in what way

Who informed you of the ill effects of passive smoking? Probe how they were informed? (media, government, gp, family, friends) What did they tell you the risks of passive smoking are?

Do you think the risks of passive smoking are exaggerated? If yes in what way?

What do your family and friends think of passive smoking? Are there situations where people think more negatively about passive smoke? Perhaps around children? What do you think about smoking around children? (on the street, in the smoking room, at home, in the car) If it is bad why? Where do you think it is worst? Why is it different than if someone is smoking around an adult in these areas?

In some situations the ban may lead to informal bans on smoking in private homes? Do you know anyone who doesn't allow smoking in their home? Do you allow smoking in your home? If yes why? If no why?

How aware were you of passive smoke 6 or 7 years ago? How aware are you now of passive smoking? Has there been a change in how aware you are of the health risks? In what situations would you notice passive smoke more or less often? (in cars,

foreign holidays)